University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

Summer 2022

HIV-Related Stigma, Sexual and Gender Minority-Related Stigma, and Health Outcomes Among MSM Living With HIV: Measurement, Impact, and Intersectionality

Tianyue Mi

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd

Part of the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

Recommended Citation

Mi, T.(2022). *HIV-Related Stigma, Sexual and Gender Minority-Related Stigma, and Health Outcomes Among MSM Living With HIV: Measurement, Impact, and Intersectionality.* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/6916

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact digres@mailbox.sc.edu.

HIV-RELATED STIGMA, SEXUAL AND GENDER MINORITY-RELATED STIGMA, AND HEALTH OUTCOMES AMONG MSM LIVING WITH HIV: MEASUREMENT, IMPACT, AND INTERSECTIONALITY

by

Tianyue Mi

Bachelor of Science Peking University, 2014

Master of Science Peking University, 2016

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Health Promotion, Education, and Behavior

The Norman J. Arnold School of Public Health

University of South Carolina

2022

Accepted by:

Xiaoming Li, Major Professor

Shan Qiao, Major Professor

Peiyin Hung, Committee Member

Jan Ostermann, Committee Member

Sayward E. Harrison, Committee Member

Tracey L. Weldon, Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

Copyright by Tianyue Mi, 2022 All Rights Reserved.

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my loving parents, Li and Weidong, for being a constant source of encouragement and love, leading me through the valley of darkness with light of hope and support.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Words cannot express my gratitude to my primary advisor and chair of my dissertation committee, Dr. Xiaoming Li, for his invaluable mentorship, patience, and encouragement. I have benefited greatly from his wealth of knowledge and inspiration. This journey could not have undertaken without his marvelous supervision, guidance, and kind support. Many thanks go to my secondary advisor and dissertation co-chair, Dr. Shan Qiao, for her generous participation in guiding, encouraging words, and meticulous editing and suggestions to the manuscripts with full enthusiasm. I greatly appreciate my committee members, Dr. Sayward Harrison and Dr. Jan Ostermann, for generously offering knowledge and expertise, taking time out of their schedules to help my research, and providing thoughtful, constructive, and detailed feedback.

I express my deepest gratitude to my committee member and my mentor in the Junior Scholar program, Dr. Peiyin Hung, whose constant support keeps me motivated and confident. Her brilliant, skillful supervision enriched all the studies we have done together. I am proud of and grateful for my time working with her. Besides professional guidance for scientific research, she has provided me with extensive personal guidance for life. Sincere gratitude is extended to her for always being there for me and telling me that I am awesome even when I did not feel that way. My heartfelt thanks go to my dear friend and cohort, Indira, for proofreading my manuscripts over and over. As my best cheerleader, she reminds me of what is important in life and is always supportive of my adventures. I am indebted to my lab mate, Xueying, for always offering patience, support,

iv

assistance, and all kind words whenever I need them. Immense gratitude as always to my old friends, Biyi and Mengke, whose regular encouragement in every step makes me in the present stage.

My parents deserve endless gratitude for their unequivocal and loving support. They have taught me to work hard for the things that I aspire to achieve and are always standing behind me with no exception. I am forever thankful for their unconditional love and support throughout my life. Very special thanks go to my loving husband, Xinlei, who opened his heart to me. He endured this long process with me by constantly listening to my rant, calming me down, keeping me grounded, and believing in me. The strength and hope he gave have been indispensable to me.

ABSTRACT

Background: Many men who have sex with men (MSM) living with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) experience suboptimal health outcomes compared to non-MSM males living with HIV, including a faster decline in CD4 count before initiating antiretroviral therapy (ART), slower immune recovery after initiating ART, more mental health problems, suboptimal ART adherence, and lower retention in care. MSM living with HIV are often exposed to multiple layered stigmas, including, but not limited to, stigma related to being infected with HIV and stigma related to sexual and gender minority (SGM) status. Although various scales of HIV-related stigma have been frequently used for comparisons between MSM and non-MSM males, no evidence has shown that these scales measure the same constructs between the two groups. In addition, most studies of health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males and the role of intersectional stigma were cross-sectional studies conducted in the United States. This dissertation research examined the measurement invariance for scales of some common types of HIV-related stigma (i.e., internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma) between MSM and non-MSM males living with HIV, investigated longitudinal pattern of disparities in health outcomes between the two groups, and explored how HIVrelated stigma and SGM-related stigma intersect to be associated with health outcomes among MSM living with HIV in resource-limited settings in China.

Methods: Data were derived from a prospective cohort study among 1,198 people living with HIV (772 men and 426 women) and a cross-sectional study among 402 MSM living

vi

with HIV, both in Guangxi, China. Assessments were conducted at baseline from November 2017 to February 2018 and at 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30-, and 36-month follow-ups for the prospective cohort study, and from August 2020 to May 2021 for the crosssectional study. Demographic information, stigma, HIV-related characteristics, physical (e.g., CD4 count, viral load), psychological (e.g., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms), and behavioral (e.g., ART adherence) outcomes were collected in both studies. Confirmatory factor analyses, latent growth curve modeling, and latent moderated structural equations were employed to examine measurement invariance (i.e., configural, metric, scalar, and residual invariance) of HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males, disparities of health outcomes trajectories between the two groups, and the effect of intersectional stigma on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV, respectively.

Results: Configural and metric invariances were fully satisfied, and scalar invariance was partly satisfied for the internalized and enacted HIV-related stigma scales. Configural, metric, and scalar invariances were fully satisfied, and residual invariance was partly satisfied for the anticipated HIV-related stigma scale. Results provided evidence for acceptable measurement invariance for the HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males. The trajectories of CD4 count, viral load, and ART adherence differed between MSM and non-MSM males, but such differences disappeared after controlling for baseline sociodemographic covariates. The interactive effects between HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on depressive and anxiety symptoms were significant among MSM living with HIV. When SGM-related stigma was low, the associations

vii

between HIV-related stigma and depressive/anxiety symptoms were not significant; when SGM-related stigma was high, such associations were significantly positive.

Conclusion: This dissertation research suggested that the internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales should be used with caution for comparison studies between MSM and non-MSM males. Differences between MSM and non-MSM males in physical, psychological, and behavioral health trajectories provided important contributions to understanding the well-being of stigmatized minorities by highlighting intersectional stigma as a mechanism of adverse health outcomes and health inequities between MSM and non-MSM males in China. The studies will inform future stigma reduction interventions that consider the synthetic effects of multiple sources of stigma. **Keywords:** HIV, MSM, measurement invariance, health outcomes, intersectional stigma, China

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiii		
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv		
ABSTRACTvi		
LIST OF TABLES xii		
LIST OF FIGURES xv		
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xv		
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION		
1.1 General introduction to HIV epidemic1		
1.2 MSM living with HIV		
1.3 Health outcomes among MSM living with HIV5		
1.4 HIV-related stigma and its impacts on health outcomes of PLWH		
1.5 SGM-related stigma and its impact on health outcomes		
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE 10		
2.1 Introduction to HIV epidemic among MSM in China		
2.2 Health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males living with HIV 11		
2.3 The main effects of HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV		
2.4 Intersectional stigma and health outcomes among MSM living with HIV 15		
2.5 Knowledge gaps17		
2.6 Conceptual framework		

2.7 Research aims	21
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY	26
3.1 The prospective cohort study	26
3.2 The cross-sectional survey study	28
3.3 Key measures	30
3.4 Data analysis	36
CHAPTER 4: MEASUREMENT INVARIANCE OF SCALES ASSESSING INTERNALIZED, ANTICIPATED, AND ENACTED HIV-RELATED STIGMA BY MSM STATUS	43
4.1 Abstract	43
4.2 Introduction	45
4.3 Methods	47
4.4 Results	53
4.5 Discussion	58
4.6 Conclusion	62
4.7 References	62
CHAPTER 5: HEALTH DISPARITIES IN 3-YEAR CONTINUAL TRAJECTORIES OF PHYSICAL, PSYCHOLOGICAL, AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH OUTCOMES BETWEEN MSM AND NON-	
MSM	77
5.1 Abstract	77
5.2 Introduction	78
5.3 Methods	81
5.4 Results	87
5.5 Discussion	98
5.6 Conclusion	104

5.7 References	04	
CHAPTER 6: IMPACT OF INTERSECTIONAL STIGMA ON HEALTH OUTCOMES AMONG MSM LIVING WITH HIV		
6.1 Abstract	44	
6.2 Introduction14	46	
6.3 Methods14	48	
6.4 Results15	57	
6.5 Discussion	61	
6.6 Conclusion	65	
6.7 References	65	
CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION	92	
7.1 Summary of the dissertation	92	
7.2 Strengths and limitations	95	
7.3 Implications	97	
7.4 Future direction	98	
7.5 Conclusion	99	
REFERENCES	00	
APPENDIX A	43	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Number of PLWH and MSM in each study site at the time of baseline assessment (November 2017-February 2018)
Table 3.2 Outcomes and key independent variables for each study 30
Table 4.1 Sociodemographic characteristics by MSM status
Table 4.2 Internal consistencies, means, standard deviations, skewness and kurtosis of the sum scores for each HIV-related stigma scale by MSM status
Table 4.3 Summary of fit indices from invariance analyses by MSM statusfor HIV-related internalized stigma scale74
Table 4.4 Summary of fit indices from invariance analyses by MSM statusfor HIV-related anticipated stigma scale75
Table 4.5 Summary of fit indices from invariance analyses by MSM statusfor HIV-related enacted stigma scale
Table 5.1 Sociodemographic characteristics of men living with HIV at baseline assessment (n=772)119
Table 5.2 Descriptive statistics of physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes across the seven waves
Table 5.3 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and longitudinal CD4 count
Table 5.4 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and longitudinal viral load
Table 5.5 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and depressive symptoms 125

Table 5 a	.6 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and nxiety symptoms
Table 5	7.7 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and ongitudinal ART adherence
Table 5	8.8 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of CD4 count<500 cells/mm ³
Table 5	9.9 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of viral oad≥50 copies/ml
Table 5 d	1.10 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of lepressive symptoms
Table 5 a	1.11 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of nxiety symptoms
Table 5	1.12 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of ART adherence
Table 6 (1	5.1 Sociodemographic characteristics of MSM living with HIV n=402)
Table 6 p	5.2 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and physical health outcomes
Table 6 p	5.3 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and osychological health outcomes
Table 6 b	5.4 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and behavioral health outcome
Table 6	5.5 Correlation matrix of psychological health outcomes and stigma evels
Table 6	6.6 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of CD4 count 184
Table 6	5.7 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of viral load 185
Table 6	5.8 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of depressive ymptoms

Table	6.9 Simple slope analysis of moderating effect of SGM-related stig between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms	ma 186
Table	6.10 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of anxiety symptoms	187
Table	6.11 Simple slope analysis of moderating effect of SGM-related stigma between HIV-related stigma and anxiety symptoms	187
Table	6.12 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of ART adherence	188

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Conceptual framework
Figure 5.1 The trend in percentage of viral load≥50 copies/ml by study waves
Figure 5.2 The trend in percentage of CD5 count<500 cells/mm ³ by study waves
Figure 5.3 The trend in depressive symptoms by study waves 137
Figure 5.4 The trend in anxiety symptoms by study waves 137
Figure 5.5 The trend in percentage of suboptimal ART adherence by study waves
Figure 5.6 Sample proportions and conditional estimated probabilities of CD4 count<500 cells/mm ³ among non-MSM males and MSM 139
Figure 5.7 Sample proportions and conditional estimated probabilities of viral load≥50 copies/ml among non-MSM males and MSM
Figure 5.8 Sample and conditional estimated means of depressive symptoms among non-MSM males and MSM
Figure 5.9 Sample and conditional estimated means of anxiety symptoms among non-MSM males and MSM
Figure 5.10 Sample proportions and conditional estimated probabilities of suboptimal ART adherence among non-MSM males and MSM 143
Figure 6.1 Measurement model of HIV- and SGM-related stigma 189
Figure 6.2 Simple slope analysis of moderating effect of SGM-related stigma between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms 190

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AACTG	Adult AIDS Clinical Trials Group
AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
AOR	Adjusted Odds Ratio
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
CDC	Center for Disease Control and Prevention
CES-D 10	
CFA	Confirmatory Factor Analyses
CFI	
CI	
CNY	Chinese Yuan
EM	Expectation Maximization
HIV	
LGCM	Latent Growth Curve Model
LMS	Latent Moderated Structural Equations Approach
MLWH	
MSM	
OR	Odds Ratio
PLWH	
RMSEA	

SEM	Structural Equation Modeling
SD	Standard Deviation
SRMR	Standardized Root Mean Residual
UNAIDS	The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
VIF	Variance of Inflation
WHO	World Health Organization

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 General introduction to HIV epidemic

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), which—if left untreated—causes Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS), has emerged as one of the most serious health challenges around the world (Lozano et al., 2012; Murray et al., 2012; Ortblad et al., 2013; Vos et al., 2012). In 2020, there were 37.7 million people living with HIV (PLWH), 1.5 million new HIV infections, and 680,000 AIDS-related deaths worldwide (UNAIDS, 2021).

The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) has launched the 90-90-90 targets for 2020 to reduce HIV-related morbidity and mortality (Marsh et al., 2019). The targets expected that by the year 2020, 90% of PLWH would know their HIV seropositive status; 90% of people who know their HIV seropositive status would have access to antiretroviral therapy (ART); and 90% of people on ART would have suppressed viral loads (UNAIDS, 2021). Yet, the 90-90-90 target was not achieved by the end of 2020, with only 84% of PLWH knowing their HIV seropositive status, 87% of people who knew their HIV seropositive status accessing ART, and 90% of people on ART being virally suppressed (UNAIDS, 2021). Therefore, the new 95-95-95 targets for 2030 have been launched, expecting that 95% of PLWH will know their HIV seropositive status, of whom 95% will have access to ART, of whom 95% will have suppressed viral loads by 2030 (UNAIDS, 2021).

China has made substantial progress toward the HIV prevention and treatment goals as of 2020 (Cao et al., 2020). In 2003, the "Four Frees and Once Care" policy was rolled out to ensure free HIV testing, counseling, treatment, and medication, which significantly promoted HIV treatment, care, management, and monitoring, especially for patients of low socioeconomic statuses (Zhang & Ma, 2019). Despite these intensified efforts, HIV incidence is still dramatically rising in China (Wu et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2021). In the past decade, the prevalence of HIV in China has steadily increased, resulting in more than 1.25 million cumulative cases by the end of 2018, with 80,000 new infections reported in 2018 (Wu et al., 2021).

Geographic disparities in the HIV epidemic exist across China (Wu et al., 2019). Guangxi Autonomous Region ("Guangxi"), a southwestern resource-limited province, is one of the HIV epicenters in China. By the end of 2011, Guangxi was estimated to have 70,000 PLWH and accounted for 9.0% of nationwide HIV cases in China, while representing less than 3.4% of the national population (Cui et al., 2017; Guangxi Center of Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2018). From 2011 to 2018, Guangxi experienced a 79% increase in the number of PLWH, reporting 124,282 cumulative HIV cases (CDC, 2018). In 2018, Guangxi ranked third in terms of the cumulative PLWH among all Chinese provinces (Wu et al., 2019). Progress on the 90-90-90 target was also slower in Guangxi than in most other regions in China (Zhao et al., 2019). In 2017, only 77% of PLWH were accessing ART, among whom 83% were virally suppressed (Yang et al., 2019). These statistics in Guangxi indicated potential barriers and obstacles toward optimal clinical outcomes where further investigations are urgently needed, especially among key populations, including men who have sex with men (MSM).

1.2 MSM living with HIV

The term MSM was introduced within the HIV field to emphasize the specific sexual behavior that places individuals at high risk of HIV infection, avoiding the complex social and cultural connotations of using other identity-centered terms such as "gay" or "homosexual" (Young & Meyer, 2005). Previously, the terms "gay" and "homosexual" were used to describe MSM by authorities (Zhang & Chu, 2005), while Carrillo and Hoffman (2016) argued the importance of considering that there may be inconsistency and ambiguity between a person's sexual identity and sexual behavior. On the one hand, an individual may engage in same-sex sexual behaviors and not necessarily link these behaviors to their own sexual identity (Khan, 2001). On the other hand, gay individuals may also make an active choice to conceal their sexual identity due to the challenges of living in a society where homophobia remains rampant and where strong social value is placed on heterosexuality (Dean, 2014). A survey study in the United States with a sample of 198 adolescent MSM revealed that although all the participants reported having at least one male anal sex partner, only 82.8% identified themselves as gay (Fisher et al., 2018). Similarly, two national cross-sectional surveys (in 2009 and 2016) among MSM in Brazil reported the proportions of individuals who self-identified as gay and/or homosexual were 59.3% in 2009 and 83.1% in 2016 (Guimaraes et al., 2018).

MSM have been disproportionately impacted by HIV compared to the general population or other sexual and gender minority subgroups (Beyrer et al., 2012). Globally, MSM are five times more likely to be HIV infected compared to the general population, and up to 20 times more likely in some low- and middle-income countries (Baral et al.,

2007; Hessou et al., 2019). In the United States, the estimated lifetime risk of HIV infection among MSM is one in six, compared with heterosexual men at one in 524 and heterosexual women at one in 253 (CDC, 2021b; Chan et al., 2014; Guimaraes et al., 2018; Kwakwa & Ghobrial, 2003). MSM are at increased risk for HIV due to complicated factors, including multiple partners, anonymous partners, concurrent partners, and higher rates of unprotected sex (Ackers et al., 2012; Koblin et al., 2006; Solomon et al., 2014). In addition, HIV transmission occurs more readily through receptive anal sex than penile-vaginal sex (CDC, 2021b).

From 2015 to 2019, MSM accounted for 70% of all HIV diagnoses in the United States and 44% of new HIV diagnoses in Asia and the Pacific (CDC, 2016; World Health Organization [WHO], 2021). In China, epidemiological studies assessing the prevalence of HIV among MSM were not conducted until 2000 (Gao et al., 2009). Still, various studies have shown that MSM play an increasingly important role in China's HIV epidemic. The percentages of HIV cases attributable to male-to-male sexual contact have shown a consistent upward trend, from 2.5% in 2006 to 17.4% in 2011 and 23.4% in 2016 (China Ministry of Health, 2011; Dong et al., 2019; Zeng et al., 2016).

MSM form a high-risk population for HIV infection. The HIV prevalence among MSM ranges from 5% in South-East Asia to 12.6% in Eastern and Southern Africa (WHO, 2021). In China, there were estimated to be over 21 million MSM in 2016, representing the population at the highest risk of HIV infection (Zhao et al., 2016). A recent large-scale systematic review suggested that the overall national prevalence of HIV among MSM in China was 6% (study prevalence rates ranging from 0 to 22.9%), with meta-regression analysis demonstrating an increased prevalence as time progressed

from 2001 to 2018 (Dong et al., 2019). A similar increasing trend of HIV prevalence among MSM was reported in Guangxi (Chen et al., 2019). In 2008, the annual survey among MSM in Guangxi demonstrated an HIV prevalence of 2.0%; however, such rate grew to 10.0% in 2017 (Lan et al., 2018) due in part to an increase in high-risk behaviors and broader use of the Internet to find partners (He et al., 2012; Qin et al., 2016).

1.3 Health outcomes among MSM living with HIV

Compared to non-MSM, MSM living with HIV have been shown to be at higher risk of experiencing negative physical (Hall et al., 2012; Yan et al., 2014b), psychological (Bogart et al., 2011; Comulada et al., 2010; Lowther et al., 2014a; Mills et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2020), and behavioral health outcomes (Hightow-Weidman et al., 2011; Sun et al., 2020) related to the HIV care.

Studies show a high incidence of comorbidities among MSM living with HIV, with an increasing prevalence of obesity and kidney disease and a persistently high prevalence of hypertension and metabolic syndrome (D'Souza et al., 2021). Compared to non-MSM, MSM living with HIV showed a faster progression from HIV infection to AIDS when not in HIV treatment, a faster decline in CD4 count before initiating ART, a slower immune recovery after ART initiation, a higher rate of viral mutation and antiretroviral drug resistance, and a lower survival rate (Lowther et al., 2014b; Yan et al., 2014b; Yan et al., 2014c).

The prevalence of mental health issues among MSM living with HIV is consistently high. Approximately half of this population across the globe were diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder during their lives (Crepaz et al., 2008). The most common mental health conditions include depressive mood disorder (14% to 48% vs. 6% to 37%

in the general population) and anxiety disorder (16% to 40% vs. 6% to 18% in the general population) (Arends et al., 2020; Baumeister & Härter, 2007; Crepaz et al., 2008; Myer et al., 2008; O'Cleirigh et al., 2015). Mental health issues further contribute to a lower quality of life and suboptimal adherence to ART in MSM living with HIV (Berg et al., 2004; Pence et al., 2007).

MSM living with HIV are also at risk for various maladaptive health behaviors. Previous literature showed estimates ranging from 9-66% of MSM living with HIV who report having unprotected sex (Chi et al., 2022; Crepaz et al., 2009; Hospers et al., 2005; van Kesteren et al., 2007). Regarding HIV treatment and care, MSM living with HIV have been shown to have less timely linkage to care, poorer retention in care, and poorer treatment adherence due to risk factors at both individual (e.g., lack of SGM identity disclosure and/or HIV status disclosure) and structural levels (e.g., stigma and discrimination) (Govindasamy et al., 2012b; Medley et al., 2013a; Sarna et al., 2014a).

1.4 HIV-related stigma and its impacts on health outcomes of PLWH

Stigma, a discrediting and tainting social label (Goffman, 2009), is a wellestablished barrier to the physical and mental well-being of PLWH as it inhibits healthseeking behaviors and socially isolates PLWH from acquiring support and resources (Courtenay–Quirk et al., 2006a; Dowshen et al., 2009). Similar to many other stigmatized characteristics, PLWH often learn about negative beliefs about HIV from people living without HIV (Earnshaw et al., 2013). According to the Health Stigma Framework, PLWH may experience internalized, anticipated, and enacted stigma when they perceive prejudice, stereotypes, and discrimination from others (Earnshaw & Chaudoir, 2009; Earnshaw et al., 2013). Internalized stigma refers to endorsing negative attitudes

associated with HIV and applying these beliefs to oneself, leading to a sense of selfblaming, guilt, and worthlessness (Earnshaw & Chaudoir, 2009). Anticipated stigma involves expectations of discrimination, stereotyping, and/or prejudice from others if one's HIV status is disclosed (Earnshaw et al., 2013). Enacted stigma refers to one's actual experiences of discrimination, stereotyping, and/or prejudice from others in the past or present due to HIV status (Earnshaw et al., 2013).

Internalized, anticipated, and enacted stigma are closely associated with each other and have been found to undermine the physical health, psychological well-being, and behavioral health of PLWH. A greater level of internalized stigma has been shown to be associated with decreased overall physical health (Wolitski et al., 2009). Anticipated and enacted stigma could accelerate HIV progression, indicated by a lower level of CD4 count, shorter time to AIDS diagnosis when untreated, and shorter time to HIV-related mortality (Cole et al., 1997). PLWH who have a greater level of internalized, anticipated, and enacted stigma have been shown to be more likely to experience depression, low self-esteem, and overall psychological distress (Berger et al., 2001; Chi et al., 2014; Quinn & Chaudoir, 2009). In addition, the three types of stigmas have strong associations with unhealthy behaviors such as suboptimal ART adherence (Sweeney & Vanable, 2016), insufficient healthcare utilization (Chesney & Smith, 1999), and concealment of HIV seropositive status (Rongkavilit et al., 2010). PLWH with greater anticipated and enacted stigma have been shown to report more concerns in healthcare settings, hindering them from utilizing healthcare resources and adhering to medications (Peitzmeier et al., 2015).

Different scales have been developed to measure the three types of HIV-related stigma. One measurement tool of internalized HIV-related stigma is the 8-item scale derived from the "negative self-image" session of the Berger HIV Stigma Scale, which is a reliable and valid instrument developed from a large, diverse sample of PLWH (Berger et al., 2001). Anticipated HIV-related stigma could be assessed by a 9-item scale derived from the Health Stigma Framework. This scale assessed participants' expectations of HIV-related stigma from family members, the community, and healthcare providers (Earnshaw et al., 2013). Enacted HIV-related stigma could be evaluated by the 16-item checklist derived from the PLWH Stigma Index. The checklist focuses on the actual experiences of being stigmatized due to HIV in the past six months (dos Santos et al., 2014).

The measurements of three types of HIV-related stigma were developed among PLWH rather than MSM specifically (Berger et al., 2001) and no evidence has shown that these scales measure the same constructs between the two groups. Given the potential differences in self-image, experiences of being discriminated against, or perceptions of social norms between MSM and non-MSM males (Yan et al., 2019), it is important to ensure that assessment tools used to measure HIV-related stigma are assessing the same underlying constructs for the two groups, which is a prerequisite for use as in comparison studies between MSM and non-MSM males.

1.5 SGM-related stigma and its impact on health outcomes

The term "sexual minority" typically refers to individuals with a minoritized sexual identity, such as lesbian, gay, asexual, pansexual or any other non-heterosexual identity; and "gender minority" refers to individuals who do not identify as cisgender

(Layland et al., 2020). Health disparities associated with stigma against sexual and gender minority (SGM) are widely recorded (Layland et al., 2020). SGM-related stigma has been associated with delayed diagnosis, poor linkage to care, suboptimal ART adherence, reduced medication self-efficacy, and mental health challenges (Andersson et al., 2020; Quinn & Voisin, 2020). Individuals who are SGM are more likely to experience physical illness (e.g., cardiovascular disease) (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013a), psychological disorders (e.g., mood disorders) (Lee et al., 2016), and barriers to healthcare access (Bonvicini, 2017), compared to heterosexual or cisgender populations.

While MSM has been used to emphasize same-sex behavior among males, regardless of how they sexually identify themselves, MSM has been commonly designated as one of the sexual minority groups in both HIV and general health literature. MSM living with HIV perceive and experience various types of stigmas because of their multiple stigmatized identities, including but not limited to SGM status and HIV diagnosis (Aunon et al., 2020; Fitzgerald-Husek et al., 2017; Herek et al., 2009). A study of HIV prevention indicated that MSM tended to avoid or delay HIV-related care due to the fear of others suspecting their same-sex sexual behaviors (Bwambale et al., 2008).

Despite some sexual liberation in the past three decades, MSM in China still face a variety of social challenges associated with social norms and the pressure to have children (Zheng, 2018). Studies among MSM living with HIV in China suggested that higher levels of SGM-related stigma significantly increase the odds of any form of intimate partner violence (Wang et al., 2020) and were related to greater depression, greater anxiety, lower resilience, and lower quality of life (Yang et al., 2020).

CHAPTER 2

BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

2.1 Introduction to HIV epidemic among MSM in China

As a subgroup of SGM population, MSM are disproportionately affected by HIV. Globally, MSM have been shown to be at 25 times higher risk of acquiring HIV compared to heterosexual adult men (UNAIDS, 2021). In Asia and the Pacific areas, MSM accounted for 44% of new HIV infections in 2019 (WHO, 2022).

In the past decades, China has made substantial progress in tackling the HIV epidemic by promoting HIV treatment and care and has significantly reduced HIV transmission from blood donation and injection drug use (Shang & Zhang, 2015). However, HIV infection among MSM is still dramatically rising in China (Wu et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2013). The overall national prevalence of HIV among MSM in 2021 was estimated to be 6% (UNAIDS, 2021), with a notable trend of increase from 2001 to 2018 (Dong et al., 2019). The proportion of MSM among the newly diagnosed HIV cases has also increased, from 2.5% in 2006 to 23.3% in 2018 (Wu, 2015; Zhang, 2019).

Despite a rapidly expanding HIV epidemic among MSM in China, data are limited regarding how MSM status is associated with the HIV treatment cascade and other health outcomes among MSM living with HIV under the unique Chinese culture and social context.

2.2 Health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males living with HIV

Existing literature suggested that MSM living with HIV experienced poorer physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes compared to non-MSM males due to factors from micro to macro levels (Yan et al., 2014b). Living in a society where there is prevalent homophobia and where strong social value is placed on heterosexuality, individuals from SGM group are still stigmatized regardless of the achievements of sexual liberation movements (Dean, 2014). Individuals from SGM groups experience rejection from families, friends, and social institutions, including hospitals and schools (Bonvicini, 2017). A qualitative study described the stigma and shame experiences of HIV-negative MSM, where multiple participants reported their fear of being negatively labeled by their friends (Dubov et al., 2018). In another qualitative study about MSM's experiences of being rejected by families, participants reported broken relationships with parents and siblings and unsupportive responses from families when their sexual identities or behaviors were disclosed (Gourlay et al., 2017).

Discrimination toward SGM also exist in healthcare settings. More than 30% of medical or nursing school students did not believe that gay men should become parents (Chapman et al., 2012). In an online national survey among physicians from SGM groups, 65% had heard derogatory comments from healthcare providers about SGM patients, and 34% had witnessed discriminatory care towards SGM patients (Mansh et al., 2015). In a qualitative study among MSM, a participant reported that when he disclosed his sexual identity, a nurse called in panic (Helms et al., 2022). These experiences of being shamed and discriminated against due to one's SGM identity could predict sexual

risk behavior (e.g., unprotected sex), elevating the risk of acquiring HIV (Newcomb & Mustanski, 2011).

Although Chinese society has become relatively more tolerant toward MSM since homosexuality was removed from the Chinese Classification and Diagnostic Criteria of Mental Disorders in 2001 (Wu, 2003), same-sex marriage is still illegal, and discrimination based on sexual and/or gender identity is not prohibited by laws (Cao & Guo, 2016; Zhang & Chu, 2005). MSM are still expected to fulfill their family duty of a traditional marriage (i.e., heterosexual and cisgender) and to have children (Wu, 2003). Such stress from family and society could further lead to psychological distress and stress-sensitive illness (Sun et al., 2020).

MSM living with HIV and non-MSM males living with HIV may also differ in HIV clinical outcomes. High CD4 count and low viral load are important indicators of successful HIV care engagement and ART adherence (Andersson et al., 2020). CD4 count, the total number of CD4 T-cells in the human body, represents the body's immunologic functioning and ability to fight infections; and viral load, the amount of HIV virus in the body, is an indicator of infection stage (i.e., acute HIV infection, chronic HIV infection, AIDS) among PLWH (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019). Disparities in disease progression and survival have been well-documented between MSM and non-MSM males. Compared to non-MSM, MSM living with HIV showed a faster progression from HIV infection to AIDS when not treated, a faster decline in CD4 count before initiating ART, a slower immune recovery after ART initiation, a higher rate of viral mutation and antiretroviral drug resistance, and a lower survival rate (Lowther et al., 2014b; Yan et al., 2014b; Yan et al., 2014c).

MSM living with HIV experience additional psychosocial burdens and may experience more mental health problems than non-MSM males (Sun et al., 2020). According to the minority stress theory, minority groups are exposed to both external stressors (e.g., discrimination) and internal stressors (e.g., concealment of identity), which in turn place them at risk for tremendous adverse mental health outcomes (Meyer, 2003). MSM have been shown to be at higher risk of depression and trauma compared to their non-sexual minority counterparts (Heywood & Lyons, 2016; Meyer, 2003; Yan et al., 2014a). A meta-analysis revealed that the pooled prevalence of depression among MSM living with HIV was 43% globally (Xiao et al., 2020) and was estimated to be 17% higher than heterosexual men living with HIV (MLWH) (Bogart et al., 2011; Comulada et al., 2010; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2008; Lowther et al., 2014a; Mills et al., 2004).

The emerging health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males living with HIV could be attributed to the stigma and discrimination associated with SGM identity (Putra et al., 2019). MSM living with HIV who experienced stigma and discrimination from other individuals and societal institutions were more likely to conceal their HIV seropositive status and SGM identity, and in turn, experienced delayed linkage to care, poorer retention in care, and suboptimal medication adherence (Yan et al., 2014b).

2.3 The main effects of HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV

MSM living with HIV perceive and experience various types of stigma (i.e., layered stigma) because of their multiple stigmatized identities, including but not limited to SGM status and HIV status (Aunon et al., 2020; Fitzgerald-Husek et al., 2017; Herek et al., 2009). Both HIV- and SGM-related stigma could be associated with delayed

diagnosis, poor linkage to care, suboptimal ART adherence, reduced medication selfefficacy, and mental health challenges (Andersson et al., 2020; Quinn & Voisin, 2020).

HIV-related stigma is often considered a strong driver of increased physical and psychological distress in MSM living with HIV (Goldberg & Smith, 2011; Wohl et al., 2013). A cross-sectional study conducted among 456 MSM living with HIV demonstrated that 61% of participants reported perceived discrimination from the gay community because of their HIV seropositive status, and such perceived HIV stigma was associated with higher levels of depression, anxiety, loneliness, avoidant coping strategies, and suicidal ideation (Courtenay–Quirk et al., 2006b; Jeffries IV et al., 2015).

SGM-related stigma and discrimination have been shown to impede MSM living with HIV from timely linkage to healthcare and subsequently elicited additional psychological burdens, leading to poorer mental and clinical outcomes (Govindasamy et al., 2012a; Medley et al., 2013b; Sarna et al., 2014b). A study of HIV prevention indicated that MSM tended to avoid HIV-related care due to the fear of others suspecting them of same-sex sexual behavior (Bwambale et al., 2008). Such anticipated SGMrelated stigma was further compounded by a fear of discriminatory treatment at healthcare facilities (Kim et al., 2018).

Both SGM identity and HIV diagnosis are considered undesirable in the Chinese societal context and heavily stigmatized (Shao et al., 2018). Despite some sexual liberation in the past three decades, MSM in China still face a variety of social challenges associated with social norms and the pressure to have offspring (Zheng, 2018). Studies among MSM living with HIV in China suggested that higher levels of both HIV- and SGM-related stigma could significantly increase the odds of any form of intimate partner

violence (Wang et al., 2020) and were related to depression, anxiety, resilience, and quality of life (Yang et al., 2020).

2.4 Intersectional stigma and health outcomes among MSM living with HIV

Intersectional stigma is a concept introduced to characterize the convergence of multiple stigmatized identities within a group (Bowleg, 2012). Instead of considering each stigmatized identity separately and simply summing the impacts, an intersectional perspective allows researchers to critically examine how oppressions and protective factors interact at social, community, interpersonal and individual levels to affect privileges and disadvantages (Bogard et al., 2017; Ingram et al., 2019; Turan et al., 2019).

Studies using the intersectionality framework suggest synthesized effects of social status or identities (e.g., HIV status, race/ethnicity, gender, sexual identity, socioeconomic status) on psychological distress and delayed treatment among PLWH (Arnold et al., 2014b; Bogart et al., 2011; English et al., 2018b; Mill et al., 2009). A cross-sectional study among 181 Black MSM living with HIV yielded a three-way interaction among three discrimination types (HIV seropositive status, race/ethnicity, and sexual identity), indicating that intersectional stigma was significantly associated with depressive symptoms (Bogart et al., 2011). Another longitudinal study among Black, Latino, and multiracial gay and bisexual men also indicated the importance of considering the interactive effect of racial discrimination and SGM-related stigma on the persistence of psychological and behavioral health inequities over time (English et al., 2018a). Results revealed a significant interactive effect, where the positive relationships between racial discrimination and depression and anxiety at six months, and higher levels

of heavy drinking at 12 months were strengthened by SGM-related stigma (English et al., 2018a). A qualitative study conducted in-depth interviews with 31 Black gay men and depicted the association between intersectional stigma and poorer HIV-related behavioral health outcomes (Arnold et al., 2014a). Participants experiencing HIV-related stigma, homophobia, and racial discrimination reported tendencies of risky sexual behavior, delay in linkage to care, low adherence to treatment, and fewer HIV disclosures to sexual partners (Arnold et al., 2014b). Intersectional stigma towards MSM living with HIV has also been documented in healthcare providers. A survey study among 332 healthcare providers and social service agencies in Jamaica showed that, although healthcare professionals responded to the survey claiming that MSM deserved quality care, they expressed higher levels of blame and more negative judgments towards MSM living with HIV, compared to HIV-negative MSM or heterosexual PLWH (Rogers et al., 2014).

Although many studies concluded that stigmas were very likely to exacerbate one another, counterintuitively, several studies reported inconsistent findings where some stigmatized characteristics might mitigate or have no influence on the effect of other stigmatized characteristics. A cross-sectional survey study among 203 PLWH suggested that the effect of HIV-related stigma on depression was lessened when participants endorsed experiences of sexual identity discrimination (Williams et al., 1997). Another study among 911 individuals of SGM suggested that although HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma were associated with a higher level of depression independently, no significant interactions were found between HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma (International Lesbian, 2017). Experience of being stigmatized might build resilience to

other stigmatized characteristics (Turan et al., 2019). Certain identities could also create community solidarity protective against other forms of discrimination (Turan et al., 2019).

2.5 Knowledge gaps

Although the collective knowledge has grown rapidly in terms of health outcomes among MSM living with HIV and potential health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males, several knowledge gaps exist.

Although the internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales have been frequently used for comparisons between MSM and non-MSM males, no evidence has shown that these scales measure the same construct between the two groups

Measurement invariance is a statistical property of measurement that indicates that the same construct is being measured across specified groups (Vandenberg & Lance, 2000). Four types of measurement invariance can be distinguished in the common factor model. Configural invariance refers to identical number of factors and the pattern of factor-indicator relationships across groups. Metric invariance refers to equal factor loadings across groups. Scalar invariance refers to equal intercepts/thresholds across groups when observed scores are regressed on each factor. Residual invariance refers to equal residual variances of the observed scores not accounted for by the factors across groups (Vandenberg & Lance, 2000). Measurement invariance for scales of the three types of HIV-related stigma is a prerequisite for use as in comparison studies between MSM and non-MSM males. The measurements of three types of HIV-related stigma were developed among PLWH generally instead of MSM living with HIV specifically (Berger et al., 2001). Given the potential differences in self-image, experiences of being
discriminated against, or perceptions of social norms between non-MSM males and MSM (Yan et al., 2019), it is important to ensure that assessment tools used to measure HIVrelated stigma are assessing the same underlying construct between the two groups. If measurement invariances of HIV-related stigma scales are achieved between MSM and non-MSM males, observed group differences in HIV-related stigma could be attributed to true between-group discrepancies rather than measurement error (Vandenberg & Lance, 2000). If measurement invariances are not satisfied, the HIV-related stigma scales may fail to accurately capture the interested construct, and the observed group differences might be due to inconsistent understanding of certain key concepts or measurement deviations (Vandenberg & Lance, 2000). However, measurement invariances have not been tested for the internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males. Therefore, the appropriateness of using these tools in diverse subgroups was not determined.

Lack of studies of health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males with large sample size and comprehensive health outcomes with longitudinal designs

Findings of most existing studies about health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males have been limited by small sample sizes, non-representative samples, specific but limited domains of health outcomes, or cross-sectional data (Armoon et al., 2021; Gonzalez et al., 2009; Kang et al., 2005; Logie & Gadalla, 2009). Several longitudinal studies with multiple-wave assessments investigated the dynamic patterns of clinical outcomes among PLWH, but the intervals were relatively short (Logie & Gadalla, 2009). A large-scale systematic review of studies among MSM living with HIV in China reported that the majority of 355 studies had a sample size of less than 500 and

all of these were cross-sectional (Dong et al., 2019). Therefore, no study has comprehensively examined the disparities in physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes from a multidomain perspective with a relatively large sample size within a longitudinal design.

To foster a deeper understating of unique health vulnerabilities of MSM living with HIV, longitudinal studies are needed to investigate the differences in long-term health outcomes between MSM and non-MSM males living with HIV. Such studies are necessary to develop effective HIV treatment and care, improve health promotion interventions and benefit clinical practices.

Lack of studies examining the effects of intersectional stigma on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV in low- and middle-income/resource-limited settings

Although the effects of SGM- and HIV-related stigma on clinical and mental health outcomes among MSM living with HIV have been emphasized by public health literature (Bowleg, 2012; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2013b; Henkel et al., 2008), existing studies regarding multiple stigmas tended to focus on the parallel effects of different stigmas rather than the interactive effect of these stigmas through the framework of intersectionality (Bowleg, 2012). In addition, most studies of intersectional stigma among MSM living with HIV have been conducted in the United States (Quinn et al., 2017; Turan et al., 2017). Little is known regarding how SGM-related stigma and HIV-related stigma intersect to be associated with adverse physical, mental, and behavioral health outcomes in resource-limited settings in China. As China has experienced an increasing HIV prevalence among MSM, empirical studies focusing on the effect of intersectional stigma on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV are urgently needed.

2.6 Conceptual framework



Figure 2.1 Conceptual framework

This dissertation research uses a conceptual framework (Figure 2.1) to address the aforementioned knowledge gaps. In this conceptual framework, primary outcomes include physical (CD4 count, viral load), mental (depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms), and behavioral (ART adherence) health outcomes. Study 1 examined the measurement invariance of internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma instruments by MSM status (MSM vs non-MSM males). Study 2 quantified the health disparities in 3-year continual health outcomes by MSM status. Study 3 focused on the main and interactive effect of HIV- and SGM-related stigma on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV, determining whether the associations between HIV-related stigma and health outcomes varied by levels of SGM-related stigma.

In the conceptual framework, sociodemographic and HIV-related characteristics are taken into consideration as they were well-documented to be associated with health outcomes as well as HIV-related stigma among PLWH. For example, younger age among PLWH was associated with higher viral load, shorter time to viral rebound, and a greater level of stigma compared with older age (Logie & Gadalla, 2009; Palmer et al., 2018). A study of psychiatric disorders among PLWH showed that psychiatric disorders in the past 12 months were more prevalent in those who were single, unemployed, and had low educational attainment (Shadloo et al., 2018). Also, internalized HIV stigma and perceived HIV-related discrimination were associated with lower household income and lower educational attainment (Crockett et al., 2019). Therefore, sociodemographic characteristics, including age, ethnicity, marital status, educational attainment, employment, monthly household income, and residence rurality, are considered in the framework.

Data for our studies were collected from Guangxi, China. Guangxi is an underresourced province with poor healthcare infrastructure and lower average socioeconomic status among residents (Zhao et al., 2015), which might be associated with mental health distresses of MSM living with HIV (Sha et al., 2021).

2.7 Research aims

The purpose of this dissertation research was to investigate how MSM status was related to long-term physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes. Furthermore, the research specifically examined the association between intersectional stigma and health outcomes among MSM living with HIV in China. The dissertation addressed the knowledge gaps based on three specific aims and in the form of three studies.

Aim 1. To examine the measurement invariance for internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males. Measurement invariance for three types of HIV-related stigma is a prerequisite for use as in comparison studies between MSM and non-MSM males. If latent factors are to be meaningfully compared between MSM and non-MSM males, the measurement structures of the latent factors and their indicators should be stable.

Research question 1: Do the internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales establish configural, metric, scalar, and residual invariance between MSM and non-MSM males?

Aim 2. To quantify health disparities in 3-year continual trajectories of physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes between MSM and non-MSM males.

Study 2 examined the disparities in health outcomes at baseline and across time between MSM and non-MSM males. Latent growth curve modeling was adopted for each health outcome, controlling for baseline sociodemographic covariates.

Hypothesis 2a: CD4 count, viral load, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence were different between MSM and non-MSM malesat baseline.

Hypothesis 2b: CD4 count, viral load, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence among MSM deteriorated, and the health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males widened over time.

Aim 3. To examine the main effect and interactive effect of HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes among MSM living with HIV.

Hypothesis 3a: Both HIV-related and SGM-related were associated with CD4 count, viral load, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence.

Hypothesis 3b: The interactive effects between HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on CD4 count, viral load, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence were significant. Specifically, the relationships between HIV-related stigma and CD4 count, viral load, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence were aggravated among MSM who reported higher SGM-related stigma.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

Data used in study 1 was derived from a prospective cohort study initiated in November 2017 among 1,198 PLWH (including 193 MSM and 579 non-MSM males) and a cross-sectional survey study initiated in August 2020 among 402 MSM living with HIV, both in Guangxi, China. Data used in studies 2 was derived from the prospective cohort study. Data used in study 3 was derived from the cross-sectional survey study.

3.1 The prospective cohort study

Overview

The prospective cohort study, funded by the National Institute of Health/National Institute of Mental Health (Grant No. R01MH0112376), was designed to investigate the association between HIV-related stigma and clinical outcomes and the potential physical, psychological, and behavioral mechanisms underlying such associations among PLWH. In collaboration with Guangxi Center for Disease Control and Prevention (Guangxi CDC), six major public hospitals/clinics with the largest volume of HIV patients under care in five cities (i.e., Nanning, Guilin, Liuzhou, Guigang, and Qinzhou) were selected as study sites. HIV patient numbers at each study site at the time of baseline assessment can be found in Table 3.1.

assessment (November 2017-1 coldary 2010)				
Study sites	Number of PLWH	Number of MSM		
Guangxi CDC	2,705	787		
Nanning	7,389	712		
Liuzhou	7,216	158		
Guilin	2,803	287		
Guigang	1,386	43		
Qinzhou	2,051	30		

Table 3.1 Number of PLWH and MSM in each study site at the time of baseline assessment (November 2017-February 2018)

Eligible PLWH were randomly selected to participate in the study following a systematic sampling approach. Case managers in each site picked an arbitrary number (e.g., the date of the month) to identify the first case from the eligible patient pool, and calculated the interval, n, for each sampling iteration (n = the ratio of the target sample size to the total amount of eligible patients in the system). From the first case identified, every nth case was selected until the target sample size (n=~200) was achieved at each clinic.

Participants

Eligible cases for the cohort study were PLWH who: (1) were aged 18 to 60 years, (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of HIV, and (3) had no plan to relocate outside of the Guangxi province in the next 12 months. PLWH were excluded if they were: (1) physically or mentally incapable of responding to survey questions, and (2) currently incarcerated or institutionalized for drug use or commercial sex. A total of 1,198 PLWH were recruited in the cohort study, of which 64.4% (n=772) were men. Because studies 1 and 2 aimed to explore the potential disparities between MSM and non-MSM males, a subset of the final sample consisting of 193 MSM (who self-reported having acquired HIV via same-sex sexual behavior) and 579 non-MSM males were included in the analyses.

Data collection procedure

Before data collection, research associates from the local CDC and hospitals/clinics received a three-day training course. The course covered topics on research ethics, assessment methodology, and survey skills. Prior to each of the follow-up assessments, research associates were given an additional one-day booster training session, which briefly reiterated research ethics and survey skills. After eligible PLWH were randomly selected from the system, local CDC staff contacted the patients to confirm their eligibility, discussed with them the benefits and risks of the study, and invited them to participate. After obtaining written informed content, questionnaireoriented face-to-face interviews were conducted in private rooms of the local hospitals/clinics.

Baseline assessment was conducted from November 2017 to February 2018, with follow-ups at 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30-, and 36- months. All data were collected and merged by November 2021. The attrition rate was less than 5% for each follow-up assessment. Each participant received a small gift (e.g., household items) equivalent to US\$5.00 (1 USD≈6.5 Chinese Yuan at the time of the survey) upon the completion of each assessment. The research protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at both the University of South Carolina in the United States and Guangxi CDC in China.

3.2 The cross-sectional survey study

Overview

The cross-sectional survey study, funded by the National Institute of Health/National Institute of Mental Health (Grant No. R01MH0112376-4S1), was designed to explore the intersectional stigma of SGM status and HIV status on HIV-

related health outcomes among MSM living with HIV. Data collection was initiated in August 2020 and finished in May 2021. In collaboration with Guangxi CDC, four major public hospitals/clinics with the largest cumulative number of MSM living with HIV in three cities in Guangxi (i.e., Nanning, Guilin, and Liuzhou) were selected as study sites. A purposive sampling method was used to recruit participants. Medical staff or case managers from each study site screened all the HIV patients in their clinical records and invited all eligible patients to participate in the study.

Participants

Eligible participants were men who: (1) aged 18-60 years; (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of HIV; (3) self-reported having sex with men in the last six months. MSM were excluded if they: (1) were physically or mentally incapable of responding to survey questions; (2) were currently incarcerated or institutionalized for drug use or commercial sex; and (3) had already participated in the aforementioned prospective cohort study. After excluding individuals who were not eligible, 402 MSM were included in the final sample.

Survey procedure

With the assistance and collaboration of Guangxi CDC, an intervieweradministered questionnaire was used for quantitative data collection. After obtaining participants' written informed consent, local research team members conducted surveys in private offices in community health centers or HIV clinics where participants received regular medical care. The entire survey took around 60 minutes. Each participant received a gift equivalent to US\$5 upon the completion of the questionnaire. The research

protocol was approved by Institutional Review Boards at both the University of South

Carolina and Guangxi CDC in China.

3.3 Key measures

Primary outcomes in this dissertation include CD4 count, viral load, depressive

symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence. Key predictors include MSM status,

internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related and SGM-related stigma.

Sociodemographic and HIV-related characteristics were included in the analyses as

covariates. Outcomes and key predictors used for each study can be found in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2 Outcomes and key	v independent variables	for each study
----------------------------	-------------------------	----------------

Studies	Outcomes	Key predictors
Study 1	Measurement invariance of HIV-related	MSM status (MSM vs.
	internalized, anticipated, and enacted stigma	non-MSM males)
	instruments	
Study 2	Physical health outcomes: CD4 count, viral load	MSM status (MSM vs.
	Psychological health outcomes: depressive	non-MSM males)
	symptoms, anxiety symptoms	
	Behavioral health outcomes: ART adherence	
Study 3	Physical health outcomes: CD4 count, viral load	Internalized,
	Psychological health outcomes: depressive	anticipated, and
	symptoms, anxiety symptoms	enacted HIV- and
	Behavioral health outcomes: ART adherence	SGM-related stigma

Physical health outcomes

CD4 count of each participant at baseline, 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30- and 36-month

follow-ups were retrieved from the patient's lab results at each hospital. According to the

guidelines for ART in adults and adolescents with HIV (U.S. Department of Health and

Human Services & Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents, 2017),

the cutoff of 500 cells/mm³ has clinical implications in evaluating the normal

immunologic functioning. Therefore, CD4 count was categorized into a binary variable:

CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ and CD4 count≥500 cells/mm³ for the purpose of data

analysis in this dissertation.

Viral load of each participant at baseline, 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30- and 36-month follow-ups were collected from the electronic health record (EHR) system of Guangxi CDC. Viral suppression was defined as HIV RNA less than or equal to 50 copies/ml in PLWH's plasma (CDC & National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, and T.B. Prevention 2018). As viral suppression indicates the treatment efficacy, it was used as one of the primary outcomes rather than the original continuous value of viral load. Viral load was categorized into a binary variable: viral load<50 copies/ml and viral load≥50 copies/ml.

Psychological health outcomes

Depressive symptoms were assessed with the 10-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D 10) Scale (Kohout et al., 1993). The Chinese version of CES-D 10 has been validated in both the clinical and non-clinical populations in China (Yu et al., 2013). It captured depressed affect (3 items), somatic symptoms (5 items), and positive affect (2 items). The response options ranged from 0 ("rarely or none of the time") to 3 ("all of the time"). The sum scores of CES-D 10 ranged from 0 to 30, with higher scores indicating a greater level of depression. The scale exhibited an acceptable internal consistency in our study (Cronbach's alpha=0.85).

Anxiety symptoms were assessed with the 20-item Self-rating Anxiety Scale (Zung, 1971) to quantify the level of anxiety for patients experiencing anxiety-related symptoms. The Chinese version scale has been validated in the Chinese populations (Zhang et al., 2015). Items assess psychological and physiological symptoms in the past week, and each item is scored on a scale of 1 ("none or a little of the time") to 4 ("most of the time"). Sample items are "I feel easily upset or panicked" and "I experience headache

and a sore neck." The sum scores of the scale ranged from 20 to 80, with higher scores indicating a greater level of anxiety. The scale exhibited an acceptable internal consistency in our study (Cronbach's alpha=0.80).

Behavioral health outcomes

ART adherence was assessed with a multiple-item approach to minimize the self-report bias (Mi et al., 2020). Five items derived from the Adult AIDS Clinical Trials Group (AACTG) adherence instrument were adapted to our studies (Chesney et al., 2000). The first item asked participants if they had missed any dose ever before. Responses were recorded to reflect ART adherence (1=not missed, 0=missed). The other four items inquired about the total number of prescribed doses and the number of doses that participants actually took within four specific time windows (i.e., past three weekdays, past weekend, past two weeks, and past month). The responses to each of these items were first converted into a percentage of doses taken as scheduled and then dichotomized into 1 (\geq 95% of prescribed doses) or 0 (<95%). The threshold of 95% is used in the current study as the existing literature suggested 95% as the optimal level of adherence to sustain viral suppression (Paterson et al., 2000) and avoid the evolution of drug-resistant viruses (Raffa et al., 2008). An adherence index score was generated by summing the dichotomous scores of the five items to reflect an optimal adherence (score=5) or suboptimal adherence (score<5) (Mi et al., 2020). Such measure of ART adherence has been validated under various cultural contexts (Chesney et al., 2000; Reynolds et al., 2007) and was considered a robust instrument for evaluating ART adherence behaviors among PLWH.

HIV-related stigma

Internalized HIV-related stigma was assessed with an 8-item scale derived from the "negative self-image" subscale of the Berger HIV Stigma Scale (Berger et al., 2001). Participants were asked to respond to each statement on a 4-point scale from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 4 ("strongly agree"). Sample statements are "I feel I'm not as good as others because I have HIV" and "I feel guilty because I have HIV." A sum score of the eight items was calculated with a higher score indicating a higher level of internalized HIV stigma. The scale exhibited a Cronbach's α of .94 in our study.

Anticipated HIV-related stigma was assessed with a 9-item scale derived from the Health Stigma Framework (Earnshaw et al., 2013). This scale assessed participants' expectations of HIV-related stigma coming from family members, community, and healthcare providers. Sample items are "Family members will avoid touching me," "Community managers will refuse to provide me with social services," and "Healthcare providers will treat me with less respect." Each item was rated on a scale of 1 ("definitely not") to 5 ("definitely"). A sum score of the nine items was calculated, ranging from 9 to 45, with a higher score indicating higher levels of anticipated HIV stigma. The Cronbach's alpha of this scale was 0.92 in our study.

Enacted HIV-related stigma was evaluated using the 16-item checklist adapted from a previous study (dos Santos et al., 2014). PLWH were asked whether they had some actual experiences of being stigmatized due to HIV in the past six months, including "Being excluded from social gatherings or activities," "Being excluded from family activities," and "Being physically assaulted." Participants who answered "yes (1)" were considered to have the experience of being stigmatized, while those who answered

"no (0)" were considered to have no such experience. The total score of the 16 items was used as a composite score, with a higher score indicating more experiences of being stigmatized in the last six months. The enacted stigma scale also showed good reliability at baseline (Cronbach's alpha=0.89).

SGM-related stigma

Internalized SGM-related stigma was assessed with 14 items derived from the Chinese version internalized homophobia scale (Ren & Hood, 2018) and the internalized homophobia and perceived stigma scale (Puckett et al., 2017). The scale was conducted on SGM to quantify negative feelings and homophobic attitudes towards themselves. Sample items are "if I were a heterosexual, I would be happier" and "sometimes I feel ashamed of my sexual orientation." Each statement was rated on a scale of 1 ("strongly disagree") to 4 ("strongly agree"). A sum score of the 14 items was calculated with a higher score indicating higher levels of internalized SGM-related stigma. The reliability of this scale was acceptable (Cronbach's alpha=0.87).

Anticipated SGM-related stigma was assessed with 17 items derived from the internalized homophobia and perceived stigma scale (Puckett et al., 2017) and the homosexuality-related stigma scale (Ha et al., 2013) to describe the stigma refers to an MSM's perception of how others respond if they know about his same-sex behaviors. The researchers introduced an additional item to better fit the Chinese context ("same-sex behavior doesn't match with the traditional Chinese culture"). Other sample items are "many employers would underestimate a man due to his homosexuality regardless of his qualifications for the job" and "many people do not see gay men as real men." Each statement was rated on a scale from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 4 ("strongly agree"). A sum

score of the 17 items was calculated with a higher score indicating higher levels of anticipated SGM-related stigma. The Cronbach's alpha of this scale was 0.95 in our study.

Enacted SGM-related stigma was assessed with 14 items derived from the China MSM stigma scale (Neilands et al., 2008) and the homosexuality-related stigma scale (Ha et al., 2013) to depict the actual experiences of prejudice and discrimination that occur to a man because of his same-sex behaviors. Participants were asked to rate the frequency of encountering a series of negative life events due to their MSM identity from 1 ("never") to 4 ("often"). Sample life events are "being hit or beaten up for being homosexual" and "being kicked out of school for being homosexual." A sum score of the 14 items was calculated with a higher score indicating higher levels of enacted SGMrelated stigma. The reliability of this scale was acceptable (Cronbach's alpha=0.85). *Covariates*

Sociodemographic characteristics included age (18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45 or older), ethnicity (Han, other), marital status (single, married/life partner, divorced/separated/widowed), educational attainment (middle school or below, high school, college and above), employment (fulltime employed, parttime employed, unemployed), monthly household income (1,999 Chinese Yuan [CNY] or below, 2,000-3,999 CNY, 4,000 CNY or above), residence rurality (city, county, rural), and sexual identity (gay/bisexual, straight, unsure).

3.4 Data analysis

Overall analytic considerations

Prior to data analysis specific to each study, some analytic issues associated with appropriate analysis were carefully assessed and considered in data management and cleaning. These issues included collinearity, missing data, outliers, and multiple comparisons. In the longitudinal data analysis, trajectory patterns (e.g., linear, quadratic, cubic) were evaluated and considered.

Collinearity might exist in the data analysis and influence parameter estimation. The collinearity among independent variables of interest was tested using two widely used indices: variance of inflation (VIF) and value of tolerance, with criteria of collinearity being: (1) VIF larger than 10; and/or (2) value of tolerance less than 0.2 or 0.1 (Wicklin, 2020). If collinearity existed among several variables, which indicates similar conceptual meaning and strong correlations, only one variable with the highest correlation with each outcome was included in the final models.

Missing data/attrition could be an issue in both longitudinal and cross-sectional data analyses. During the three years of follow-up, 62 (out of 1,198) participants dropped from the longitudinal study. Preliminary analyses revealed that the attrition rate was less than 5% for each follow-up in the 7-wave longitudinal datasets, and the maximum percentage of missing responses for any single variable was less than 5% in the cross-sectional dataset. As the percentage of missing data was low, missing at random (MAR) was assumed. Expectation Maximization (E.M.) algorithm was therefore used to impute missing data (Dempster et al., 1977).

Multivariable linear regression was conducted to examine the outliers among all continuous variables. Scatter plot, residual plot, Cook's distance, and Mahalanobis distance will be used to detect the outliers among variables of interest. Observations with Cook's distance larger than 1 or with a greater Mahalanobis distance from the rest of the sample population (p<.001) were considered outliers or influential cases (Cousineau & Chartier, 2010; Penny, 1996). If evidence showed outliers or influential cases, observations were double-checked for any mistakes in data cleaning, coding, and management. Outliers/influential cases without any mistakes were kept for further analysis. Otherwise, they were recoded as missing values.

As several hypotheses were simultaneously tested for multiple outcome measurements in studies 2 and 3, the statistical probability of incorrectly rejecting a true H0 (Type I error) would inflate (Chen et al., 2017). Bonferroni adjustment was adopted to control the increasing Type I error due to multiple comparisons (Bland & Altman, 1995). For the number of simultaneously tested hypotheses *m*, the significance level was adjusted as $\alpha'=\alpha/m$, where the original significance level $\alpha=0.05$.

Data analysis for study 1

Study 1 aimed to examine the measurement invariance for internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma instruments between MSM and non-MSM males. Four levels of measurement invariance were tested: configural, metric, scalar, and residual invariance. These levels of invariance build on one another, following a measurement invariance ladder from the least stringent to the most stringent (Vandenberg & Lance, 2000). Configural invariance refers to that the number of factors and pattern of loadings are the same across groups. Metric invariance refers to that the factor loadings

are the same across groups. Scalar invariance means that item intercepts (for continuous response items) or item thresholds (for categorical response items) are equivalent across groups. Residual invariance means that the residual variance, such as measurement errors, are similar across groups (Putnick & Bornstein, 2016).

For Study 1, descriptive analysis was conducted to describe participants' sociodemographic characteristics using mean (standard deviation [SD]) for continuous variables and frequency (percentage [%]) for categorical variables. Internal consistencies, means, standard deviations, skewness, and kurtosis of the sum scores for each scale in each MSM and non-MSM were examined. Data was considered normally distributed if skewness is between -2 to +2 and kurtosis is between -7 to +7 (Hair et al., 2010). Internal consistency above .7 was considered good, and above .8 was considered great (Cortina, 1993).

The measurement invariance analyses were conducted following the procedure described and developed by Vandenberg and Lance (2000) and Schulte et al. (2013). Multi-group comparisons in the context of CFA were conducted with the software program M*plus* 8.4 (Muthén & Muthen, 2017). The step-up approach was used to add a series of increasingly stringent equality constraints to the models (Brown, 2015). First, configural invariance of the baseline model was tested with multiple group comparisons, where no equality constraints were imposed. Second, metric invariance was examined by constraining factor loadings of indicators to be equal across groups. Third, scalar invariance was examined. For internalized and anticipated HIV-related stigma scale, of which item responses were continuous, scalar invariance was tested by constraining intercepts of indicators to be equal across groups. For HIV-related enacted stigma scale,

of which item responses were dichotomous, scalar invariance was tested by constraining item thresholds to be equivalent across groups. Item thresholds are specifically relevant for binary indicators (e.g., 0=No, 1=Yes), referring to the level of the latent trait (e.g., enacted stigma) that is associated with transitioning from being negative on the indicator to being positive on the indicator (Brown, 2015). Fourth, residual invariance was tested. For internalized and anticipated HIV-related stigma scale, residual invariance was examined by constraining item residual variances to be equal between groups. For HIV-related stigma scale, residual between groups. For HIV-related stigma scale, residual by further constraining the residual variance was examined by further constraining the residual variances to 1 in both groups.

In case full measurement invariance could not be established, partial invariance was further examined (Byrne et al., 1989). By means of modification indices, a modified model for checking partial invariance by releasing the equality constraints for misspecified items was subsequently examined. To establish the certain level of partial measurement invariance, at least the loadings/intercepts/thresholds/residuals of two items should be equal across groups (Byrne et al., 1989).

Data analysis for study 2

Study 2 aimed to examine potential health disparities in longitudinal trajectories of physical, psychosocial, and behavioral health outcomes between MSM and non-MSM males. First, baseline sociodemographic characteristics were described with frequency (column percent) and compared between non-MSM males and MSM using Chi-square tests or Fisher's exact tests as appropriate. Second, trends of physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes over time were examined. Trends of continuous outcomes (i.e., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms) were tested with repeated measure

analysis of variance (ANOVA). Trends of categorical outcomes (i.e., CD4 count, viral load, ART adherence) were tested with Cochran-Armitage trend tests.

Third, associations between sociodemographic characteristics and longitudinal physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes were conducted with univariate generalized linear mixed model (GLMM) for categorical outcomes and repeated measure ANOVA for continuous outcomes.

Fourth, latent growth curve model (LGCM) was adopted to estimate the interindividual variability in intra-individual change patterns through two latent factors - the intercept (the initial value of variables of interest) and the slope (the change rate of variables of interest) (Curran, Obeidat, & Losardo, 2010; Duncan & Duncan, 2004). LGCM could be applied to investigate the trajectories for both continuous and categorical variables (Wang & Wang, 2019). For each outcome of interest, an LGCM was adopted to depict the trajectories in each group, and to examine the potential difference between trajectories by MSM status. Baseline sociodemographic covariates were introduced as time-invariant variables, including included age, ethnicity, marital status, education, employment, monthly household income, and residence rurality.

Data analysis for study 3

First, descriptive analysis was conducted to describe participants' sociodemographic characteristics using frequency (percentage [%]). Second, bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and categorical outcomes (i.e., CD4 count, viral load, ART adherence) were conducted with Chi-square tests or Fisher's exact tests as appropriate. Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and continuous outcomes (i.e., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms) were conducted with ANOVA or t-tests as appropriate.

Interactive effects between HIV- and SGM-related stigma on physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes were tested with a structural equation model (SEM) using the latent moderated structural equations (LMS) approach (Klein & Moosbrugger, 2000). Existing literature suggests that LMS has good performance with the nonlinearity induced by interaction terms (Kelava et al., 2011). The procedure for estimating LMS using the XWITH command in Mplus 8.4 software (Muthén & Muthen, 2017) followed the guideline of Maslowsky et al. (2014). Prior to testing the hypothesized model, the three types of HIV-related stigma and the three types of SGMrelated stigma were treated as indicators of a latent stigma construct, respectively, namely HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma. A measurement model was estimated to ensure the goodness of fit prior to estimating structural models. Structural models are estimated in two steps (Klein & Muthén, 2007; Muthén & Muthen, 2017). In the first step, structural models without the latent interaction term were estimated, henceforth referred to as Model 0. In the second step, structural models with the latent interaction were estimated, henceforth referred to as Model 1. Results of Model 1 provided coefficients and indicated whether the latent interaction was significant.

Across all three studies, the use of model fit indices followed Hu and Bentler (1999) recommendations. In addition to the Chi-square statistic, which can be inflated by large sample sizes and moderate discrepancies from normality, root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), comparative fit index (CFI), and Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI) were also used to evaluate model fit.

RMSEA of .08 or less, SRMR of .08 or less, CFI and TLI of .95 or greater indicate adequate fit (Browne & Cudeck, 1992; Hu & Bentler, 1999; Weiber & Mühlhaus, 2014).

Descriptive statistics and bivariate analyses were performed with SPSS 28.0 (IBM Corp). Cochran-Armitage trend tests were conducted with SAS 9.4. CFA (Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.), LGCM, and LMS were performed using M*plus* 8.4 (Muthen & Muthen, Los Angeles, CA).

CHAPTER 4

MEASUREMENT INVARIANCE OF SCALES ASSESSING INTERNALIZED, ANTICIPATED, AND ENACTED HIV-RELATED STIGMA BY MSM STATUS 4.1 Abstract

Background: Measurement invariance is the extent to which scales have the same meaning across groups and is a prerequisite for use in comparison studies. As HIVrelated stigma scales are increasingly used in HIV studies for comparisons between different subgroups, such as men who have sex with men (MSM) and non-MSM males, it is necessary to assess the measurement equivalence between groups. This study examined the measurement invariance for internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma instruments between MSM and non-MSM males.

Methods: Data derived from a prospective cohort study and a cross-sectional survey study was used in this study. By merging two data sources, a combined sample of 595 MSM (193 from the prospective cohort study and 402 from the cross-sectional survey study) and 579 non-MSM males (only from the prospective cohort study) were used in the current analysis. Participants completed the 8-item internalized HIV-related stigma scale, the 9-item anticipated HIV-related stigma scale, and the 16-item checklist of enacted HIV-related stigma scale. Confirmatory factor analyses in a step-up approach were used to test the between-group measurement invariance by adding a series of increasingly stringent equality constraints to the models.

Results: Configural and metric invariances for the internalized HIV-related stigma scale were fully satisfied. Scalar measurement invariance was partly satisfied for the internalized HIV-related stigma scale by allowing the intercepts of items 2, 3, and 6 to vary between groups (χ²=89.32, df=43; CFI=.986; TLI=.981; RMSEA=.043, 95% CI [.030, .056]; SRMR=.033), indicating that the zero points of item 2 ("I feel ashamed of having HIV"), item 3 ("Having HIV makes me feel unclean"), and item 6 ("I feel guilty because I have HIV") were different between MSM and non-MSM males. Configural, metric, scalar invariances for the anticipated HIV-related stigma scale were fully satisfied. Partial residual measurement invariance was established for the anticipated HIV-related stigma scale by allowing the residual of item 2 ("Family members will look down on me") to vary by MSM status (χ^2 =93.57, df=66; CFI=.994; TLI=.993; RMSEA=.027, 95% CI [.012, .038]; SRMR=.022), indicating that the item variance that could not be explained by the factor was different between MSM and non-MSM males. Configural and metric invariances for the enacted HIV-related stigma scale were fully satisfied. Partial scalar measurement invariance was established for the enacted HIVrelated stigma by allowing the threshold of item 7 ("stress from spouse/partner") to vary between groups (χ²=314.74, *df*=219; CFI=.987; TLI=.986; RMSEA=.027, 95% CI [.020, .034]; SRMR=.088), indicating that the threshold of item 7 was different between MSM and non-MSM males.

Conclusion: This study provided evidence for acceptable measurement invariance for internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males. However, the comparisons of certain stigma measures across groups should be interpreted with caution since the constraints of some items vary across groups. This

study provided evidence and support for future studies using these scales to assess HIVrelated stigma between MSM and non-MSM males, which could be a basis for future intervention in stigma reduction.

4.2 Introduction

HIV-related stigma, known as a discrediting and tainting social label (Goffman, 2009), is well-documented as a barrier to physical and psychological well-being and healthcare access for people living with HIV (PLWH) (Courtenay–Quirk et al., 2006a; Dowshen et al., 2009). According to the Health Stigma Framework, PLWH may experience internalized, anticipated, and enacted stigma when they perceive prejudice, stereotypes, and discrimination from others (Earnshaw & Chaudoir, 2009; Earnshaw et al., 2013). Internalized stigma refers to endorsing negative attitudes associated with HIV and applying these beliefs to themselves, leading to a sense of self-blaming, feelings of guilt, and feelings of worthlessness (Earnshaw & Chaudoir, 2009). Anticipated stigma involves expectations of discrimination, stereotyping, and/or prejudice from others if their HIV status is disclosed (Earnshaw et al., 2013). Enacted stigma refers to actual experiences of discrimination, stereotyping, and/or prejudice due to HIV from others in the past or present (Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021a; Earnshaw et al., 2013).

The three types of HIV-related stigma are closely associated with each other and have been well-established to undermine the physical, psychological, and behavioral health of PLWH (Cole et al., 1997). Physically, HIV-related stigma could accelerate HIV progression, resulting in a lower level of CD4 count, a higher level of viral load, and a shorter time to AIDS diagnosis when untreated (Cole et al., 1997; Lyons et al., 2020).

Psychologically, HIV-related stigma contributes to mental disorders among PLWH, including depression, anxiety, emotional distress, and suicidal ideation or attempts (Bogart et al., 2010; Capron et al., 2012; Carrico, 2010; Gonzalez et al., 2009; Kang et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2002; Siegel et al., 2005). A systematic review also showed that HIV-related stigma was associated with maladaptive health behaviors such as suboptimal ART adherence (Sweeney & Vanable, 2016).

Different scales have been developed to measure the three types of HIV-related stigma. One measurement tool of internalized HIV-related stigma is the 8-item scale derived from the "negative self-image" session of the Berger HIV Stigma Scale, which is a reliable and valid instrument developed from a large, diverse sample of PLWH (Berger et al., 2001). Anticipated HIV-related stigma could be assessed by a 9-item scale derived from the Health Stigma Framework. This scale assessed participants' expectations of HIV-related stigma from family members, the community, and healthcare providers (Earnshaw et al., 2013). Enacted HIV-related stigma could be evaluated by the 16-item checklist derived from the PLWH Stigma Index. The checklist focuses on the actual experiences of being stigmatized due to HIV in the past six months (dos Santos et al., 2014).

As the measurements of three types of HIV-related stigma were developed among PLWH rather than MSM specifically (Berger et al., 2001), measurement invariance for scales of the three types of HIV-related stigma is a prerequisite for use as in comparison studies between MSM and non-MSM males. Given the potential differences in selfimage, experiences of being discriminated against, or perceptions of social norms between non-MSM males and MSM (Yan et al., 2019), it is important to ensure that

assessment tools used to measure HIV-related stigma are assessing the same underlying constructs by MSM status. If measurement invariances of HIV-related stigma scales are achieved between MSM and non-MSM males, observed group differences in HIV-related stigma could be attributed to true between-group discrepancies rather than measurement error (Vandenberg & Lance, 2000). If measurement invariances are not satisfied, the HIV-related stigma scales may fail to accurately capture the interested construct, and the observed group differences might be due to inconsistent understanding of certain key concepts or measurement deviations (Vandenberg & Lance, 2000).

As measurement invariances have not been tested for the internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males, the appropriateness of using these tools for comparison between diverse subgroups was not determined. This study aimed to assess measurement invariance for these three HIVrelated stigma scales between non-MSM males and MSM in China using multi-group comparisons in the context of confirmatory factor analyses.

4.3 Methods

Study setting and participants

Data in the current study were derived from a prospective cohort study and a cross-sectional survey study. The prospective cohort study was designed to investigate the association between HIV-related stigma and clinical outcomes, and the potential physical, mental and behavioral mechanisms underlying such associations among PLWH in Guangxi, China. Baseline assessment was conducted from November 2017 to February 2018. In collaboration with Guangxi Center for Disease Control and Prevention (Guangxi CDC), six major public hospitals/clinics with the largest volume of HIV patients under

care in five cities were selected as study sites. Eligible cases for the cohort study were PLWH who: (1) aged between 18 and 60 years old, (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of HIV, and (3) had no plan to relocate outside of the Guangxi province in the next 12 months. A total of 1,198 PLWH were recruited in the cohort study, of which 64.4% (n=772) were men, including 193 MSM and 579 non-MSM males.

The cross-sectional survey study was designed to explore the association between intersectional stigma and HIV-related health outcomes among MSM living with HIV. Data collection was initiated in August 2020 and finished in May 2021. In collaboration with Guangxi CDC, four major public hospitals/clinics with the largest cumulative number of MSM living with HIV in three cities were selected as study sites. Eligible participants were men who: (1) aged 18-60 years; (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of HIV/AIDS; (3) self-reported having sex with men in the last six months. MSM were excluded if they had already participated in the aforementioned prospective cohort study. After excluding participants that were not eligible, 402 MSM were involved in the study.

A subset of the prospective cohort study sample consisting of 193 MSM and 579 non-MSM males, and the 402 MSM recruited from the cross-sectional survey study were included in the current study.

Assessment Instruments

Internalized HIV-related stigma scale

Internalized HIV-related stigma was assessed with an 8-item scale derived from the subscale of "negative self-image" of the Berger HIV Stigma Scale (Berger et al., 2001). Participants were asked to respond to each statement on a 4-point scale from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 4 ("strongly agree"). Sample statements are "I feel I'm not as

good as others because I have HIV" and "I feel guilty because I have HIV." A sum score of the eight items was calculated with a higher score indicating a higher level of internalized HIV stigma. The scale exhibited a Cronbach's α of .95 in our study.

Anticipated HIV-related stigma

Anticipated HIV-related stigma was assessed with a 9-item scale derived from the Health Stigma Framework (Earnshaw et al., 2013). This scale assessed participants' expectations of HIV-related stigma coming from family members, community, and healthcare providers. Sample items are "Family members will avoid touching me," "Community managers will refuse to provide me with social services," and "Healthcare providers will treat me with less respect." Each item was rated on a scale of 1 ("definitely not") to 5 ("definitely"). A sum score of the nine items was calculated, ranging from 9 to 45, with a higher score indicating higher levels of anticipated HIV stigma. The Cronbach's alpha of this scale was 0.93 in our study.

Enacted HIV-related stigma

Enacted HIV-related stigma was evaluated using a 16-item checklist adapted from a previous study (dos Santos et al., 2014). PLWH were asked whether they had experienced actual incidents of being stigmatized due to HIV in the past six months, including "Being excluded from social gatherings or activities," "Being excluded from family activities," and "Being physically assaulted." Participants who answered "yes (1)" were considered to have the experience of being stigmatized, while those who answered "no (0)" were considered to have no such experience. The total score of the 16 items was used as a composite score, with a higher score indicating more experiences of being

stigmatized in the last six months. The enacted stigma scale also showed good reliability at baseline (Cronbach's alpha=0.86).

Statistical analysis

First, descriptive analysis was conducted to describe participants' sociodemographic characteristics using mean (standard deviation [SD]) for continuous variables and frequency (percentage [%]) for categorical variables. Second, internal consistencies, means, standard deviations, skewness, and kurtosis of the sum scores for each scale among MSM and non-MSM were examined. Data were considered normally distributed if skewness is between -2 to +2 and kurtosis is between -7 to +7 (Hair et al., 2010). Internal consistency above .7 was considered good, and above .8 was considered great (Cortina, 1993).

Third, measurement invariance analysis was conducted according to the procedure described by Vandenberg and Lance (Vandenberg & Lance, 2000). Multigroup comparisons in the context of CFA were conducted with the software program *Mplus* 8.4 (Muthén & Muthen, 2017). The step-up approach was used to add a series of increasingly stringent equality constraints to the models (Brown, 2015): 1) configural invariance of the baseline model was tested with multiple group comparisons, where no equality constraints were imposed; 2) metric invariance was examined by constraining factor loadings of indicators to be equal across groups. The factor variance(s) were fixed to 1 in non-MSM males and were free in MSM; 3) scalar invariance was examined. For internalized and anticipated HIV-related stigma scale, of which item responses were continuous, scalar invariance was tested by constraining intercepts of indicators to be equal across groups. For enacted HIV-related stigma scale, of which item responses were

dichotomous, scalar invariance was tested by constraining item thresholds to be equivalent across groups. Item thresholds are specifically relevant for binary indicators (e.g., 0=No, 1=Yes), referring to the level of the latent trait (e.g., enacted stigma) that is associated with transitioning from being negative on the indicator to being positive on the indicator (Brown, 2015). The factor mean(s) were fixed to 1 in the non-MSM males group and were free in the MSM group; and 4) residual invariance was tested. For internalized and anticipated HIV-related stigma scale, residual invariance was examined by constraining item residual variances to be equal between groups. For HIV-related enacted stigma scale, residual invariance was examined the residual variances to 1 in both groups.

In case full measurement invariance could not be established, partial invariance was further examined (Byrne et al., 1989). By means of modification indices, a modified model for checking partial invariance by releasing the equality constraints for misspecified items was subsequently examined. To establish partial measurement invariance, at least the loadings/intercepts/thresholds/residuals of half of the scale items should be equal across groups (Byrne et al., 1989).

For internalized and anticipated HIV-related stigma scales, of which item responses were continuous, estimations were done with the M*plus* MLR estimator, which corrects the estimated standard errors for deviations from multivariate normality. For enacted HIV-related stigma scale, of which item responses were dichotomous, estimations were done with the M*plus* weighted least squares mean and variance adjusted (WLSMV) estimator (Hansson & Gustafsson, 2013). Following Hu and Bentler (1999) recommendations, root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), comparative fit index (CFI), and Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI) were also used to evaluate model fit, in addition to the Chi-square statistic, which can be inflated by large sample sizes and moderate discrepancies from normality. RMSEA of .08 or less, SRMR of .08 or less, CFI and TLI of .95 or greater indicate adequate fit (Browne & Cudeck, 1992; Hu & Bentler, 1999; Weiber & Mühlhaus, 2014).

Decision of whether a model was accepted or rejected was based on Chi-square difference tests (Hu & Bentler, 1999). Across steps, Chi-square difference statistic test was used to determine if the additional constraints significantly degraded fit (Bryant et al., 1997). For internalized and anticipated HIV-related stigma scales, with MLR estimator, the ordinary Chi-square difference test does not yield a χ^2 distributed test, which requires the application of Satorra-Bentler scaled Chi-square difference test to obtain the correct results (Satorra & Bentler, 2010). The test statistic, T, was calculated with the following equation, where c0 refers to the scaling correction factor for the null model; c1 refers to the scaling correction factor for the alternative model; d0 refers to the degrees of freedom for the null model; d1 refers to the degrees of freedom for the null model; SB1 refers to the Satorra-Bentler scaled Chi-square value for the null model; SB1 refers to the Satorra-Bentler scaled Chi-square value for the null model; SB1 refers to the Satorra-Bentler scaled Chi-square value for the alternative model. T is χ^2 distributed with degrees of freedom (d0 - d1) (Satorra & Bentler, 2010).

$$T = \frac{(\text{SB0} \times \text{c0} - \text{SB1} \times \text{c1}) \times (\text{d0} - \text{d1})}{\text{d0} \times \text{c0} - \text{d1} \times \text{c1}}$$

For HIV-related enacted stigma scales, with WLSMV estimator, Chi-square difference tests were carried out using the M*plus* DIFFTEST option (Muthén & Muthen, 2017).

Scalar invariance is considered necessary and sufficient evidence for measurement invariance (Muthén & Muthen, 2017).

4.4 Results

Descriptive statistics

The sociodemographic characteristics of non-MSM males and MSM are summarized in Table 4.1. More than half of the 1,174 MLWH were MSM (n=595, 50.7%), 35-44 years old (n=454, 38.7%), Han ethnicity (n=766, 65.2%), single (n=636, 54.2%), with a degree of middle school or below (n=479, 40.8%), having a fulltime job (n=786, 67.0%) with monthly household income between 2,000 and 3,999 CNY (n=583, 49.7%), having a CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ (n=622, 53.0%) and viral load less than 50 copies/ml (n=1,022, 87.1%).

Table 4.2 shows the internal consistencies, means, standard deviations, skewness, and kurtosis of the sum scores for each stigma scale in each group. Based on the criteria of Hair et al. (2010) (normality: skewness≤2; kurtosis≤7), internalized stigma and anticipated stigma were normally distributed, while enacted stigma was not normally distributed. The internal consistency was great for internalized stigma and anticipated stigma (alpha>.8) and good for enacted stigma scale (alpha>.7). Item 7 of the enacted stigma scale "stress from spouse/partner" showed small correlations (<.2) with most of the other items of the scale in both non-MSM males and MSM.

Measurement invariance of internalized HIV-related stigma scale by MSM status

The results of multi-group tests of measurement invariance of internalized HIVrelated stigma scale are presented in Table 4.3. Model fit indices of the baseline model of the scale were in line with configural measurement invariance (χ^2 =66.00, *df*=31; CFI=.989; TLI=.980; RMSEA=.044, 95% CI [.029, .059]; SRMR=.017).

In the model imposing metric measurement invariance, item loadings were constrained to be equal by MSM status. Model fit indices revealed satisfied fit (χ^2 =79.18, *df*=38; CFI=.987; TLI=.980; RMSEA=.043, 95% CI [.030, .056]; SRMR=.025). A comparison of the metric model with the configural model using a Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test showed that the more restrictive model with equal factor loadings was not significantly worse than the configural model (T=10.57, Δdf =7, *p*=.16), suggesting that the fit of metric invariance was satisfied.

To examine scalar invariance, intercepts of indicators were also constrained to be equal between the two groups. The fit of scalar measurement invariance was good (χ^2 =104.84, *df*=45; CFI=.981; TLI=.976; RMSEA=.048, 95% CI [.036, .060]; SRMR=.028). A comparison of the scalar model with the metric model using a Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test showed that the scalar model was significantly worse than the metric model (T=36.75, Δdf =7, *p*<.001), suggesting that the fit of scalar invariance was not satisfied. Partial scalar measurement invariance was established by allowing the intercepts of item 2, 3, and 6 to vary between groups (χ^2 =89.32, *df*=43; CFI=.986; TLI=.981; RMSEA=.043, 95% CI [.030, .056]; SRMR=.033). Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test showed that the partial scalar model was not significantly worse than the metric model (T=8.84, Δdf =4, *p*=.07), supporting partial scalar invariance between MSM and non-MSM males.

In addition to item slopes and intercepts, equivalence of the item residuals was constrained between the two groups to examine residual invariance. Because the criteria were only met for partial scalar measurement invariance by allowing the intercepts of items 2, 3, and 6 to vary between groups, partial residual invariance was tested with residual item variances constrained to be equal between groups, except for the residual variance of item 2, 3, and 6. The fit of partial residual measurement invariance was good (χ^2 =92.29, *df*=47; CFI=.986; TLI=.983; RMSEA=.041, 95% CI [.028, .053];

SRMR=.040). Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test showed that the partial residual model was not significantly worse than the partial scalar model (T=5.79, Δdf =5, *p*=.33), supporting partial residual invariance between MSM and non-MSM males. *Measurement invariance of anticipated HIV-related stigma scale by MSM status*

The results of multi-group tests of measurement invariance of anticipated HIVrelated stigma scale are presented in Table 4.4. Model fit indices of the baseline model of the scale were in line with configural measurement invariance (χ^2 =74.69, *df*=46; CFI=.994; TLI=.990; RMSEA=.033, 95% CI [.018, .046]; SRMR=.019).

In the model imposing metric measurement invariance, item loadings were constrained to be equal between the two groups. Model fit indices revealed satisfied fit $(\chi^2=82.00, df=52; CFI=.993; TLI=.991; RMSEA=.031, 95\% CI [.017, .043];$ SRMR=.021). A comparison of the metric model with the configural model using a Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test showed that the more restrictive model with equal factor loadings was not significantly worse than the configural model (T=5.17, $\Delta df=6, p=.52$), suggesting that the fit of metric invariance was satisfied.

To examine scalar invariance, intercepts of indicators were also constrained to be equal between the two groups. The fit of scalar measurement invariance was good (χ^2 =90.27, *df*=58; CFI=.993; TLI=.991; RMSEA=.031, 95% CI [.017, .043];
SRMR=.021). A comparison of the scalar model with the metric model using a Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test showed that the scalar model was not significantly worse than the metric model (T=7.41, Δdf =6, p=.28), suggesting that the fit of scalar invariance was satisfied.

In addition to item slopes and intercepts, equivalence of the item residuals was constrained between the two groups to examine residual invariance. The fit of residual measurement invariance was good (χ^2 =113.20, *df*=67; CFI=.990; TLI=.989; RMSEA=.034, 95% CI [.023, .045]; SRMR=.022). Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test showed that the partial residual model was significantly worse than the partial scalar model (T=17.85, Δdf =9, *p*=.04), suggesting that the fit of residual invariance was not satisfied. Therefore, residual of item 2 was allowed to vary between the two groups to establish partial residual invariance (χ^2 =93.57, *df*=66; CFI=.994; TLI=.993; RMSEA=.027, 95% CI [.012, .038]; SRMR=.022). Satorra-Bentler scaled chisquare difference test showed that the partial residual model was not significantly worse than the scalar model (T=8.44, Δdf =8, *p*=.39), supporting partial residual invariance between MSM and non-MSM males.

Measurement invariance of enacted HIV-related stigma scale by MSM status

The results of multi-group tests of measurement invariance of enacted HIVrelated stigma scale are presented in Table 4.5. Model fit indices of the baseline model of the scale were in line with configural measurement invariance (χ^2 =312.24, *df*=196; CFI=.984; TLI=.980; RMSEA=.032, 95% CI [.025, .038]; SRMR=.087).

In the model imposing metric measurement invariance, item loadings were constrained to be equal between the two groups. Model fit indices revealed satisfied fit $(\chi^2=301.23, df=208; CFI=.987; TLI=.985; RMSEA=.028, 95\% CI [.020, .034];$

SRMR=.088). A comparison of the metric model with the configural model using the chisquare value for WLSMV difference test showed that the more restrictive model with equal factor loadings was not significantly worse than the configural model (p=.73), suggesting that the fit of metric invariance was satisfied.

To examine scalar invariance, item thresholds were also constrained to be equal between the two groups. The fit of scalar measurement invariance was good (χ^2 =319.74, *df*=220; CFI=.986; TLI=.985; RMSEA=.028, 95% CI [.021, .034]; SRMR=.088). A comparison of the metric model with the configural model using the chi-square value for WLSMV difference test showed that the scalar model was significantly worse than the metric model (*p*=.02), suggesting that the fit of scalar invariance was not satisfied. Partial scalar measurement invariance was established by allowing the threshold of item 7 to vary between groups (χ^2 =314.74, *df*=219; CFI=.987; TLI=.986; RMSEA=.027, 95% CI [.020, .034]; SRMR=.088). Chi-square value for WLSMV difference test showed that the partial scalar model was not significantly worse than the metric model (*p*=.16), supporting partial scalar invariance between MSM and non-MSM males.

Residual invariance was tested by constraining residual variance to 1 in both groups. Because the criteria were only met for partial scalar measurement invariance by allowing the threshold of item 7 to vary between groups, partial residual invariance was tested with residual variances constrained to be 1 in both groups, except for the residual variance of item 7. The fit of partial residual measurement invariance was good (χ^2 =316.41, *df*=204; CFI=.985; TLI=.982; RMSEA=.031, 95% CI [.024, .037]; SRMR=.087). Chi-square value for WLSMV difference test showed that the partial

residual model was not significantly worse than the partial scalar model (p=.55), supporting partial residual invariance between MSM and non-MSM males.

4.5 Discussion

This study used multi-group CFA to examine the configural, metric, scalar, and residual measurement invariance of the internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between 595 MSM and 579 non-MSM males living with HIV. Measurement invariance is a prerequisite for using these scales to assess internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma in between-group comparisons. The anticipated HIV-related stigma scale had the same factor loadings and intercepts, and similar item residual variances in the two groups and achieved partial residual invariance. The internalized and enacted HIV-related stigma scales had the same factor loadings and similar intercepts in the two groups and achieved partial residual invariance invariance is considered the minimum requirement for meaningfully comparing latent factor means across groups (Muthén & Muthen, 2017). This study suggested that the measurement invariance of all three HIV-related stigma scales was satisfied.

The multi-group tests of measurement invariance of the internalized HIV-related stigma scale suggested that both configural and metric invariances were fully satisfied between MSM and non-MSM males, indicating that the scale intervals are the same across groups, allowing for comparing unstandardized regression coefficients and/or covariances across groups (Pirralha, 2020). The scalar invariance was only partially satisfied by freeing the constraint of intercepts of item 2 ("I feel ashamed of having HIV"), item 3 ("Having HIV makes me feel unclean"), and item 6 ("I feel guilty because I have HIV") across groups. These results indicated that the zero points of these items

were different between MSM and non-MSM males. That is, MSM were more likely to feel "ashamed," "unclean," and "guilty," but the increased levels of these feelings were not related to increased levels of internalized HIV-related stigma among MSM. In line with a qualitative study describing stigma related to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) uptake among HIV-negative MSM, participants reported that they felt a loss of respect, guilt and shame about using PrEP due to their SGM identities, while their straight friends were not ashamed to talk about HIV (Dubov et al., 2018). MSM often face social disapproval of sexual deviance from the "normal" sexual identity, producing the feeling of shame (Fortenberry et al., 2002; Herek, 2004). Even though such a feeling of shame does not result from HIV, it could predict risky sexual behavior (e.g., unprotected sex), which elevates the risk of acquiring HIV (Newcomb & Mustanski, 2011).

The measurement invariance analysis of the anticipated HIV-related stigma scale between MSM and non-MSM males showed that the first three levels of measurement invariance, including configural, metric, and scalar invariances were satisfied. Residual invariance was partially satisfied by freeing the constraint of residual variance of item 2 ("Family members will look down on me") across groups. This result indicated that the item variance that could not be explained by the factor was different between MSM and non-MSM males. For MSM, besides HIV-related stigma, the fear of negative responses from family members might also be explained by their SGM identities. A qualitative study about HIV disclosure reported that only 57.1% of MSM (vs. 72.2% of straight MLWH) disclosed their HIV seropositive status to family members (Ko et al., 2007). Compared to non-MSM males, MSM had more concern about explaining to their family how they got this disease (Ko et al., 2007). Another qualitative study among MSM about

disclosing their sexual identities to family members reported that responses from family members could be supportive, denial, confused, or unsupportive (Gyamerah et al., 2019). Whether or not the family was supportive, silence around the MSM's sexual identity was prevalent within families (Gyamerah et al., 2019).

Similar to internalized HIV-related stigma, the multi-group tests of measurement invariance of the enacted HIV-related stigma scale suggested that both configural and metric invariances were satisfied between MSM and non-MSM males. The scalar invariance was partially satisfied by freeing the constraint of intercept of item 7 ("stress from spouse/partner") between two groups. This result indicated that the threshold of item 7 was different between MSM and non-MSM males. That is, MSM were more likely to experience "stress from spouse/partner," but this was not related to increased levels of enacted HIV-related stigma among MSM. For MSM, internalized homophobia and homophobic discrimination were both established to have significant associations with sexual partner violence (Finneran & Stephenson, 2014). Although Chinese society has become relatively more tolerant toward MSM since homosexuality was removed from the Chinese Classification and Diagnostic Criteria of Mental Disorders in 2001 (Wu, 2003), same-sex marriage is still illegal, and discrimination based on sexual and/or gender identity is not prohibited by laws (Cao & Guo, 2016; Zhang & Chu, 2005). MSM are still expected to fulfill their family duty of traditional marriage (i.e., heterosexual and cisgender) and are expected to produce children (Wu, 2003). Such stress from the society, spouse or partner, and the disclosure issue could further lead to psychological distress and stress-sensitive illness (Sun et al., 2020).

From methodological perspectives, study results indicated that the three HIVrelated stigma scales were all acceptable for use in between-group comparisons. Previous studies have validated the internal consistency and factor structure of the internalized HIV-related stigma scale among MSM living with HIV (Valle et al., 2015) and its short version in adolescents living with HIV (Wanjala et al., 2021). This study further provided evidence for the generalizability of this scale by directly comparing the measurement structure between MSM and non-MSM males. Although the current study reported satisfied measurement invariance for the anticipated HIV-related stigma scale between MSM and non-MSM males, the reliability and validity of this scale were controversial (Brown et al., 2021; Reinius et al., 2018). Reinius et al. (2018) suggested that the scale should be revised when a very high proportion of PLWH were under efficient treatment. Future studies are needed to confirm these findings and provide evidence for the valid use of the anticipated HIV-related stigma scale. Similarly, although the enacted HIV-related stigma index has been used in 61 countries worldwide (Global Network of People Living with HIV, 2022) and has been used among MSM and female sex workers (Gottert et al., 2019; Gottert et al., 2020; Lo Hog Tian et al., 2021; Yam et al., 2020), limited studies provided evidence on its reliability, validity, and measurement invariance across groups of this scale. This study made new contributions to the measurement invariance of the enacted HIV-related stigma scale, supporting its use in comparative studies between MSM and non-MSM males.

This study is one of the very few studies comprehensively examining the measurement invariance of internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma between MSM and non-MSM males. All four levels of measurement invariance (i.e.,

configural, metric, scalar, residual) were tested compared to a previous study that only tested the first three levels of measurement invariance (Miller & Sheu, 2008). Several limitations should be noted. First, as the sample was limited to MSM and non-MSM males in China, findings may not be generalizable to MLWH in other areas. Second, differences in sociodemographic characteristics between MSM and non-MSM males existed. MSM were more likely to be younger, single, have a college degree or above, and fulltime employed with higher household income. Therefore, the result should be interpreted with caution. Future studies may consider propensity score matching when comparing samples possessing different characteristics. Third, as self-reported questionnaires were used in this study, the recall bias and social desirability could not be ignored.

4.6 Conclusion

Overall, this study presented acceptable measurement invariance for internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males. The invariance across groups should be interpreted with caution since the constraints of some items varied across groups. This study provided evidence and support for future studies using these scales to assess HIV-related stigma between MSM and non-MSM males.

4.7 References

Berger, B. E., Ferrans, C. E., & Lashley, F. R. (2001). Measuring stigma in people with HIV: psychometric assessment of the HIV stigma scale. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 24(6), 518-529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.10011</u>

- Bogart, L. M., Wagner, G. J., Galvan, F. H., & Klein, D. J. (2010). Longitudinal
 Relationships Between Antiretroviral Treatment Adherence and Discrimination
 Due to HIV-Serostatus, Race, and Sexual Orientation Among African–American
 Men with HIV. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 40(2), 184-190.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-010-9200-x
- Brown, C. A., Sullivan, P. S., Stephenson, R., Baral, S. D., Bekker, L.-G., Phaswana-Mafuya, N. R., Simbayi, L. C., Sanchez, T., Valencia, R. K., & Zahn, R. J. (2021). Developing and validating the Multidimensional Sexual Identity Stigma Scale among men who have sex with men in South Africa. *Stigma and Health*.
- Brown, T. A. (2015). *Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research*. Guilford publications.
- Browne, M. W., & Cudeck, R. (1992). Alternative ways of assessing model fit. Sociological methods & research, 21(2), 230-258.
- Bryant, K. J., Windle, M. E., & West, S. G. (1997). The science of prevention:
 Methodological advances from alcohol and substance abuse research. American
 Psychological Association.
- Byrne, B. M., Shavelson, R. J., & Muthén, B. (1989). Testing for the equivalence of factor covariance and mean structures: the issue of partial measurement invariance. *Psychological bulletin*, 105(3), 456.
- Cao, J., & Guo, L. (2016). Chinese "Tongzhi" community, civil society, and online activism. *Communication and the Public*, 1(4), 504-508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2057047316683199</u>

- Capron, D. W., Gonzalez, A., Parent, J., Zvolensky, M. J., & Schmidt, N. B. (2012). Suicidality and anxiety sensitivity in adults with HIV. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 26(5), 298-303.
- Carrico, A. W. (2010). Elevated suicide rate among HIV-positive persons despite benefits of antiretroviral therapy: implications for a stress and coping model of suicide. In (Vol. 167, pp. 117-119): Am Psychiatric Assoc.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). *HIV stigma and discrimination*. Retrieved June 15 from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/hiv-stigma/index.html</u>
- Cole, S. W., Kemeny, M. E., & Taylor, S. E. (1997). Social identity and physical health: accelerated HIV progression in rejection-sensitive gay men. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 72(2), 320.
- Cortina, J. M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(1), 98.

Courtenay–Quirk, C., Wolitski, R. J., Parsons, J. T., & Gómez, C. A. (2006). Is
HIV/AIDS Stigma Dividing the Gay Community? Perceptions of HIV–positive
Men Who Have Sex With Men. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, *18*(1), 56-67.
https://doi.org/10.1521/aeap.2006.18.1.56

dos Santos, M. M. L., Kruger, P., Mellors, S. E., Wolvaardt, G., & van der Ryst, E.
(2014). An exploratory survey measuring stigma and discrimination experienced
by people living with HIV/AIDS in South Africa: the People Living with HIV
Stigma Index. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-80</u>

- Dowshen, N., Binns, H. J., & Garofalo, R. (2009). Experiences of HIV-Related Stigma Among Young Men Who Have Sex with Men. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 23(5), 371-376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2008.0256</u>
- Dubov, A., Galbo, P., Altice, F. L., & Fraenkel, L. (2018). Stigma and Shame
 Experiences by MSM Who Take PrEP for HIV Prevention: A Qualitative Study. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 12(6), 1843-1854.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318797437
- Earnshaw, V. A., & Chaudoir, S. R. (2009). From Conceptualizing to Measuring HIV Stigma: A Review of HIV Stigma Mechanism Measures. *AIDS and Behavior*, *13*(6), 1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-009-9593-3</u>
- Earnshaw, V. A., Smith, L. R., Chaudoir, S. R., Amico, K. R., & Copenhaver, M. M.
 (2013). HIV Stigma Mechanisms and Well-Being Among PLWH: A Test of the HIV Stigma Framework. *AIDS and Behavior*, *17*(5), 1785-1795. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-013-0437-9
- Finneran, C., & Stephenson, R. (2014). Intimate Partner Violence, Minority Stress, and Sexual Risk-Taking Among U.S. Men Who Have Sex With Men. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 61(2), 288-306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2013.839911</u>
- Fortenberry, J. D., McFarlane, M., Bleakley, A., Bull, S., Fishbein, M., Grimley, D. M., Malotte, C. K., & Stoner, B. P. (2002). Relationships of stigma and shame to gonorrhea and HIV screening. *American Journal of Public Health*, 92(3), 378-381. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.92.3.378</u>
- Global Network of People Living with HIV. (2022). *Country Reports of Stigma Index*. Retrieved May 20 from <u>https://www.stigmaindex.org/country-reports/</u>

- Goffman, E. (2009). *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity*. Simon and schuster.
- Gonzalez, A., Solomon, S. E., Zvolensky, M. J., & Miller, C. T. (2009). The Interaction of Mindful-based Attention and Awareness and Disengagement Coping with HIV/AIDS-related Stigma in regard to Concurrent Anxiety and Depressive Symptoms among Adults with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *14*(3), 403-413. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105309102193
- Gottert, A., Friedland, B., Geibel, S., Nyblade, L., Baral, S. D., Kentutsi, S., Mallouris, C., Sprague, L., Hows, J., Anam, F., Amanyeiwe, U., & Pulerwitz, J. (2019). The People Living with HIV (PLHIV) Resilience Scale: Development and Validation in Three Countries in the Context of the PLHIV Stigma Index. *AIDS and Behavior*, 23(Suppl 2), 172-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-02594-6</u>
- Gottert, A., McClair, T. L., Pulerwitz, J., & Friedland, B. A. (2020). What shapes resilience among people living with HIV? A multi-country analysis of data from the PLHIV Stigma Index 2.0. *AIDS*, 34 Suppl 1, S19-s31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.0000000002587</u>

Gyamerah, A. O., Collier, K. L., Reddy, V., & Sandfort, T. G. M. (2019). Sexuality Disclosure Among Black South African MSM and Responses by Family. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 56(9), 1203-1218.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2018.1559917

Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Babin, B. J., & Black, W. C. (2010). Multivariate data analysis: A global perspective (Vol. 7). In: Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.

- Hansson, Å., & Gustafsson, J.-E. (2013). Measurement Invariance of Socioeconomic Status Across Migrational Background. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 57(2), 148-166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2011.625570</u>
- Herek, G. M. (2004). Beyond "Homophobia": Thinking about sexual prejudice and stigma in the twenty-first century. *Sexuality Research & Social Policy*, 1(2), 6-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/srsp.2004.1.2.6</u>
- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff Criteria for Fit Indexes in Covariance Structure Analysis: Conventional Criteria Versus New Alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling-a Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(1), 1-55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118
- Kang, E., Rapkin, B. D., Remien, R. H., Mellins, C. A., & Oh, A. (2005). Multiple
 Dimensions of HIV Stigma and Psychological Distress Among Asians and Pacific
 Islanders Living With HIV Illness. *AIDS and Behavior*, 9(2), 145-154.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-005-3896-9</u>
- Ko, N. Y., Lee, H. C., Hsu, S. T., Wang, W. L., Huang, M. C., & Ko, W. C. (2007).
 Differences in HIV disclosure by modes of transmission in Taiwanese families.
 AIDS Care, *19*(6), 791-798. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120601095718</u>
- Lee, R. S., Kochman, A., & Sikkema, K. J. (2002). Internalized Stigma Among People Living with HIV-AIDS. AIDS and Behavior, 6(4), 309-319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021144511957</u>
- Lo Hog Tian, J. M., Watson, J. R., Ibáñez-Carrasco, F., Tran, B., Parsons, J. A., Maunder, R. G., Card, K. G., Baral, S., Hui, C., Boni, A. R., Ajiboye, M., Lindsay, J. D., & Rourke, S. B. (2021). Impact of experienced HIV stigma on

health is mediated by internalized stigma and depression: results from the people living with HIV stigma index in Ontario. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 1595. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11596-w

- Lyons, C. E., Olawore, O., Turpin, G., Coly, K., Ketende, S., Liestman, B., Ba, I., Drame, F. M., Ndour, C., Turpin, N., Ndiaye, S. M., Mboup, S., Toure-Kane, C., Leye-Diouf, N., Castor, D., Diouf, D., & Baral, S. D. (2020). Intersectional stigmas and HIV-related outcomes among a cohort of key populations enrolled in stigma mitigation interventions in Senegal. *AIDS*, *34 Suppl 1*(Suppl 1), S63-s71. https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.00000000002641
- Miller, M. J., & Sheu, H. (2008). Conceptual and measurement issues in multicultural psychology research. *Handbook of counseling psychology*, *4*, 103-120.
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthen, B. (2017). *Mplus user's guide: Statistical analysis with latent variables, user's guide*. Muthén & Muthén.

Newcomb, M. E., & Mustanski, B. (2011). Moderators of the Relationship Between Internalized Homophobia and Risky Sexual Behavior in Men Who Have Sex with Men: A Meta-Analysis. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 40(1), 189-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-009-9573-8</u>

PhamDo, V., Nyamathi, A. M., Ekstrand, M. L., Sinha, S., Yadav, K., & Shin, S. S.
(2022). Association Between Maternal HIV Stigma Among South Indian Mothers
Living with HIV and the CD4 Count of Children Living with HIV. *AIDS and Behavior*, 26(6), 1871-1879. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-021-03537-w</u>

Pirralha, A. (2020). Testing for Measurement Invariance with Many Groups. Retrieved May 10 from <u>https://bookdown.org/content/5737/</u>

- Reinius, M., Wiklander, M., Wettergren, L., Svedhem, V., & Eriksson, L. E. (2018). The Relationship Between Stigma and Health-Related Quality of Life in People Living with HIV Who Have Full Access to Antiretroviral Treatment: An Assessment of Earnshaw and Chaudoir's HIV Stigma Framework Using Empirical Data. *AIDS and Behavior*, 22(12), 3795-3806. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2041-5
- Satorra, A., & Bentler, P. M. (2010). Ensuring Positiveness of the Scaled Difference Chisquare Test Statistic. *Psychometrika*, 75(2), 243-248. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11336-009-9135-y
- Siegel, K., Lekas, H.-M., & Schrimshaw, E. W. (2005). Serostatus Disclosure to Sexual Partners by HIV-Infected Women Before and After the Advent of HAART. *Women & Health*, 41(4), 63-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J013v41n04_04</u>
- Sun, S., Pachankis, J. E., Li, X., & Operario, D. (2020). Addressing Minority Stress and Mental Health among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in China. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, 17(1), 35-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-019-00479-w</u>
- Sweeney, S. M., & Vanable, P. A. (2016). The Association of HIV-Related Stigma to HIV Medication Adherence: A Systematic Review and Synthesis of the Literature. *AIDS and Behavior*, 20(1), 29-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-015-1164-1</u>
- Valle, A., Treviño, A. C., Zambrano, F. F., Urriola, K. E., Sánchez, L. A., & Elizondo, J. E. (2015). Perceived HIV-Associated Stigma among HIV-Seropositive Men:
 Psychometric Study of HIV Stigma Scale [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2015.00171</u>

- Vandenberg, R. J., & Lance, C. E. (2000). A Review and Synthesis of the Measurement Invariance Literature: Suggestions, Practices, and Recommendations for Organizational Research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 3(1), 4-70. https://doi.org/10.1177/109442810031002
- Wanjala, S. W., Ssewanyana, D., Mwangala, P. N., Nasambu, C., Chongwo, E., Luchters, S., Newton, C., & Abubakar, A. (2021). Validity, reliability, and measurement invariance of an adapted short version of the HIV stigma scale among perinatally HIV infected adolescents at the Kenyan coast. *Glob Health Res Policy*, *6*(1), 49. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41256-021-00229-9
- Weiber, R., & Mühlhaus, D. S. (2014). Eine anwendungsorientierte Einführung in die Kausalanalyse mit Hilfe von AMOS, SmartPLS und SPSS. Structural equation modeling. An application-oriented introduction to causal analysis using AMOS, SmartPLS and SPSS]. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer Gabler.
- Wu, J. (2003). From "Long Yang" and "Dui Shi" to Tongzhi: Homosexuality in China. Journal of Gay & Lesbian Psychotherapy, 7(1-2), 117-143.

https://doi.org/10.1300/J236v07n01_08

Yam, E. A., Pulerwitz, J., Almonte, D., García, F., Del Valle, A., Colom, A., McClair, T. L., & Dolores, Y. (2020). Stigma among key populations living with HIV in the Dominican Republic: experiences of people of Haitian descent, MSM, and female sex workers. *AIDS*, *34 Suppl 1*, S43-s51.

https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.00000000002642

Yan, H., Li, X., Li, J., Wang, W., Yang, Y., Yao, X., Yang, N., & Li, S. (2019). Association between perceived HIV stigma, social support, resilience, selfesteem, and depressive symptoms among HIV-positive men who have sex with men (MSM) in Nanjing, China. *AIDS Care*, *31*(9), 1069-1076. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2019.1601677

Zhang, B. C., & Chu, Q. S. (2005). MSM and HIV/AIDS in China. Cell Research,

15(11), 858-864. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7290359

Variables	Overall (N=1,177)	Non-MSM males (n=579)	MSM (n=595)	<i>p</i> -value	
Age group		,		<.001	
18-24	164 (14.0%)	13 (2.2%)	151 (25.4%)		
25-34	454 (38.7%)	139 (24.0%)	315 (52.9%)		
35-44	320 (27.3%)	228 (39.4%)	92 (15.5%)		
45+	235 (20.0%)	198 (34.2%)	37 (6.2%)		
Ethnicity				.99	
Han	766 (65.2%)	378 (65.3%)	388 (65.2%)		
Minority	408 (34.8%)	201 (34.7%)	207 (34.8%)		
Marital status				<.001	
Single	636 (54.2%)	134 (23.1%)	502 (84.4%)		
Married/life partner	404 (34.4%)	356 (61.5%)	48 (8.1%)		
Divorced/separated/widowed	134 (11.4%)	89 (15.4%)	45 (7.6%)		
Education				<.001	
Middle school and below	479 (40.8%)	393 (67.9%)	86 (14.5%)		
High school	259 (22.1%)	111 (19.2%)	148 (24.9%)		
College and above	435 (37.1%)	74 (12.8%)	361 (60.7%)		
Employment				<.001	
Fulltime	786 (67.0%)	374 (64.6%)	412 (69.2%)		
Parttime	191 (16.3%)	117 (20.2%)	74 (12.4%)		
Unemployed/retired	189 (16.1%)	81 (14.0%)	108 (18.2%)		
Monthly household income				<.001	
(CNY)					
<2,000	297 (25.3%)	191 (33.0%)	106 (17.8%)		
2,000-4,000	583 (49.7%)	298 (51.5%)	285 (47.9%)		
4,000 or above	294 (25.0%)	90 (15.5%)	204 (34.3%)		
CD4 count				<.001	
<500 cells/mm ³	622 (53.0%)	369 (63.7%)	253 (42.5%)		
\geq 500 cells/mm ³	552 (47.0%)	210 (36.3%)	342 (57.5%)		
Viral load				.02	
<50 copies/ml	1022 (87.1%)	522 (90.2%)	500 (84.0%)		
\geq 50 copies/ml	140 (11.9%)	56 (9.7%)	84 (14.1%)		

Table 4.1 Sociodemographic characteristics by MSM status

Note: Bivariate analyses between MSM status and sociodemographic characteristics were tested using Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test as appropriate.

Scale	Non-MSM males					MSM				
	Μ	SD	Skew	Kurt	α	Μ	SD	Skew	Kurt	α
Internalized	16.14	5.49	.36	.20	.94	17.32	6.01	.10	50	.96
Anticipated	23.13	7.80	.11	28	.93	23.41	7.92	.12	15	.93
Enacted	.95	2.15	3.64	28	.86	.69	1.83	4.33	23.96	.86

Table 4.2 Internal consistencies, means, standard deviations, skewness and kurtosis of the sum scores for each HIV-related stigma scale by MSM status

Model	RMSEA (95% CI)	SRMR	CFI	TLI	χ^2	df	Т	Δdf	<i>p</i> -value ^a	Decision
Configural	.044 (.029, .059)	.017	.989	.980	66.00	31				
Metric	.043 (.030, .056)	.025	.987	.980	79.18	38	10.57	7	.16	Accept
Scalar	.048 (.036, .060)	.028	.981	.976	104.84	45	36.75	7	<.001	Reject
Partial scalar (free items 2,	.043 (.030, .056)	.033	.986	.981	89.32	43	8.84	4	.07	Accept
3, & 6) ^b										
Partial residual (free items	.041 (.028, .053)	.040	.986	.983	92.29	47	5.79	5	.33	Accept
2, 3, & 6) ^b										_

Table 4.3 Summary of fit indices from invariance analyses by MSM status for HIV-related internalized stigma scale

Note: ^a*p*-value indicates the significance of Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test. ^bDetailed statement of the items can be found in Appendix A.

Model	RMSEA	SRMR	CFI	TLI	χ^2	df	Т	Δdf	<i>p</i> -value ^a	Decision
Configural	.033 (.018, .046)	.019	.994	.990	74.69	46				
Metric	.031 (.017, .044)	.021	.993	.991	82.00	52	5.17	6	.52	Accept
Scalar	.031 (.017, .043)	.021	.993	.991	90.27	58	7.41	6	.28	Accept
Residual	.034 (.023, .045)	.022	.990	.989	113.20	67	17.85	9	.04	Reject
Partial residual (free I2)	.027 (.012, .038)	.022	.994	.993	93.57	66	8.44	8	.39	Accept

Table 4.4 Summary of fit indices from invariance analyses by MSM status for HIV-related anticipated stigma scale

Note: ^a*p*-value indicates the significance of Satorra-Bentler scaled chi-square difference test

Model	RMSEA	SRMR	CFI	TLI	χ^2	df	<i>p</i> -value ^a	Decision
Configural	.032 (.025, .038)	.087	.984	.980	312.24	196		
Metric	.028 (.020, .034)	.088	.987	.985	301.23	208	.73	Accept
Scalar	.028 (.021, .034)	.088	.986	.985	319.74	220	.02	Reject
Partial scalar (free I7)	.027 (.020, .034)	.088	.987	.986	314.74	219	.16	Accept
Partial residual (free I7)	.031 (.024, .037)	.087	.985	.982	316.41	204	.55	Accept

Table 4.5 Summary of fit indices from invariance analyses by MSM status for HIV-related enacted stigma scale

Note: ^a*p*-value indicates the significance of chi-square value for ULSMV difference testing, which was done using the DIFFTEST option in *Mplus* 8.

CHAPTER 5

HEALTH DISPARITIES IN 3-YEAR CONTINUAL TRAJECTORIES OF PHYSICAL, PSYCHOLOGICAL, AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH OUTCOMES BETWEEN MSM AND NON-MSM MALES

5.1 Abstract

Background: Men who have sex with men (MSM) living with HIV are at higher risk of experiencing negative physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes related to the HIV care continuum compared to non-MSM males. However, findings of most existing studies about health outcomes among MSM living with HIV are limited by use of cross-sectional data, failing to capture the temporal trends over time. This study quantified the physical, psychological, and behavioral health disparities at baseline and over time between MSM and non-MSM males living with HIV.

Methods: This prospective cohort study was designed to investigate the association between HIV-related stigma and clinical outcomes among people living with HIV in Guangxi, China. Eligible participants were individuals aged between 18 and 60 years old and had a confirmed diagnosis of HIV, including 772 men living with HIV (193 MSM and 579 non-MSM males) in the current analyses. Assessments were conducted at baseline and 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30-, and 36-month follow-ups. Latent growth curve modeling in a two-group approach was employed to estimate the inter-individual variability in intra-individual change patterns of CD4 count, viral load, depressive

symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence, through two latent factors—the intercept and the slope, controlling for baseline sociodemographic characteristics.

Results: At baseline assessment, compared to non-MSM males, MSM had lower odds of having CD4 count <500 cells/mm³ (MSM: OR=.34, 95% CI [.15, .78], p=.01; non-MSM males: OR=10.88, 95% CI [5.27, 22.44], p<.001; Wald test p<.001) and suboptimal ART adherence (MSM: OR=.39, 95% CI [.17, .90], p=.03; non-MSM males: OR=16.23, 95% CI [8.42, 31.28], p<.001; Wald test p<.001) but had higher odds of having viral load \geq 50 copies/ml (MSM: OR=.12, 95% CI [.04, .33], p<.001; non-MSM males: OR=2.3E-05, 95% CI [9.41E-08, .01], p<.001; Wald test p<.001). During follow-ups, the trajectories of viral load were significantly different between MSM and non-MSM males in a quadratic pattern. Yet, these differences in health outcomes at baseline or over time were no longer significant after controlling for baseline sociodemographic characteristics.

Conclusion: The study reported higher odds of detectable viral load but lower odds of having CD4 count <500 cells/mm³ and suboptimal ART adherence at baseline in MSM, compared to non-MSM males. These differences were very likely due to the different distributions of sociodemographic characteristics between MSM and non-MSM males. Such studies could enrich scientific evidence regarding the unique health vulnerability and needs of MSM living with HIV.

5.2 Introduction

Men who have sex with men (MSM) are disproportionately affected by HIV. Globally, MSM have been shown to be at 25 times higher risk of acquiring HIV compared to heterosexual adult men (UNAIDS, 2021). In Asia and the Pacific areas, MSM accounted for 44% of new HIV infections in 2019 (WHO, 2022). In the past

decades, China has made substantial progress in tackling the HIV epidemic by promoting HIV treatment and care and has significantly reduced HIV transmission through blood donation and injection drug use (Shang & Zhang, 2015). However, HIV infection among MSM is dramatically rising in China (Wu et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2013). The proportion of MSM among the newly diagnosed HIV cases has increased from 2.5% in 2006 to 23.3% in 2018 (Wu, 2015; Zhang, 2019). There were estimated to be over 21 million MSM in 2016 in China, representing the population at the highest risk of HIV (Zhao et al., 2016). Despite of tremendous research efforts in this population, MSM living with HIV experienced poor clinical outcomes.

MSM living with HIV experienced poorer physical, mental, and behavioral health outcomes than non-MSM males (Yan et al., 2014b). Compared to non-MSM males living with HIV, MSM showed a faster progression from HIV infection to AIDS when not treated, a faster decline in CD4 count before initiating ART, a slower immune recovery after ART initiation, a higher rate of viral mutation and antiretroviral drug resistance, and a lower survival rate (Lowther et al., 2014b; Yan et al., 2014b; Yan et al., 2014c).

MSM living with HIV experience additional psychosocial burdens and may experience more mental health problems than non-MSM males (Shufang Sun, 2020). According to the minority stress theory, minority groups are exposed to both external stressors (e.g., discrimination) and internal stressors (e.g., concealment of identity), which in turn places them at risk for tremendous adverse mental health outcomes (Meyer, 2003). A meta-analysis revealed that the pooled prevalence of depression among MSM living with HIV was 43% globally (Xiao et al., 2020) and was estimated to be 17% higher than heterosexual MLWH (Bogart et al., 2011; Comulada et al., 2010;

Hatzenbuehler et al., 2008; Lowther et al., 2014a; Mills et al., 2004). Approximately half of MSM living with HIV across the globe are diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder during their lives (Crepaz et al., 2008). The most common mental health conditions include depressive mood disorder (14% to 48% vs. 6% to 37% in the general population) and anxiety disorder (16% to 40% vs. 6% to 18% in the general population) (Arends et al., 2020; Baumeister & Härter, 2007; Crepaz et al., 2008; Myer et al., 2008; O'Cleirigh et al., 2015). Mental health issues could further contribute to a lower quality of life and suboptimal ART adherence among MSM living with HIV (Berg et al., 2004; Pence et al., 2007).

Regarding HIV treatment cascade, MSM living with HIV have been shown to have less timely linkage to care, poorer retention in care, and poorer treatment adherence due to risk factors at both individual (e.g., concealment of SGM identity and/or HIV status) and structural levels (e.g., stigma and discrimination) (Govindasamy et al., 2012b; Medley et al., 2013a; Sarna et al., 2014a).

Although health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males are wellestablished, most previous studies have used cross-sectional design (Armoon et al., 2021; Gonzalez et al., 2009; Kang et al., 2005; Logie & Gadalla, 2009). Several longitudinal studies with multiple-wave assessments investigated the dynamic patterns of clinical outcomes among PLWH with only relatively short follow-up (Logie & Gadalla, 2009). In addition, only a few studies have explored the health outcomes of MSM living with HIV in resource-limited settings in China (Yang et al., 2020). Guangxi Autonomous Region ("Guangxi"), a southwestern resource-limited province, is one of the HIV epicenters in China. The underdeveloped healthcare infrastructure and conservative social norms in

Guangxi might be associated with a depraved mental well-being of MSM living with HIV (Sha et al., 2021). Using data from a prospective cohort study in Guangxi, China, the current study aimed to quantify health disparities in 3-year continual trajectories of physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes between MSM and non-MSM males living with HIV.

5.3 Methods

Study setting and participants

Data was derived from a prospective cohort study designed to investigate the association between HIV-related stigma and clinical outcomes, and the potential physical, mental and behavioral mechanisms underlying such associations among PLWH in Guangxi, China. In collaboration with Guangxi Center for Disease Control and Prevention (Guangxi CDC), six major public hospitals/clinics with the largest volume of HIV patients under care in five cities (i.e., Nanning, Guilin, Liuzhou, Guigang, and Qinzhou) were selected as study sites. Eligible participants were PLWH who: (1) aged 18 to 60 years, (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of HIV, and (3) had no plan to relocate outside of the Guangxi province in the next 12 months. PLWH were excluded if they were: (1) physically or mentally incapable of responding to survey questions, and (2) currently incarcerated or institutionalized for drug use or commercial sex. A total of 1,198 PLWH were recruited in the cohort study, of which 64.4% (n=772) were men, including 193 MSM and 579 non-MSM males. A subset of 772 MLWH was included in the current study.

Data collection

After eligible PLWH were randomly selected from the system, local CDC staff contacted the patients to confirm their eligibility, discussed with them the benefits and risks of the study, and invited them to participate. After obtaining written informed content, questionnaire-oriented face-to-face interviews were conducted in private rooms of the local hospitals/clinics.

Baseline assessment was conducted from November 2017 to February 2018, with follow-ups at 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30-, and 36- months. All the data collections have been finished and merged by November 2021. The attrition rate was less than 5% for each follow-up assessment. Each participant received a small gift (e.g., household items) equivalent to US\$5.00 (1 USD≈6.5 Chinese CNY at the time of the survey) upon the completion of each assessment. The research protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at both the University of South Carolina in the United States and Guangxi CDC in China.

Measures

<u>Physical health outcomes</u>

CD4 count of each participant at baseline, 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30- and 36-month follow-ups were retrieved from the patient's lab results at each hospital. According to the guidelines for ART in adults and adolescents with HIV (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services & Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents, 2017), the cutoff of 500 cells/mm³ has clinical implications in evaluating the normal immunologic functioning. Therefore, instead of using the original continuous measure of

CD4 count, CD4 count was categorized into a binary variable: CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ and CD4 count≥500 cells/mm³ for the purpose of data analysis in this dissertation.

Viral load of each participant at baseline, 6-, 12-, 18-, 24-, 30- and 36-month follow-ups were collected from the EHR system of Guangxi CDC. Viral suppression was defined as HIV RNA less than or equal to 50 copies/ml in PLWH's plasma (CDC & National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, and T.B. Prevention 2018). As viral suppression indicates the treatment efficacy, it was used as one of the primary outcomes rather than the original continuous value of viral load. Viral load was categorized into a binary variable: viral load<50 copies/ml and viral load≥50 copies/ml.

Mental health outcomes

Depressive symptoms were assessed with the 10-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D 10) Scale (Kohout et al., 1993). The Chinese version of CES-D 10 has been validated in both the clinical and non-clinical populations in China (Yu et al., 2013). It captured depressed affect (3 items), somatic symptoms (5 items), and positive affect (2 items). The response options ranged from 0 ("rarely or none of the time") to 3 ("all of the time"). The sum scores of CES-D 10 range from 0 to 30, with higher scores indicating more severe depressive symptoms. The scale exhibited an acceptable internal consistency in our study (Cronbach's alpha=0.85).

Anxiety symptoms were assessed with the 20-item Self-rating Anxiety Scale (Zung, 1971) to quantify the level of anxiety for patients experiencing anxiety-related symptoms. The Chinese version scale has been validated in the Chinese populations (Zhang et al., 2015). Items tap psychological and physiological symptoms in the past week, and each item is scored on a scale of 1 ("none or a little of the time") to 4 ("most of

the time"). Sample items are "I feel easily upset or panicked" and "I experience headache and a sore neck." The sum scores of the scale range from 20 to 80, with higher scores indicating more severe anxiety symptoms. The scale exhibited an acceptable internal consistency in our study (Cronbach's alpha=0.80).

<u>Behavioral health outcomes</u>

ART adherence was assessed with a multiple-item approach to minimize the self-report bias (Mi et al., 2020). Five items were derived from the Adult AIDS Clinical Trials Group (AACTG) adherence instrument were adapted to our studies (Chesney et al., 2000). The first two items asked participants if they had missed any dose in the past weekend/ever before. Responses were recorded to reflect ART adherence (1=not missed, 0=missed). The other three items inquired about the total number of prescribed doses and the number of doses that participants actually took within three specific time windows (i.e., past three days, past weekend, and past month). The responses to each of these items were first converted into a percentage of doses taken as scheduled and then dichotomized into 1 (\geq 95% of prescribed doses) or 0 (< 95%). The threshold of 95% is used in the current study as the existing literature suggested 95% as the optimal level of adherence to sustain viral suppression (Paterson et al., 2000) and avoid the evolution of drug-resistant viruses (Raffa et al., 2008). An adherence index score was generated by summing the dichotomous scores of the five items to reflect an optimal adherence (score=5) or suboptimal adherence (score < 5) (Mi et al., 2020). Such a measure of ART adherence has been validated under various cultural contexts (Chesney et al., 2000; Reynolds et al., 2007) and was considered a robust instrument for evaluating ART adherence behaviors among PLWH.

<u>Covariates</u>

Sociodemographic characteristics included age (18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45 or older), ethnicity (Han, other), marital status (single, married/life partner, divorced/separated/widowed), education (middle school or below, high school, college and above), employment (fulltime employed, parttime employed, unemployed), monthly household income (1,999 CNY or below, 2,000-3,999 CNY, 4,000 CNY or above), and residence rurality (city, county, rural).

Data analysis

First, baseline sociodemographic characteristics were described with frequency (column percent) and compared between non-MSM males and MSM using Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test as appropriate.

Second, trends of physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes over time were examined. Trends of continuous outcomes (i.e., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms) were tested with repeated measure analysis of variance (ANOVA). Trends of categorical outcomes (i.e., CD4 count, viral load, ART adherence) were tested with Cochran-Armitage trend tests.

Third, bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and longitudinal physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes were conducted with univariate generalized linear mixed model (GLMM) for categorical outcomes and repeated measure ANOVA for continuous outcomes.

At last, the longitudinal trajectories of CD4 count, viral load, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence were examined using the latent growth curve modeling (LGCM) method, a multivariate statistical method based on the

framework of structural equational modeling (SEM) to estimate growth patterns over time (Bollen & Curran, 2006) in three steps. First, the unadjusted trends over seven waves of all health outcomes were plotted to determine the type of growth. Linear growths were modeled for CD4 count, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence, and quadratic growth was modeled for viral load. Second, unconditional models of CD4 count, viral load, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence were fit separately for non-MSM males and MSM to assess overall growth in these constructs over time. The baseline levels (means of intercept) and changes (means of slope) in health outcomes over seven assessment points, between-individual variability at baseline (variances of intercept) and over time (variances of slopes), and correlations between intercept and slope were estimated unadjusted for the influence of covariates. Third, conditional growth models were built by adding baseline sociodemographic characteristics to the LGCM, which might explain the varying health outcomes' growth trajectories. For continuous variables, estimates were interpreted as linear regression coefficients (β) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) explaining the expected change in growth parameters associated with each wave change. For categorical outcomes, means of intercept and slope were interpreted as logistic regression coefficients and transferred into Odds Ratios (OR) or adjusted Odds Ratios (aOR) and their corresponding 95% CI. For both unconditional and conditional models, Wald-tests were conducted between the two groups to demonstrate if growth parameters (i.e., mean of intercept, mean of slope, variance of intercept, variance of slope, correlation between intercept and slope) varied between groups.

Descriptive analyses and bivariate analyses were conducted with SPSS 28.0 (Chicago, IL, USA). Cochran-Armitage trend tests were conducted with SAS 9.4. LGCM was conducted with M*plus* 8.4.

5.4 Results

Descriptive statistics

As shown in Table 5.1, at baseline assessment (November 2017 to February 2018), the majority of the 772 MLWH were non-MSM males (n=571, 74.0%), aged 35-44 years (n=240, 31.1%), Han ethnicity (n=511, 66.2%), married or cohabited (n=369, 47.8%), with a middle school education or below (n=410, 53.1%), having a fulltime job (n=518, 67.1%) with a monthly household income between 2,000 and 3,999 CNY (n=379, 49.1%), and living in city areas (n=363, 47.0%).

For baseline physical health outcomes, 448 (58.0%) MLWH had a CD4 count<500 cells/mm³, but only 108 (14.0%) MLWH had viral load \geq 50 copies/ml. In regard to psychological factors, the baseline mean scores of depressive symptoms and anxiety symptoms were 6.60 (SD=4.24) and 30.34 (SD=6.72), respectively, indicating that participants experienced depressive or anxiety symptoms *rarely or none of the time* (less than one day per week). For the behavioral factor, more than half of MLWH (n=466, 60.4%) reported suboptimal adherence to ART.

Changes in physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes

Across the six follow-ups, the attrition rates were less than 5.0% (Table 5.2). The changes in physical (i.e., CD4 count and viral load), psychological (i.e., depressive symptoms and anxiety symptoms), and behavioral health outcomes (i.e., ART adherence) were significant except for ART adherence. As shown in Table 5.2 and Figure 5.1, the

percentage of MLWH who had a CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ significantly decreased from 58.0% at baseline to 50.4% at 36-month follow-up (z=-2.95, p=.003). The percentage of MLWH who had viral load \geq 50 copies/ml significantly decreased from 14.0% at baseline to 2.1% at 18-month follow-up and increased to 9.7% at 36-month follow-up (Figure 5.2), showing a statistically significant upward trend (z=5.23, p<.001). For psychological health outcomes, the mean scores of depressive symptoms increased from 6.60 at baseline to 7.66 at 6-month follow-up and decreased to 6.60 again at 36-month follow-up (Figure 5.3) (F=23.84, p<.001). The average level of anxiety symptoms slightly increased from 6.72 at baseline to 7.07 at the 36-month follow-up (Figure 5.4) (F=56.05, p<.001). For behavioral health outcome, change in the percentage of MLWH reporting suboptimal ART adherence was not significant (z=1.06, p=.29), although the percentage increased slightly from 60.4% at baseline to 60.9% at 36-month follow-up (Figure 5.5). *Associations between sociodemographic characteristics and physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes over time*

As shown in Table 5.3, MLWH who were MSM (compared to non-MSM males, OR=.18, 95% CI [.09, .35], p<.001) and ethnic minority (compared to Han ethnicity, OR=.44, 95% CI [.23, .84], p=.01) had lower odds of CD4 count<500 cells/mm³. MLWH who were 45 years old or older (compared to 24 years of age or younger, OR=4.60, 95% CI [1.42, 14.89], p=.01), married or cohabited (compared to single MLWH, OR=2.62, 95% CI [1.38, 4.99], p=.003), had a degree of middle school or below (compared to college degree or above, OR=4.13, 95% CI [2.03, 8.39], p<.001), unemployed or retired (compared to fulltime employment, OR=2.83, 95% CI [1.15, 6.95], p=.01), had monthly household income less than 2000 CNY (compared to 4000 CNY or above, OR=3.93,

95% CI [1.67, 9.24], p=.002) or between 2000 and 3,999 CNY (compared to 4000 CNY or above, OR=3.34, 95% CI [1.56, 7.14], p=.002), and living in rural areas (compared to city residence, OR=6.13, 95% CI [3.08, 12.18], p<.001) had higher odds of CD4 count<500 cells/mm³.

On the contrary, as shown in Table 5.4, MLWH who were MSM (compared to non-MSM males, OR=6.74, 95% CI [2.98, 15.28], p<.001) had higher odds of viral load \geq 50 copies/ml. MLWH who were married (compared to single MLWH, OR=.14, 95% CI [.06, .33], p<.001) or divorced (compared to single MLWH, OR=.23, 95% CI [.07, .82], p=.02), had a degree of middle school or below (compared to college degree or above, OR=.24, 95% CI [.10, .59], p=.002), had monthly household income less than 2000 CNY (compared to 4000 CNY or above, OR=.16, 95% CI [.06, .46], p<.001) or between 2000 and 3,999 CNY (compared to 4000 CNY or above, OR=.29, 95% CI [.12, .71], p=.007), and living in county (compared to city residence, OR=.32, 95% CI [.10, .97], p=.04) or rural areas (compared to city residence, OR=.18, 95% CI [.08, .43], p<.001) had lower odds of viral load \geq 50 copies/ml.

Monthly household income was the only demographic characteristic associated with depressive symptoms. Compared to MLWH who had a monthly household income of 4,000 CNY or above, MLWH who had a monthly household income less than 2,000 CNY (mean difference=.85, p=.006) or between 2,000 and 4,000 CNY (mean difference=.88, p=.002) experienced significantly more severe depressive symptoms (Table 5.5).

As shown in Table 5.6, MLWH who were 45 years of age or older (compared to 24 years of age or younger, mean difference=-1.25, p=.04) or ethnic minority (compared

to Han ethnicity, mean difference=-.73, p=.03) reported significantly slighter anxiety symptoms. While MLWH who were part-time employed (compared to fulltime employment, mean difference=1.11, p=.01) or unemployed (compared to fulltime employment, mean difference=1.19, p=.01), had monthly household income less than 2,000 CNY (compared to 4000 CNY or above, mean difference=1.48, p=.001) or between 2,000 and 4,000 CNY (compared to 4000 CNY or above, mean difference=1.07, p=.01) reported significantly more severe anxiety symptoms.

As shown in Table 5.7, MLWH who were MSM (compared to non-MSM males, OR=.11, 95% CI [.05, .22], p<.001) had lower odds of suboptimal ART adherence. MLWH who were 35-44 years old (compared to 24 years of age or younger, OR=10.40, 95% CI [3.20, 33.85], p<.001) or 45 years old or older (compared to 24 years of age or younger, OR=8.44, 95% CI [2.51, 28.39], p<.001), married (compared to single MLWH, OR=3.99, 95% CI [2.05, 7.77], p<.001), had a degree of middle school or below (compared to college degree or above, OR=9.57, 95% CI [4.62, 19.82], p<.001) or high school (compared to college degree or above, OR=7.69, 95% CI [3.07, 19.22], p<.001), had monthly household income less than 2000 CNY (compared to 4000 CNY or above, OR=3.68, 95% CI [1.53, 8.82], p=.004), and living in rural areas (compared to city residence, OR=4.39, 95% CI [2.20, 8.76], p<.001) had higher odds of suboptimal ART adherence. Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models among non-MSM males and MSM

<u>CD4 count</u>

Parameter estimates from LGCM of CD4 are displayed in Table 5.8. In the unconditional models, the mean intercept was significantly higher (Wald test p < .001) for non-MSM males (OR=10.88, 95% CI [5.27, 22.44], p<.001) than MSM (OR=.34, 95% CI [.15, .78], p=.01, indicating that non-MSM males had higher baseline odds of having CD4 count less than 500 cells/mm³ compared to MSM. The mean slope was not significant for non-MSM males (OR=.90, 95% CI [.78, 1.04], p=.14) but significantly negative for MSM (OR=.69, 95% CI [.54, .87], p=.002), reflecting an average decrease in the odds of having CD4 count less than 500 cells/mm³ per wave. The variance of intercept was significant for both non-MSM males (β =38.99, 95% CI [22.06, 55.93], p < .001) and MSM ($\beta = 17.07, 95\%$ CI [6.54, 27.61], p = .001), and the variance of slope was significant for both non-MSM males (β =.58, 95% CI [.22, .94], p=.002) and MSM $(\beta = .73, 95\% \text{ CI} [.21, 1.24], p = .005)$, indicating that the baseline and the change of CD4 count significantly varied across individuals for both non-MSM males and MSM. The correlations between intercept and slope were not significant for either non-MSM males $(\beta = .04, 95\% \text{ CI} [-.43, .34], p = .83)$ or MSM $(\beta = .16, 95\% \text{ CI} [-.28, .60], p = .49)$, suggesting that the baseline CD4 count were not related to the change of CD4 count over time.

In the conditional models (Figure 5.6), the mean slope was not significant for either non-MSM males (OR=.49, 95% CI [.22, 1.08], p=.08) or MSM (OR=.66, 95% CI [.39, 1.13], p=.13), suggesting that CD4 count did not change substantially over time
after adjustment for the influence of baseline sociodemographic covariates for both non-MSM males and MSM. Similar to the unconditional models, the variance of intercept was significant for both non-MSM males (β =31.98, 95% CI [18.33, 45.64], p<.001) and MSM (β =14.52, 95% CI [5.68, 23.36], p=.001), and the variance of slope was significant for both non-MSM males (β =.49, 95% CI [.26, .72], p<.001) and MSM (β =.53, 95% CI [.12, .94], p=.01), indicating that there were significant interindividual variations in both baseline level and change of CD4 count over time that was not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates. The correlations between intercept and slope were not significant for either non-MSM males (β =-.04, 95% CI [-.43, .35], p=.85) or MSM (β =.24, 95% CI [-.22, .69], p=.31), suggesting that the baseline CD4 count were not related to the change of CD4 trends over time. After the adjustment of sociodemographic covariates, the patterns of CD4 trends over time were not significantly different between non-MSM males and MSM.

Viral suppression

Parameter estimates from LGCM of viral load are displayed in Table 5.9. In the unconditional models, the means of intercept, slope, and the quadratic term were significantly different between non-MSM males and MSM (Wald tests p<.001). The mean intercept was lower in non-MSM males (OR=2.3E-05, 95% CI [9.41E-08, .01], p<.001) than in MSM (OR=.12, 95% CI [.04, .33], p<.001), indicating that MSM had higher baseline odds of viral load≥50 copies/ml compared to non-MSM males. The means of slope (OR=1.19, 95% CI [.57, 2.45], p=.65) and quadratic term (OR=.90, 95% CI [.77, 1.04], p=.16) were not significant in MSM, indicating that viral suppression status did not change substantially over time among MSM. The means of slope

(*OR*=64.65, 95% CI [3.03, 1380.22], *p*=.008) and quadratic term (*OR*=.47, 95% CI [.29, .76], *p*=.002) were significant among non-MSM males, indicating that viral suppression status changed over time in a quadratic pattern among non-MSM males. The variances of intercept (β =81.59, 95% CI [-40.39, 203.58], *p*=.19), slope (β =20.59, 95% CI [-13.86, 54.98], *p*=.24), and quadratic term (β =.49, 95% CI [-.24, 1.22], *p*=.19) among non-MSM males were not significant, suggesting a relative homogeneity of non-MSM males participants in terms of viral suppression. Yet, the variances of intercept (β =12.44, 95% CI [.35, 24.52], *p*=.04) and quadratic term (β =.16, 95% CI [.01, .31], *p*=.04) among MSM were significant, suggesting that the change of viral suppression status significantly varied across MSM individuals.

In the conditional models (Figure 5.7), the means of slope and quadratic terms were not significant for either non-MSM males (mean of slope: OR=.17, 95% CI [.001, 21.61], p=.48; mean of quadratic term: OR=1.22, 95% CI [.53, 2.81], p=.48) or MSM (mean of slope: OR=.81, 95% CI [.25, 2.68], p=.73; mean of quadratic term: OR=1.05, 95% CI [.84, 1.30], p=.68), suggesting that viral suppression status did not change substantially over time after adjustment for the influence of baseline sociodemographic covariates for both non-MSM males and MSM. The variances of intercept, slope, and quadratic terms were significant for non-MSM males (variance of intercept: β =56.11, 95% CI [11.25, 100.97], p=.01; variance of slope: β =14.01, 95% CI [.82, 27.19], p=.04; variance of quadratic term: β =.36, 95% CI [.03, .69], p=.03), indicating that there were significant interindividual variations in both baseline level and change of viral suppression status over time that were not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates. Only the variance of intercept was significant for MSM

 $(\beta=10.87, 95\%$ CI [.85, 20.90], p=.03), indicating that there were significant interindividual variations in the baseline level of viral suppression status not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates. After the adjustment of sociodemographic covariates, the patterns of viral suppression status over time were not significantly different between non-MSM males and MSM.

Depressive symptoms

Parameter estimates from LGCM of depressive symptoms are displayed in Table 5.10. In the unconditional models, the means of slope were significantly negative for both non-MSM males (β =.33, 95% CI [-.42, -.24], p<.001) and MSM (β =-.24, 95% CI [-.35, -[.12], p=.04), reflecting an average decrease of .42 and .24 in depressive symptoms per wave for non-MSM males and MSM, respectively. The variances of intercept (β =9.21, 95% CI [6.62, 11.19], p < .001) and slope ($\beta = .18, 95\%$ CI [.08, .27], p = .001) among non-MSM males were significant, suggesting interindividual variations in both baseline level and trend of depressive symptoms over time for non-MSM males. Only the variances of intercept (β =8.82, 95% CI [6.03, 11.62], p<.001) among MSM were significant, suggesting interindividual variations in the baseline level of depressive symptoms for MSM. The correlations between intercept and slope were significant for non-MSM males $(\beta = ..65, 95\% \text{ CI} [..81, ..50], p < .001)$ but not significant for MSM ($\beta = .25, 95\% \text{ CI} [..26, ...65]$.76], p=.33), suggesting that the baseline depressive symptoms was negatively associated with depressive symptoms change over time among non-MSM males but not associated with depressive symptoms change over time among MSM.

In the conditional models (Figure 5.8), the means of slope were significantly negative for MSM (β =-.36, 95% CI [-.62, -.10], *p*=.01) but not for non-MSM males (β =-

.25, 95% CI [-.66, -17], p=.24), reflecting an average decrease of .36 in depressive symptoms per wave for MSM after adjustment of covariates but no substantial change of depressive symptoms over time for non-MSM males. The variances of intercept (β =8.09, 95% CI [5.67, 10.51], p<.001) and slope (β =.12, 95% CI [.03, .22], p=.01) among non-MSM males were significant, suggesting interindividual variations in both baseline level and trend of depressive symptoms over time not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates for non-MSM males. Only the variances of intercept $(\beta = 8.03, 95\% \text{ CI} [5.33, 10.72], p < .001)$ among MSM were significant, suggesting interindividual variations in the baseline level of depressive symptoms not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates for MSM. The correlations between intercept and slope were significant for non-MSM males (β =-.66, 95% CI [-.84, -.47], p<.001) but not significant for MSM (β =.41, 95% CI [-.43, 1.25], p=.34), suggesting that the baseline depressive symptoms were negatively associated with depressive symptoms change over time among non-MSM males but not associated with depressive symptoms change over time among MSM.

Anxiety symptoms

Parameter estimates from LGCM of anxiety symptoms are displayed in Table 5.11. In the unconditional models, the means of slope were significantly negative for both non-MSM males (β =-.20, 95% CI [-.32, -.08], p=.001) and MSM (β =-.19, 95% CI [-.33, - .04], p=.01), reflecting an average decrease of .20 and .19 in anxiety symptoms per wave for non-MSM males and MSM, respectively. The variances of intercept (β =22.35, 95% CI [13.25, 31.46], p<.001) and slope (β =.65, 95% CI [.34, .96], p<.001) among non-MSM males were significant, suggesting interindividual variations in both baseline level

and trend of anxiety symptoms over time for non-MSM males. Only the variance of intercept (β =16.26, 95% CI [11.35, 21.17], p<.001) among MSM was significant, suggesting interindividual variation in initial anxiety symptoms for MSM. The correlations between intercept and slope were significant for non-MSM males (β =-.66, 95% CI [-.82, -.51], p<.001) but not significant for MSM (β =.34, 95% CI [-.76, 1.44], p=.54), suggesting that the baseline anxiety symptoms were negatively associated with anxiety symptoms change over time among non-MSM males but not associated with anxiety symptoms change over time among MSM.

In the conditional models (Figure 5.9), the means of slope were significantly negative for MSM (β =-.34, 95% CI [-.64, -.04], p=.02) but not for non-MSM males $(\beta = .05, 95\% \text{ CI} [-.60, .70], p = .88)$, reflecting an average decrease of .34 in anxiety symptoms per wave for MSM after adjustment of covariates, but no substantial change of anxiety symptoms over time for non-MSM males. The variances of intercept (β =20.36, 95% CI [12.08, 28.65], p<.001) and slope (β =.54, 95% CI [.24, .84], p<.001) among non-MSM males were significant, suggesting interindividual variations in both baseline level and anxiety symptoms trend over time not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates for non-MSM males. Only the variances of intercept $(\beta = 13.80, 95\% \text{ CI} [9.39, 18.20], p < .001)$ among MSM were significant, suggesting interindividual variations in the baseline level of anxiety symptoms not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates for MSM. The correlations between intercept and slope were significant for non-MSM males (β =-.68, 95% CI [-.84, -.52], p<.001) but not significant for MSM (β =.64, 95% CI [-.11, 1.39], p=.10), suggesting that the baseline anxiety symptoms were negatively associated with depressive symptoms change over

time among non-MSM males but not associated with anxiety symptoms change over time among MSM.

<u>ART adherence</u>

Parameter estimates from LGCM of ART adherence are displayed in Table 5.12. In the unconditional models, the mean intercept was higher in non-MSM males (*OR*=16.23, 95% CI [8.42, 31.28], *p*<.001) than in MSM (*OR*=.39, 95% CI [.17, .90], p=.03), indicating that non-MSM males had higher baseline odds of suboptimal ART adherence compared to MSM. The mean slope was significant in non-MSM males (*OR*=.84, 95% CI [.74, .94], *p*=.003) but not significant in MSM (*OR*=.95, 95% CI [.84, 1.07], p=.38), reflecting an average decrease in the odds of suboptimal ART adherence per wave among non-MSM males but no substantial change in suboptimal ART adherence over time among MSM. The variances of intercept (β =28.01, 95% CI [18.52, 37.50], p < .001) and slope ($\beta = .23$, 95% CI [.10, .36], p = .001) among non-MSM males were significant, suggesting that both initial ART adherence and change of ART adherence significantly varied across non-MSM males individuals. Only the variance of intercept was significant for MSM (β =25.75, 95% CI [8.74, 42.76], p=.003), suggesting significant interindividual variations in initial ART adherence among MSM. The correlation between intercept and slope was significant for non-MSM males (β =-.78, 95% CI [-.99, -.57], p<.001) but not for MSM (β =.07, 95% CI [-1.04, 1.17], p=.91), suggesting that the baseline ART adherence was negatively related to the change of ART adherence over time for non-MSM males but not for MSM.

In the conditional models (Figure 5.8), the means of slope were not significant for either non-MSM males (OR=1.11, 95% CI [.73, 1.70], p=.62) or MSM (OR=1.00, 95%

CI [.76, 1.32], *p*=.99), indicating that ART adherence did not change substantially over time after adjustment for the influence of baseline sociodemographic covariates for both non-MSM males and MSM. The variances of intercept (β =26.25, 95% CI [17.36, 35.15], *p*<.001) and slope (β =.20, 95% CI [.07, .33], *p*=.002) were significant for non-MSM males, indicating that there were significant interindividual variations in both baseline level and change of ART adherence over time that were not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates. Only the variance of intercept was significant for MSM (β =24.22, 95% CI [8.85, 39.60], *p*=.002), indicating that there were significant interindividual variations in the baseline level of ART adherence not fully explained by the baseline sociodemographic covariates. After the adjustment of sociodemographic covariates, the patterns of ART adherence change over time were not significantly different between non-MSM males and MSM.

5.5 Discussion

This study used LGCM to empirically estimate the change in physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes over time and examined the disparities in health outcomes trajectories between MSM and non-MSM males with data from a prospective cohort study. At baseline assessment, MSM had lower odds of having CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ and suboptimal ART adherence but had higher odds of having viral load≥50 copies/ml compared to non-MSM males. During follow-ups, the trajectories of viral suppression status were significantly different between MSM and non-MSM males in a quadratic pattern. Yet, these differences in health outcomes at baseline and over time were no longer significant after controlling for baseline sociodemographic characteristics.

At baseline, a higher risk of having CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ was observed among non-MSM males compared to MSM. Multiple studies across different geographical regions reported similar results where CD4 count in early infection were lower in non-MSM males than in MSM (Cascade Collaboration, 2003; Frentz et al., 2014; Gupta et al., 2000; James & Dixit, 2022; Robertson et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2014). A study in China reported that the average CD4 count at diagnosis were 370 cells/mm³ for MSM and 270 cells/mm³ for non-MSM males (Tang et al., 2014). A study in the United States showed a similar result, that the CD4 count at diagnosis were 400 cells/mm³ in MSM and 300 cells/mm³ in non-MSM males (Robertson et al., 2020). According to the European CDC, the average CD4 count at diagnosis of around 120,000 patients across 21 countries were approximately 440 cells/mm³ in MSM and only 300 cells/mm³ in non-MSM males (European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2019). A potential explanation could be the tolerance to transmitted/founder (T/F) strains (James & Dixit, 2022). T/F virus refers to a single or very few viral variant(s) that establish productive infection within a host (Ashokkumar et al., 2020). According to the stringent population bottleneck theory, T/F virus were under greater positive selection in non-MSM males in whom the penile-vaginal mode predominates, than MSM in whom anal intercourse predominates (James & Dixit, 2022; Owen et al., 2015; Tully et al., 2016). Therefore, due to different modes of transmission, T/F virus is more virulent in non-MSM males than in MSM (James & Dixit, 2022). However, as the baseline difference in CD4 count disappeared after sociodemographic covariates were adjusted, such difference might be attributed sociodemographic characteristics, especially age. Participants who were MSM were significantly younger than those who were non-MSM

males in the current study. Previous studies and reports revealed that MSM were usually diagnosed at a younger age than non-MSM males (European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2019; Frentz et al., 2014). More than 60% of MSM living with HIV are aged 29 years old or younger in China (Dong et al., 2019). Also, the prevalence of HIV in young MSM was significantly increasing in the United States with an annual newly diagnosed HIV infection increased by 3% among MSM ages 13-29 when the HIV prevalence in other age groups were declining (Mitsch et al., 2018). Younger age is associated with a stronger immune system, which leads to higher CD4 count at diagnosis and faster increase in CD4 count after ART initiation (Lewis et al., 2012).

MSM had a higher risk of viral load≥50 copies/ml at baseline and a more rapid change at follow-ups than non-MSM males. However, after adjusting the baseline sociodemographic covariates, both viral suppression status at baseline and the change patterns over time were no longer different between MSM and non-MSM males, indicating that sociodemographic covariates could explain these differences. Previous studies also found that sociodemographic variables were related to viral suppression (Burch et al., 2016; Chakraborty et al., 2015; Crepaz et al., 2018; Haider et al., 2021; Hussen et al., 2018; Saracino et al., 2016; Xia et al., 2017). Older age, fulltime employment, higher educational attainment, and lower income were associated with elevated odds of achieving viral suppression (<100 viral copies/ml) (Feng et al., 2010; Haider et al., 2021). A savings-led economic empowerment intervention for young PLWH was found effective in achieving a tenfold increase in successful viral suppression (Bermudez et al., 2018). Rurality was also reported to be related to viral suppression. PLWH living in rural areas were less likely to be viral suppressed (46.2 %) compared to PLWH living in metropolitan areas (54.5%) or urban areas (50.2%) (Nelson et al., 2018). In the current study, MSM had lower unconditional probability of viral load≥50 copies/ml but higher probability of CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ at baseline, which was counterintuitive. Viral load is a marker of response to ART and provide information about the probability of disease progression, which monitors the effectiveness of ART after initiation (Clinical info, 2014). CD4 cell count provides information on the overall immune function of PLWH, which is critical in assessing the urgency to initiate ART (Clinical info, 2014). In this study, MSM was younger than non-MSM. and a younger age is associated with a better immune system but elevated odds of viral load≥50 copies/ml (Feng et al., 2010; Haider et al., 2021)..

In terms of trajectories of depressive and anxiety symptoms, although the baseline level and the change over time were not different between groups after adjusting for sociodemographic characteristics, the correlations between baseline level and change over time were different between MSM and non-MSM males even after adjusting for covariates. Inverse relationships between baseline level and change over time of depressive and anxiety symptoms were observed among non-MSM males but not among MSM. This finding suggested that the higher baseline levels of depressive and anxiety symptoms were, the faster they reduced over time among non-MSM males but not among MSM. Such group difference was not due to the differences in sociodemographic characteristics between groups. Instead, this difference could be attributed to less social support and multi-layered stigma associated with MSM (Arends et al., 2020; Parsons et al., 2017; Rzeszutek, 2018; Shao et al., 2018). It has been well documented in both longitudinal studies and cross-sectional studies that social support was positively linked

to better mental functioning among PLWH (Abramowitz et al., 2009; Ashton et al., 2005; Hansen et al., 2009). By contrast, a lack of social support and social isolation could exacerbate HIV-related psychological problems, especially depressive symptoms (Rzeszutek, 2018). Compared to non-MSM males, MSM living with HIV experienced social rejection from families, friends, and social institutions, including hospitals and schools, and in turn, lack of social support (Bonvicini, 2017). As for stigma, studies among MSM living with HIV in China suggested that higher levels of both HIV- and SGM-related stigma were related to increased symptoms of depression and anxiety, as well as deterioration in quality of life (Yang et al., 2020). Therefore, although the baseline levels of depressive/anxiety symptoms were high in both non-MSM males and MSM, only non-MSM males showed a faster reduction that correlated to the high baseline depressive/anxiety symptoms during follow-ups.

MSM showed more optimal ART adherence than non-MSM males at baseline, while this difference disappeared after controlling for sociodemographic characteristics. In previous studies, the association between ART adherence and sociodemographic characteristics among PLWH has been controversial. A large-scale review suggested that higher income, higher level of educational attainment, fulltime employment, and older age were positively related to more optimal ART adherence (Azmach et al., 2019). A longitudinal study indicated that living in urban areas, higher income, and younger age of PLWH were positively correlated with optimal ART adherence. Further longitudinal studies on a large scale are still needed to confirm the findings. Mixed findings also suggested the possible existence of moderators underlying the associations between sociodemographic characteristics and ART adherence.

This study provided several implications for future studies, clinical interventions, and policymakers. Sociodemographic factors played an important and complex role in the health outcome of PLWH, which still needs further investigations (Frentz et al., 2014). In addition, the inverse correlations between intercept and slope of depressive and anxiety symptoms were only found in non-MSM males but not MSM. Typically, MSM are exposed to more risk factors of psychological distress than non-MSM males, such as a lack of social support and multiple stigmas associated with HIV diagnosis and SGM identities, which might necessitate clinical interventions and social care. In addition, economic interventions could potentially improve ART adherence and help individuals achieve viral suppression (Bermudez et al., 2018).

The current study has some limitations that should be acknowledged. First, recall bias is common when using self-reported questionnaires, especially for optimal ART adherence, which is often overestimated by participating PLWH (Stirratt et al., 2015). Second, participants in the current study were recruited from hospitals or clinics. These participants were more likely to have better health outcomes, such as optimal ART adherence, higher CD4 count, and lower viral load, compared to PLWH who were not engaged in care. The generalizability of these findings was therefore limited. Future studies are needed to confirm these results in other areas and among other subgroups. Despite these limitations, the study compared the trajectories of health outcomes over time between non-MSM males and MSM, which were considered hard-to-reach populations. The seven-wave longitudinal study collected both self-reported survey data and clinical laboratory test results for each participant and examined multiple HIV-related health outcomes including CD4 count, viral load, mental health status such as

depression and anxiety, and ART adherence. With data from seven waves, this study demonstrated the change patterns of health outcomes dynamically over time.

5.6 Conclusion

Chinese MSM in the current study were at a higher risk of having detectable viral load but at a lower risk of having CD4 count <500 cells/mm³. Future studies are needed to examine such inconsistency between CD4 count and viral suppression among MSM. The higher baseline levels of depressive and anxiety symptoms were, the faster they reduced over time among non-MSM males but not among MSM, necessitating clinical interventions and social care among MSM.

5.7 References

- Abramowitz, S., Koenig, L. J., Chandwani, S., Orban, L., Stein, R., Lagrange, R., & Barnes, W. (2009). Characterizing social support: global and specific social support experiences of HIV-infected youth. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 23(5), 323-330. https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2008.0194
- Arends, R. M., Van den Heuvel, T. J., Foeken-Verwoert, E. G., Grintjes, K. J., Keizer, H. J., Schene, A. H., Van der Ven, A. J., & Schellekens, A. F. (2020). Sex, drugs, and impulse regulation: A perspective on reducing transmission risk behavior and improving mental health among MSM living With HIV. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 1005.
- Armoon, B., Higgs, P., Fleury, M. J., Bayat, A. H., Moghaddam, L. F., Bayani, A., & Fakhri, Y. (2021). Socio-demographic, clinical and service use determinants associated with HIV related stigma among people living with HIV/AIDS: a

systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06980-6</u>

Ashokkumar, M., Sonawane, A., Sperk, M., Tripathy, S. P., Neogi, U., & Hanna, L. E. (2020). In vitro replicative fitness of early Transmitted founder HIV-1 variants and sensitivity to Interferon alpha. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 2747.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59596-x

- Ashton, E., Vosvick, M., Chesney, M., Gore-Felton, C., Koopman, C., O'Shea, K.,
 Maldonado, J., Bachmann, M. H., Israelski, D., Flamm, J., & Spiegel, D. (2005).
 Social support and maladaptive coping as predictors of the change in physical
 health symptoms among persons living with HIV/AIDS. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, *19*(9), 587-598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2005.19.587</u>
- Azmach, N. N., Hamza, T. A., & Husen, A. A. (2019). Socioeconomic and Demographic Statuses as Determinants of Adherence to Antiretroviral Treatment in HIV Infected Patients: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Current HIV Research*, *17*(3), 161-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1570162x17666190919130229</u>
- Baral, S., Sifakis, F., Cleghorn, F., & Beyrer, C. (2007). Elevated risk for HIV infection among men who have sex with men in low- and middle-income countries 2000-2006: a systematic review. *PLoS Medicine*, *4*(12), e339-e339.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0040339

Baumeister, H., & Härter, M. (2007). Prevalence of mental disorders based on general population surveys. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 42(7), 537-546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-007-0204-1</u>

- Berg, K. M., Demas, P. A., Howard, A. A., Schoenbaum, E. E., Gourevitch, M. N., & Arnsten, J. H. (2004). Gender differences in factors associated with adherence to antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *19*(11), 1111-1117. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2004.30445.x
- Bermudez, L. G., Ssewamala, F. M., Neilands, T. B., Lu, L., Jennings, L., Nakigozi, G.,
 Mellins, C. A., McKay, M., & Mukasa, M. (2018). Does Economic Strengthening
 Improve Viral Suppression Among Adolescents Living with HIV? Results From a
 Cluster Randomized Trial in Uganda. *AIDS and Behavior*, 22(11), 3763-3772.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2173-7
- Bogart, L. M., Wagner, G. J., Galvan, F. H., Landrine, H., Klein, D. J., & Sticklor, L. A. (2011). Perceived discrimination and mental health symptoms among Black men with HIV. *Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol*, *17*(3), 295-302. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024056
- Bollen, K. A., & Curran, P. J. (2006). Latent curve models: A structural equation perspective. John Wiley & Sons.
- Bonvicini, K. A. (2017). LGBT healthcare disparities: What progress have we made? *Patient Education and Counseling*, 100(12), 2357-2361. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2017.06.003</u>
- Burch, L. S., Smith, C. J., Anderson, J., Sherr, L., Rodger, A. J., O'Connell, R., Geretti,
 A. M., Gilson, R., Fisher, M., Elford, J., Jones, M., Collins, S., Azad, Y., Phillips,
 A. N., Speakman, A., Johnson, M. A., & Lampe, F. C. (2016). Socioeconomic status and treatment outcomes for individuals with HIV on antiretroviral treatment

in the UK: cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. *Lancet Public Health*, *1*(1), e26-e36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468-2667(16)30002-0</u>

Cascade Collaboration. (2003). Differences in CD4 Cell Counts at Seroconversion and Decline Among 5739 HIV-1–Infected Individuals with Well-Estimated Dates of Seroconversion. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, *34*(1).

https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2003/09010/Differences in CD4_Cell_Co unts_at_Seroconversion.12.aspx

Chakraborty, H., Iyer, M., Duffus, W. A., Samantapudi, A. V., Albrecht, H., & Weissman, S. (2015). Disparities in viral load and CD4 count trends among HIVinfected adults in South Carolina. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 29(1), 26-32. https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2014.0158

Chesney, M. A., Ickovics, J. R., Chambers, D. B., Gifford, A. L., Neidig, J., Zwickl, B.,
Wu, A. W., Patient Care, C., amp, & Adherence Working Group Of The
Outcomes Committee Of The Adult Aids Clinical Trials, G. (2000). Self-reported
adherence to antiretroviral medications among participants in HIV clinical trials:
The AACTG Adherence Instruments. *AIDS Care*, *12*(3), 255-266.
https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120050042891

Comulada, W. S., Rotheram-Borus, M. J., Pequegnat, W., Weiss, R. E., Desmond, K. A., Arnold, E. M., Remien, R. H., Morin, S. F., Weinhardt, L. S., Johnson, M. O., & Chesney, M. A. (2010). Relationships over time between mental health symptoms and transmission risk among persons living with HIV. *Psychol Addict Behav*, 24(1), 109-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018190</u>

- Crepaz, N., Dong, X., Wang, X., Hernandez, A. L., & Hall, H. I. (2018). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Sustained Viral Suppression and Transmission Risk Potential Among Persons Receiving HIV Care - United States, 2014. MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 67(4), 113-118. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6704a2
- Crepaz, N., Passin, W. F., Herbst, J. H., Rama, S. M., Malow, R. M., Purcell, D. W., & Wolitski, R. J. (2008). Meta-analysis of cognitive-behavioral interventions on HIV-positive persons' mental health and immune functioning. *Health Psychology*, 27(1), 4.
- Dong, M. J., Peng, B., Liu, Z. F., Ye, Q. N., Liu, H., Lu, X. L., Zhang, B., & Chen, J. J. (2019). The prevalence of HIV among MSM in China: a large-scale systematic analysis. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 19(1), 1000. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-</u> 019-4559-1
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. (2019). *HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2019 - 2018 data*. Retrieved May 28 from <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/hivaids-surveillance-europe-</u> <u>2019-2018-data</u>
- Feng, Y., Wu, Z., & Detels, R. (2010). Evolution of men who have sex with men community and experienced stigma among men who have sex with men in Chengdu, China. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 53 Suppl *I*(Suppl 1), S98-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181c7df71</u>
- Frentz, D., van de Vijver, D., Abecasis, A., Albert, J., Hamouda, O., Jørgensen, L., Kücherer, C., Struck, D., Schmit, J.-C., & Vercauteren, J. (2014). Patterns of

transmitted HIV drug resistance in Europe vary by risk group. *PloS One*, *9*(4), e94495.

- Gonzalez, A., Solomon, S. E., Zvolensky, M. J., & Miller, C. T. (2009). The Interaction of Mindful-based Attention and Awareness and Disengagement Coping with HIV/AIDS-related Stigma in regard to Concurrent Anxiety and Depressive Symptoms among Adults with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *14*(3), 403-413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105309102193</u>
- Govindasamy, D., Ford, N., & Kranzer, K. (2012). Risk factors, barriers and facilitators for linkage to antiretroviral therapy care: a systematic review. *AIDS*, 26(16), 2059-2067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283578b9b</u>
- Gupta, S. B., Gilbert, R. L., Brady, A. R., Livingstone, S. J., Evans, B. G., & on behalf of the, C. D. S. S. A. G. (2000). CD4 cell counts in adults with newly diagnosed HIV infection: results of surveillance in England and Wales, 1990–1998. *AIDS*, *14*(7). https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2000/05050/CD4_cell_counts_in_ad ults_with_newly_diagnosed_HIV.12.aspx
- Haider, M. R., Brown, M. J., Harrison, S., Yang, X., Ingram, L., Bhochhibhoya, A.,
 Hamilton, A., Olatosi, B., & Li, X. (2021). Sociodemographic factors affecting
 viral load suppression among people living with HIV in South Carolina. *AIDS Care*, 33(3), 290-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2019.1703892</u>

Hansen, N. B., Vaughan, E. L., Cavanaugh, C. E., Connell, C. M., & Sikkema, K. J.
(2009). Health-related quality of life in bereaved HIV-positive adults:
relationships between HIV symptoms, grief, social support, and Axis II
indication. *Health Psychology*, 28(2), 249-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013168</u>

- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Erickson, S. J. (2008). Minority stress predictors of HIV risk behavior, substance use, and depressive symptoms: Results from a prospective study of bereaved gay men. *Health Psychology*, 27(4), 455-462. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.27.4.455
- Hussen, S. A., Easley, K. A., Smith, J. C., Shenvi, N., Harper, G. W., Camacho-Gonzalez, A. F., Stephenson, R., & Del Rio, C. (2018). Social Capital, Depressive Symptoms, and HIV Viral Suppression Among Young Black, Gay, Bisexual and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men Living with HIV. *AIDS and Behavior*, 22(9), 3024-3032. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2105-6</u>
- James, A., & Dixit, N. M. (2022). Transmitted HIV-1 is more virulent in heterosexual individuals than men-who-have-sex-with-men. *PLoS Pathogens*, *18*(3), e1010319.
- Kang, E., Rapkin, B. D., Remien, R. H., Mellins, C. A., & Oh, A. (2005). Multiple
 Dimensions of HIV Stigma and Psychological Distress Among Asians and Pacific
 Islanders Living With HIV Illness. *AIDS and Behavior*, 9(2), 145-154.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-005-3896-9
- Kohout, F. J., Berkman, L. F., Evans, D. A., & Cornoni-Huntley, J. (1993). Two shorter forms of the CES-D (Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression) depression symptoms index. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 5(2), 179-193. https://doi.org/10.1177/089826439300500202

Lewis, J., Walker, A. S., Castro, H., De Rossi, A., Gibb, D. M., Giaquinto, C., Klein, N.,
& Callard, R. (2012). Age and CD4 Count at Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in HIV-Infected Children: Effects on Long-term T-Cell Reconstitution. *The*

Journal of infectious diseases, 205(4), 548-556.

https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jir787

- Logie, C., & Gadalla, T. M. (2009). Meta-analysis of health and demographic correlates of stigma towards people living with HIV. *AIDS Care*, 21(6), 742-753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120802511877</u>
- Lowther, K., Selman, L., Harding, R., & Higginson, I. J. (2014a). Experience of persistent psychological symptoms and perceived stigma among people with HIV on antiretroviral therapy (ART): a systematic review. *Int J Nurs Stud*, *51*(8), 1171-1189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.01.015</u>
- Lowther, K., Selman, L., Harding, R., & Higginson, I. J. (2014b). Experience of persistent psychological symptoms and perceived stigma among people with HIV on antiretroviral therapy (ART): a systematic review. *International journal of nursing studies*, 51(8), 1171-1189.
- Medley, A., Ackers, M., Amolloh, M., Owuor, P., Muttai, H., Audi, B., Sewe, M., & Laserson, K. (2013). Early uptake of HIV clinical care after testing HIV-positive during home-based testing and counseling in western Kenya. *AIDS Behav*, *17*(1), 224-234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-012-0344-5</u>
- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(5), 674-697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674</u>
- Mi, T., Li, X., Zhou, G., Qiao, S., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2020). HIV Disclosure to Family Members and Medication Adherence: Role of Social Support and Self-

efficacy. *AIDS and Behavior*, 24(1), 45-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-</u> 02456-1

- Mills, T. C., Paul, J., Stall, R., Pollack, L., Canchola, J., Chang, Y. J., Moskowitz, J. T., & Catania, J. A. (2004). Distress and depression in men who have sex with men: the Urban Men's Health Study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *161*(2), 278-285. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.161.2.278
- Mitsch, A., Singh, S., Li, J., Balaji, A., Linley, L., & Selik, R. (2018). Age-Associated Trends in Diagnosis and Prevalence of Infection with HIV Among Men Who Have Sex with Men - United States, 2008-2016. *MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 67(37), 1025-1031. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6737a2</u>
- Myer, L., Smit, J., Roux, L. L., Parker, S., Stein, D. J., & Seedat, S. (2008). Common mental disorders among HIV-infected individuals in South Africa: prevalence, predictors, and validation of brief psychiatric rating scales. *AIDS Patient Care* and STDs, 22(2), 147-158.
- Nelson, J. A., Kinder, A., Johnson, A. S., Hall, H. I., Hu, X., Sweet, D., Guido, A., Katner, H., Janelle, J., & Gonzalez, M. (2018). Differences in selected HIV care continuum outcomes among people residing in rural, urban, and metropolitan areas—28 US jurisdictions. *The Journal of Rural Health*, *34*(1), 63-70.
- O'Cleirigh, C., Magidson, J. F., Skeer, M. R., Mayer, K. H., & Safren, S. A. (2015).
 Prevalence of Psychiatric and Substance Abuse Symptomatology Among HIV-Infected Gay and Bisexual Men in HIV Primary Care. *Psychosomatics*, 56(5), 470-478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psym.2014.08.004</u>

- Owen, B. N., Brock, P. M., Butler, A. R., Pickles, M., Brisson, M., Baggaley, R. F., & Boily, M.-C. (2015). Prevalence and Frequency of Heterosexual Anal Intercourse Among Young People: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *AIDS and Behavior*, *19*(7), 1338-1360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-015-0997-y</u>
- Parsons, J. T., Millar, B. M., Moody, R. L., Starks, T. J., Rendina, H. J., & Grov, C. (2017). Syndemic conditions and HIV transmission risk behavior among HIV-negative gay and bisexual men in a U.S. national sample. *Health Psychology*, *36*(7), 695-703. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000509</u>
- Paterson, D. L., Swindells, S., Mohr, J., Brester, M., Vergis, E. N., Squier, C., Wagener, M. M., & Singh, N. (2000). Adherence to protease inhibitor therapy and outcomes in patients with HIV infection. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *133*(1), 21-30.
 https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-133-1-200007040-00004
- Pence, B. W., Miller, W. C., Gaynes, B. N., & Eron, J. J., Jr. (2007). Psychiatric Illness and Virologic Response in Patients Initiating Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 44(2). <u>https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2007/02010/Psychiatric_Illness_and_Virologic_Response_in.6.aspx</u>
- Raffa, J. D., Tossonian, H. K., Grebely, J., Petkau, A. J., DeVlaming, S., & Conway, B. (2008). Intermediate highly active antiretroviral therapy adherence thresholds and empirical models for the development of drug resistance mutations. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 47(3), 397-399. https://doi.org/10.1097/qai.0b013e31815b0d35

Reynolds, N. R., Sun, J., Nagaraja, H. N., Gifford, A. L., Wu, A. W., & Chesney, M. A. (2007). Optimizing Measurement of Self-Reported Adherence With the ACTG
Adherence Questionnaire: A Cross-Protocol Analysis. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 46(4).

https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2007/12010/Optimizing_Measurement_of Self_Reported_Adherence.5.aspx

- Robertson, M. M., Braunstein, S. L., Hoover, D. R., Li, S., & Nash, D. (2020). Estimates of the Time From Seroconversion to Antiretroviral Therapy Initiation Among People Newly Diagnosed With Human Immunodeficiency Virus From 2006 to 2015, New York City. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *71*(8), e308-e315. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz1178
- Rzeszutek, M. (2018). A longitudinal analysis of posttraumatic growth and affective well-being among people living with HIV: The moderating role of received and provided social support. *PloS One*, *13*(8), e0201641.
- Saracino, A., Lorenzini, P., Lo Caputo, S., Girardi, E., Castelli, F., Bonfanti, P., Rusconi, S., Caramello, P., Abrescia, N., Mussini, C., Monno, L., & d'Arminio Monforte, A. (2016). Increased risk of virologic failure to the first antiretroviral regimen in HIV-infected migrants compared to natives: data from the ICONA cohort. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 22(3), 288.e281-288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2015.10.026
- Sarna, A., Sebastian, M., Bachani, D., Sogarwal, R., & Battala, M. (2014). Pretreatment loss-to-follow-up after HIV diagnosis from 27 counseling and testing centers

across India: findings from a cohort study. *J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care*, *13*(3), 223-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1545109712469686</u>

- Shang, H., & Zhang, L. (2015). MSM and HIV-1 infection in China. National Science Review, 2(4), 388-391. https://doi.org/10.1093/nsr/nwv060
- Shao, J., Chang, E. S., & Chen, C. (2018). The relative importance of parent–child dynamics and minority stress on the psychological adjustment of LGBs in China. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 65(5), 598-604.

https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000281

- Shufang Sun, J. E. P., Xiaoming Li, Don Operario. (2020). Addressing minority stress and mental health among men who have sex with men (MSM) in China. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-019-00479-w</u>.
- Stirratt, M. J., Dunbar-Jacob, J., Crane, H. M., Simoni, J. M., Czajkowski, S., Hilliard, M. E., Aikens, J. E., Hunter, C. M., Velligan, D. I., Huntley, K., Ogedegbe, G., Rand, C. S., Schron, E., & Nilsen, W. J. (2015). Self-report measures of medication adherence behavior: recommendations on optimal use. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, *5*(4), 470-482. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13142-015-0315-2</u>
- Tang, H., Mao, Y., Shi, C. X., Han, J., Wang, L., Xu, J., Qin, Q., Detels, R., & Wu, Z.
 (2014). Baseline CD4 cell counts of newly diagnosed HIV cases in China: 2006–2012. *PloS One*, 9(6), e96098.
- Tully, D. C., Ogilvie, C. B., Batorsky, R. E., Bean, D. J., Power, K. A., Ghebremichael,M., Bedard, H. E., Gladden, A. D., Seese, A. M., & Amero, M. A. (2016).Differences in the selection bottleneck between modes of sexual transmission

influence the genetic composition of the HIV-1 founder virus. *PLoS Pathogens*, *12*(5), e1005619.

UNAIDS. (2021). UNAIDS DATA 2021. Retrieved Feb. 10 from

https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2021/2021_unaids_data

- World Health Organization. (2022). *Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes*. Retrieved Feb. 20 from <u>https://www.who.int/teams/global-hiv-hepatitis-and-stis-</u> programmes/populations/men-who-have-sex-with-men
- Wu, Z. (2015). Analysis of Global and China HIV/AIDS epidemic and prevention strategy. *Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention*.
- Wu, Z., Sullivan, S. G., Wang, Y., Rotheram-Borus, M. J., & Detels, R. (2007).
 Evolution of China's response to HIV/AIDS. *Lancet*, *369*(9562), 679-690.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60315-8
- Xia, Q., Robbins, R. S., Lazar, R., Torian, L. V., & Braunstein, S. L. (2017). Racial and socioeconomic disparities in viral suppression among persons living with HIV in New York City. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 27(5), 335-341.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2017.04.005

- Xiao, L., Qi, H., Wang, Y.-y., Wang, D., Wilkinson, M., Hall, B. J., Ungvari, G. S.,
 Wang, G., & Xiang, Y.-T. (2020). The prevalence of depression in men who have sex with men (MSM) with HIV infection: A meta-analysis of comparative and epidemiological studies. *J General Hospital Psychiatry*.
- Yan, H., Yang, H., Li, J., Wei, C., Xu, J., Liu, X., Xu, X., & McFarland, W. (2014a). Emerging disparity in HIV/AIDS disease progression and mortality for men who

have sex with men, Jiangsu Province, China. *AIDS Behav*, *18 Suppl 1*, S5-10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-013-0520-2

- Yan, H., Yang, H., Li, J., Wei, C., Xu, J., Liu, X., Xu, X., & McFarland, W. (2014b).
 Emerging disparity in HIV/AIDS disease progression and mortality for men who have sex with men, Jiangsu Province, China. *AIDS and Behavior*, 18(1), 5-10.
- Yang, X., Li, X., Qiao, S., Li, L., Parker, C., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2020). Intersectional stigma and psychosocial well-being among MSM living with HIV in Guangxi, China. *AIDS Care*, 32(sup2), 5-13.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2020.1739205

- Yu, S. C., Lin, Y. H., & Hsu, W. H. (2013). Applying structural equation modeling to report psychometric properties of Chinese version 10-item CES-D depression scale. *Quality & Quantity*, 47(3), 1511-1518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-011-9604-0</u>
- Zhang, F. (2019). The HIV epidemic and PrEP in China. Hangzhou, China.
 <u>https://wwwmedmeetingorg/Content/126693</u> The 6th National Academic Conference on HIV/AIDS
- Zhang, L., Chow, E. P., Jing, J., Zhuang, X., Li, X., He, M., Sun, H., Li, X., Gorgens, M., Wilson, D., Wang, L., Guo, W., Li, D., Cui, Y., Wang, L., Wang, N., Wu, Z., & Wilson, D. P. (2013). HIV prevalence in China: integration of surveillance data and a systematic review. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *13*(11), 955-963. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(13)70245-7
- Zhang, Y., Liu, R., Li, G., Mao, S., & Yuan, Y. (2015). The reliability and validity of a Chinese-version Short Health Anxiety Inventory: an investigation of university

students. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, *11*, 1739-1747. https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S83501

- Zhao, J., Chen, L., Chaillon, A., Zheng, C., Cai, W., Yang, Z., Li, G., Gan, Y., Wang, X., Hu, Y., Zhong, P., Zhang, C., & Smith, D. M. (2016). The dynamics of the HIV epidemic among men who have sex with men (MSM) from 2005 to 2012 in Shenzhen, China. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 28703. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep28703</u>
- Zung, W. W. (1971). A rating instrument for anxiety disorders. *Psychosomatics: Journal* of Consultation and Liaison Psychiatry, 12(6), 371-379.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3182(71)71479-0

Variables	Overall	Non-MSM males (n=571)	MSM (n=193)	<i>p</i> - value
Age group				<.001
18-24	64 (8.3%)	13 (2.3%)	51 (26.4%)	
25-34	240 (31.1%)	137 (24.0%)	102 (52.8%)	
35-44	262 (33.9%)	225 (39.5%)	34 (17.6%)	
45+	204 (26.4%)	195 (34.2%)	6 (3.1%)	
Ethnicity	× ,			.48
Han	511 (66.2%)	377 (66.0%)	133 (68.9%)	
Minority	261 (33.8%)	194 (34.0%)	60 (31.1%)	
Marital status		. ,		<.001
Single	299 (38.7%)	134 (23.9%)	165 (85.5%)	
Married/life partner	369 (47.8%)	350 (62.4%)	13 (6.7%)	
Divorced/separated/widowed	93 (12.0%)	77 (13.7%)	15 (7.8%)	
Education				<.001
Middle school and below	410 (53.1%)	389 (68.1%)	17 (8.8%)	
High school	156 (20.2%)	108 (18.9%)	45 (23.3%)	
College and above	205 (26.6%)	74 (13.0%)	131 (67.9%)	
Employment				.004
Fulltime	518 (67.1%)	372 (65.8%)	144 (74.6%)	
Parttime	136 (17.6%)	115 (20.4%)	19 (9.8%)	
Unemployed/retired	111 (14.4%)	78 (13.8%)	30 (15.5%)	
Monthly household income				<.001
(CNY)				
<2,000	215 (27.8%)	188 (33.0%)	24 (12.5%)	
2,000-4,000	379 (49.1%)	295 (51.8%)	81 (42.2%)	
4,000 or above	174 (22.5%)	86 (15.1%)	87 (45.3%)	
Residence rurality				<.001
City	363 (47.0%)	202 (35.4%)	159 (82.4%)	
County	129 (16.7%)	106 (18.6%)	21 (10.9%)	
Rural	280 (36.3%)	263 (46.1%)	13 (6.7%)	

Table 5.1 Sociodemographic characteristics of men living with HIV at baseline assessment (n=772)

Note: Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and MSM status were conducted with Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test as appropriate

•	Baseline	Wave 2 (6-	Wave 3 (12-	Wave 4	Wave 5	Wave 6	Wave 7	<i>p</i> -
		month)	month)	(18-month)	(24-month)	(30-month)	(36-month)	value
Sample sizes (n, %)	772	769	751	749	743	743	735	
Attrition rates (n, %)	-	3 (0.4%)	21 (2.7%)	23 (3.0%)	29 (3.8%)	29 (3.8%)	37 (4.8%)	
Physical health								
outcomes								
CD4 count								.003
<500 cells/mm ³	448 (58.0%)	443 (57.4%)	419 (54.3%)	397 (51.4%)	388 (50.3%)	398 (51.6%)	389 (50.4%)	
\geq 500 cells/mm ³	323 (41.8%)	325 (42.1%)	321 (41.6%)	348 (45.1%)	355 (46.0%)	345 (44.7%)	346 (44.8%)	
Viral load								<.001
<50 copies/ml	663 (85.9%)	640 (82.9%)	663 (85.9%)	732 (94.8%)	710 (92.0%)	686 (88.9%)	659 (85.4%)	
≥50 copies/ml	108 (14.0%)	95 (12.3%)	78 (10.1%)	16 (2.1%)	32 (4.1%)	56 (7.3%)	75 (9.7%)	
Psychological health								
outcomes								
Depressive symptoms								<.001
(Mean, SD)	6.60 (4.24)	7.66 (5.08)	7.15 (4.78)	7.11 (4.89)	5.75 (4.20)	5.99 (4.71)	6.60 (4.71)	
Anxiety symptoms								<.001
(Mean, SD)	30.34 (6.72)	34.64 (6.35)	32.93 (5.60)	34.42 (6.10)	32.32 (5.40)	32.66 (6.78)	34.12 (7.07)	
Behavioral health								
outcome								
ART adherence (n, %)								.29
Optimal	306 (39.6%)	298 (38.6%)	292 (37.8%)	286 (37.0%)	300 (38.9%)	338 (43.8%)	302 (39.1%)	
Suboptimal	466 (60.4%)	474 (61.4%)	480 (62.2%)	486 (63.0%)	472 (61.1%)	434 (56.2%)	470 (60.9%)	

Table 5.2 Descriptive statistics of physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes across the seven waves

Note: Trends of continuous outcomes (i.e., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms) were tested with repeated measure analysis of variance (ANOVA); categorical outcomes (i.e., CD4 count, viral load, ART adherence) were tested with Cochran-Armitage trend tests.

			OD (050/						
			Frequ	ency (perce	ntage)			OR (95%)	p-
	Baseline	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5	Wave 6	Wave 7	CI)	value
MSM status									
Non MSM malas	365	363	346	336	331	329	322	Poforonco	
Non-Wistwi males	(63.92%)	(63.80%)	(62.68%)	(60.65%)	(59.96%)	(59.82%)	(59.08%)	Kelelelice	
MSM	79	76	70	57	54	65	64		<.00
IVISIVI	(40.93%)	(39.58%)	(38.46%)	(30.81%)	(29.19%)	(34.95%)	(34.78%)	.18 (.09, .35)	1
Age group									
18-24	31	27	22	21	20	22	17	Reference	
10-24	(48.44%)	(42.19%)	(35.48%)	(32.81%)	(31.25%)	(34.38%)	(26.56%)	Reference	
25-34	121	109	103	91	89	102	103	.75 (.24,	
25 54	(50.42%)	(45.80%)	(45.58%)	(40.09%)	(38.36%)	(43.97%)	(44.78%)	2.32)	.62
35-44	150	156	143	142	138	136	130	1.44 (.47,	
55 11	(57.25%)	(59.54%)	(56.97%)	(55.91%)	(55.65%)	(54.62%)	(53.72%)	4.42)	.52
45+	145	150	150	142	140	136	138	4.60 (1.42,	
	(71.08%)	(73.89%)	(75.00%)	(71.36%)	(70.71%)	(69.39%)	(69.70%)	14.89)	.01
Ethnicity									
Han	305	295	282	264	256	255	248	Reference	
1 Juli	(59.69%)	(57.84%)	(57.09%)	(53.33%)	(52.24%)	(52.15%)	(51.13%)	Reference	
Minority	143	148	137	133	132	143	141	.44 (.23, .84)	.01
	(55.00%)	(57.36%)	(55.69%)	(53.20%)	(52.17%)	(56.30%)	(56.40%)		
Marital status									
Single	155	146	129	121	115	129	121	Reference	
2	(51.84%)	(48.99%)	(45.26%)	(41.58%)	(39.79%)	(44.48%)	(42.46%)	a (a (a a)	
Married/life partner	235	240	232	223	224	219	214	2.62 (1.38,	.003
I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	(63.69%)	(65.40%)	(65.35%)	(62.99%)	(62.92%)	(61.69%)	(60.45%)	4.99)	
				10		. –	T 0	1.34 (.49,	.57
Divorced/separated/widowe	53	52	53	49	45	45	50	3.63)	
d .	(56.99%)	(55.91%)	(38.89%)	(54.44%)	(51.14%)	(51.72%)	(57.47%)		
Education									

Table	5.3	Bivariate	analyses	between	sociodemos	raphic	characteristics and	longitudinal	CD4 count
					~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~				

	269	269	262	247	239	241	241	4.13 (2.03,	<.00
Middle school and below	(65.61%)	(65.77%)	(65.66%)	(61.90%)	(60.20%)	(60.86%)	(61.32%)	8.39)	1
Uich achool	82	83	74	76	77	74	68	1.69 (.70,	
High school	(52.56%)	(53.90%)	(51.39%)	(51.35%)	(51.33%)	(49.66%)	(46.26%)	4.08)	.24
College and above	97	91	83	74	72	82	80	Deference	
College and above	(47.32%)	(44.39%)	(42.13%)	(37.37%)	(36.73%)	(41.62%)	(41.03%)	Reference	
Employment									
Fulltime	288	290	267	248	243	257	252	Pafaranca	
Fultime	(55.60%)	(56.09%)	(53.51%)	(49.70%)	(48.60%)	(51.61%)	(51.01%)	Kelelelice	
Parttime	83	76	81	77	72	74	72	1.43 (.64,	
1 arttime	(61.03%)	(56.30%)	(62.31%)	(57.46%)	(55.38%)	(56.49%)	(55.81%)	3.20)	.38
Unemployed/retired	74	74	68	70	71	64	63	2.83 (1.15,	
enemployed/tetried	(66.67%)	(67.27%)	(64.76%)	(66.04%)	(66.36%)	(59.81%)	(59.43%)	6.95)	.02
Monthly household income									
(CNY)									
<2 000	143	136	131	132	130	131	132	3.93 (1.67,	
(2,000	(66.51%)	(63.85%)	(63.59%)	(63.16%)	(62.20%)	(62.68%)	(63.46%)	9.24)	.002
2,000-4,000	225	232	217	198	192	198	195	3.34 (1.56,	
2,000 1,000	(59.37%)	(61.38%)	(59.29%)	(54.40%)	(52.60%)	(54.40%)	(53.87%)	7.14)	.002
4 000 or above	78	73	69	65	64	66	60	Reference	
	(44.83%)	(41.95%)	(41.82%)	(38.46%)	(38.55%)	(39.76%)	(37.04%)	iterenere	
Residence rurality									
City	178	177	157	147	145	150	144	Reference	
010	(49.04%)	(49.03%)	(45.51%)	(41.64%)	(41.31%)	(42.74%)	(41.26%)		
County	66	68	68	63	59	70	71	.57 (.25,	
e o unity	(51.16%)	(53.13%)	(55.28%)	(51.22%)	(47.97%)	(56.91%)	(58.68%)	1.34)	.20
Rural	204	198	194	187	184	178	174	6.13 (3.08,	<.00
1 wini	(73.12%)	(70.97%)	(71.32%)	(69.52%)	(68.40%)	(66.17%)	(65.66%)	12.18)	1

Note: Bivariate analyses between socio-demographic characteristics and longitudinal CD4 count were conducted with univariate generalized linear mixed model (GLMM).

		Vii	copies/ml vs		Odda Datia				
			Frequ	ency (percer	ntage)			- (05% CI)	<i>p</i> - volue
	Baseline	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5	Wave 6	Wave 7	(93 /0 CI)	value
MSM status									
Non-MSM males	55 (9.63%)	49 (8.93%)	34 (6.15%)	9 (1.62%)	19 (3.45%)	31 (5.65%)	35 (6.43%)	Reference	
MSM	52 (26.94%)	44 (24.58%)	44 (24.18%)	7 (3.78%)	13 (7.03%)	24 (12.90%)	40 (21.74%)	6.74 (2.98, 15.28)	<.00 1
Age group									
18-24	15 (23.44%)	10 (15.87%)	15 (23.44%)	1 (1.56%)	2 (3.13%)	8 (12.50%)	19 (29.69%)	Reference	
25-34	46 (19.17%)	43 (19.20%)	38 (16.89%)	8 (3.48%)	16 (6.90%)	22 (9.48%)	25 (10.87%)	3.10 (.83, 11.54)	.09
35-44	26 (9.92%)	23 (9.27%)	19 (7.54%)	7 (2.76%)	9 (3.63%)	13 (5.22%)	21 (8.68%)	.44 (.11, 1.72)	.24
45+	21 (10.29%)	19 (9.55%)	6 (3.02%)	0 (.00%)	5 (2.53%)	13 (6.63%)	10 (5.05%)	.80 (.19, 3.38)	.76
Ethnicity	. ,					. ,	. ,		
Han	65 (12.72%)	64 (13.01%)	43 (8.74%)	8 (1.61%)	25 (5.10%)	33 (6.75%)	47 (9.69%)	Reference	
Minority	43 (16.54%)	31 (12.76%)	35 (14.06%)	8 (3.19%)	7 (2.78%)	23 (9.09%)	28 (11.24%)	1.74 (.80, 3.81)	.16
Marital status									
Single	66 (22.07%)	55 (19.30%)	51 (17.83%)	8 (2.75%)	16 (5.54%)	27 (9.31%)	44 (15.44%)	Reference	
Married/life partner	31 (8.40%)	32 (9.04%)	19 (5.34%)	6 (1.68%)	10 (2.82%)	22 (6.21%)	25 (7.08%)	.14 (.06, .33)	<.00 1
Divorced/separated/widowe d	11 (11.83%)	8 (9.30%)	8 (8.99%)	2 (2.22%)	6 (6.82%)	7 (8.05%)	6 (6.90%)	.23 (.07, .82)	.02
Education									

Table 5.4 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and longitudinal viral load

Middle school and below	36 (8.78%)	35 (8.91%)	28 (7.04%)	9 (2.24%)	12 (3.02%)	21 (5.30%)	19 (4.83%)	.24 (.10, .59)	.002
High school	21 (13.46%)	23 (15.75%)	15 (10.27%)	3 (2.01%)	7 (4.67%)	12 (8.05%)	19 (12.93%)	.35 (.12, 1.00)	.05
College and above	51 (24.88%)	37 (18.88%)	35 (17.77%)	4 (2.02%)	13 (6.67%)	23 (11.73%)	37 (19.07%)	Reference	
Employment	(()	()		(0.0177)	(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	()		
Fulltime	79 (15.25%)	63 (12.83%)	55 (11.00%)	10 (2.00%)	22 (4.41%)	43 (8.65%)	56 (11.36%)	Reference	
Parttime	14 (10.29%)	17 (12.98%)	17 (12.98%)	3 (2.24%)	7 (5.38%)	7 (5.34%)	9 (6.98%)	.85 (.31, 2.33)	.75
Unemployed/retired	13 (11.71%)	13 (12.04%)	5 (4.81%)	2 (1.87%)	3 (2.80%)	6 (5.61%)	9 (8.49%)	.81 (.26, 2.53)	.71
Monthly household income									
(CNY)									
<2,000	21 (9.77%)	24 (11.82%)	15 (7.28%)	6 (2.86%)	11 (5.26%)	17 (8.13%)	20 (9.62%)	.16 (.06, .46)	<.00 1
2,000-4,000	49 (12.93%)	42 (11.38%)	37 (10.11%)	5 (1.37%)	13 (3.56%)	25 (6.87%)	31 (8.56%)	.29 (.12, .71)	.007
4,000 or above	37 (21.26%)	29 (18.13%)	26 (15.66%)	5 (2.96%)	8 (4.85%)	14 (8.48%)	24 (14.91%)	Reference	
Residence rurality									
City	70 (19.28%)	59 (17.20%)	49 (14.16%)	6 (1.70%)	17 (4.86%)	29 (8.29%)	46 (13.22%)	Reference	
County	13 (10.08%)	11 (9.09%)	13 (10.48%)	4 (3.23%)	2 (1.63%)	6 (4.88%)	10 (8.26%)	.32 (.10, .97)	.04
Rural	25 (8.96%)	25 (9.23%)	16 (5.90%)	6 (2.21%)	13 (4.83%)	21 (7.81%)	19 (7.17%)	.18 (.08, .43)	<.00 1

Note: Bivariate analyses between socio-demographic characteristics and longitudinal viral load were conducted with univariate generalized linear mixed model (GLMM).

¥			Dep	oressive sym	ptoms	•		Mean	<i>p</i> -
			_	Mean (SD)			difference	value
	Baseline	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5	Wave 6	Wave 7	_	
MSM status									
Non-MSM males	6.14	7.71	7.16	7.05	5.56	5.90	6.57	Reference	
	(4.13)	(5.15)	(4.84)	(4.93)	(4.14)	(4.72)	(4.59)		
MSM	7.89	7.67	7.23	7.33	6.33	6.30	6.70	.48	.06
	(4.34)	(4.91)	(4.63)	(4.81)	(4.36)	(4.72)	(5.08)		
Age group									
18-24	7.92	7.27	7.09	6.27	5.88	6.27	6.78	Reference	
	(4.56)	(4.54)	(4.14)	(4.41)	(3.69)	(4.23)	(4.84)		
25-34	6.90	8.18	7.50	7.26	5.91	6.06	6.77	.16	.71
	(4.64)	(5.29)	(5.17)	(5.08)	(4.27)	(4.83)	(5.01)		
35-44	6.28	7.44	6.85	7.45	5.97	5.98	6.77	10	.81
	(4.04)	(5.03)	(4.61)	(4.98)	(4.51)	(4.80)	(4.45)		
45+	6.23	7.46	7.18	6.75	5.25	5.85	6.13	38	.39
	(3.79)	(5.06)	(4.73)	(4.68)	(3.82)	(4.64)	(4.64)		
Ethnicity									
Han	6.57	7.94	7.15	7.32	5.65	6.19	6.87	Reference	
	(4.09)	(5.17)	(4.80)	(4.96)	(4.30)	(4.91)	(4.72)		
Minority	6.66	7.12	7.15	6.69	5.95	5.62	6.08	35	.14
	(4.53)	(4.86)	(4.77)	(4.75)	(3.99)	(4.27)	(4.65)		
Marital status									
Single	6.97	7.50	6.84	7.19	5.74	6.03	6.73	Reference	
-	(4.37)	(4.89)	(4.72)	(4.92)	(4.07)	(4.69)	(4.82)		
Married/life partner	6.19	7.82	7.36	6.85	5.70	5.98	6.53	08	.73
_	(3.96)	(5.17)	(4.85)	(4.65)	(4.29)	(4.67)	(4.64)		
Divorced/separated/widowed	7.32	7.68	7.53	7.98	6.01	5.90	6.48	.27	.46
-	(4.69)	(5.51)	(4.85)	(5.67)	(4.35)	(5.04)	(4.61)		
Education									
Middle school and below	5.95	7.79	7.10	7.21	5.64	6.03	6.86	24	.37
	(3.74)	(5.29)	(4.94)	(5.03)	(4.26)	(4.81)	(4.72)		

Table 5.5 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and depressive symptoms

II ab ash asl	C 01	7.40	7.26	(7)	5 77	5.62	6.04	25	20
High school	(4.72)	7.49	7.50	0.72	3.77	3.03	(1.24)	55	.29
	(4.73)	(4.21)	(4.55)	(4.54)	(3.90)	(4.54)	(4.24)	D (
College and above	1.14	7.52	/.11	7.20	5.97	6.21	6.50	Reference	
	(4.55)	(5.29)	(4.67)	(5.02)	(4.32)	(4.67)	(5.01)		
Employment									
Fulltime	6.53	7.59	7.26	7.03	5.70	5.74	6.20	Reference	
	(3.96)	(4.72)	(4.68)	(4.83)	(4.02)	(4.42)	(4.54)		
Parttime	6.38	7.74	6.75	7.09	5.52	6.65	7.44	.22	.46
	(4.26)	(6.16)	(4.97)	(5.02)	(4.47)	(5.34)	(4.79)		
Unemployed/retired	7.18	7.86	7.00	7.32	6.09	6.32	7.40	.45	.16
	(5.33)	(5.28)	(5.00)	(4.99)	(4.61)	(5.20)	(5.18)		
Monthly household income									
(CNY)									
<2,000	6.66	7.83	7.12	7.61	6.01	6.07	6.88	.85	.006
	(5.07)	(5.65)	(4.90)	(5.43)	(4.61)	(5.23)	(4.84)		
2,000-4,000	6.45	8.19	7.69	7.30	5.91	6.18	6.65	.88	.002
	(3.78)	(4.80)	(4.68)	(4.53)	(4.10)	(4.48)	(4.68)		
4,000 or above	6.88	6.34	6.10	6.10	5.10	5.54	6.17	Reference	
,	(4.07)	(4.76)	(4.72)	(4.84)	(3.79)	(4.55)	(4.64)		
Residence rurality					()				
City	6.92	7.36	6.85	6.85	5.86	6.14	6.62	Reference	
•	(4.56)	(5.12)	(4.68)	(4.79)	(4.40)	(4.81)	(4.84)		
County	6.15	6.98	6.02	6.62	5.20	5.50	6.74	49	.12
•	(3.96)	(5.24)	(4.79)	(4.89)	(4.23)	(5.05)	(4.79)		
Rural	6.39	8.37	8.07	7.67	5.87	6.03	6.53	.33	.17
	(3.91)	(4.88)	(4.76)	(4.99)	(3.89)	(4.42)	(4.52)		

Note: Bivariate analyses between socio-demographic characteristics and longitudinal depressive symptoms were conducted with repeated measure analysis of variance (ANOVA).

¥		<u> </u>	Ar	nxiety sympt	toms			Mean	<i>p</i> -
				Mean (SD))			difference	value
	Baseline	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5	Wave 6	Wave 7	_	
MSM status									
Non-MSM males	29.98	34.73	32.69	34.47	32.15	32.52	34.36	Reference	
	(6.97)	(6.51)	(5.40)	(6.22)	(5.34)	(6.92)	(7.29)		
MSM	31.66	33.78	33.65	34.17	32.78	32.98	33.50	.23	.54
	(6.23)	(5.57)	(6.35)	(5.61)	(5.53)	(6.14)	(6.52)		
Age group									
18-24	31.38	35.13	33.95	34.25	32.79	33.46	34.74	Reference	
	(6.36)	(5.70)	(6.27)	(5.29)	(5.02)	(5.53)	(6.45)		
25-34	30.67	34.89	33.38	34.00	32.33	33.05	34.43	42	.49
	(7.49)	(6.49)	(6.29)	(5.80)	(5.10)	(6.60)	(6.94)		
35-44	29.92	34.54	32.87	35.10	32.70	32.27	34.62	52	.38
	(6.98)	(6.75)	(5.46)	(6.42)	(5.98)	(7.60)	(7.45)		
45+	30.29	33.71	32.07	33.96	31.61	32.27	33.04	-1.25	.04
	(5.91)	(5.68)	(4.79)	(6.12)	(4.97)	(6.08)	(7.01)		
Ethnicity									
Han	30.43	34.80	32.84	34.69	32.33	32.97	34.81	Reference	
	(6.83)	(6.43)	(5.58)	(6.10)	(5.62)	(7.11)	(7.36)		
Minority	30.26	33.81	33.02	33.76	32.23	31.90	32.79	73	.03
	(6.79)	(6.01)	(5.79)	(5.97)	(4.86)	(5.86)	(6.38)		
Marital status									
Single	30.69	34.35	33.06	34.12	32.16	32.95	33.92	Reference	
	(6.73)	(5.99)	(6.03)	(5.85)	(4.89)	(6.62)	(6.57)		
Married/life partner	30.00	34.83	32.68	34.60	32.37	32.32	34.42	01	.98
	(6.37)	(6.68)	(5.45)	(6.13)	(5.70)	(6.79)	(7.53)		
Divorced/separated/widowed	31.36	33.31	33.18	34.38	32.21	32.40	33.69	11	.85
	(8.70)	(5.96)	(5.36)	(6.61)	(5.64)	(6.98)	(7.22)		
Education									
Middle school and below	29.74	34.78	32.64	34.66	32.22	32.55	34.87	.001	.99
	(6.24)	(6.67)	(5.64)	(6.43)	(5.57)	(7.33)	(7.74)		

Table 5.6 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and anxiety symptoms
High school	30.62	34.42	32.79	34.10	32.15	32.43	33.45	22	.65
	(7.52)	(6.01)	(4.88)	(5.55)	(4.71)	(5.95)	(5.77)		
College and above	31.50	33.85	33.52	34.01	32.57	32.88	33.14	Reference	
-	(7.25)	(5.72)	(6.17)	(5.66)	(5.47)	(5.99)	(6.50)		
Employment									
Fulltime	30.06	34.11	32.62	34.21	31.84	32.16	33.40	Reference	
	(5.94)	(5.77)	(5.21)	(6.23)	(4.72)	(6.47)	(6.67)		
Parttime	30.32	35.44	33.33	34.59	32.59	33.73	36.13	1.11	.01
	(7.44)	(7.14)	(5.93)	(5.61)	(5.51)	(7.28)	(7.57)		
Unemployed/retired	32.04	35.02	33.35	34.48	33.79	33.16	34.84	1.19	.01
	(9.22)	(7.43)	(7.02)	(5.67)	(7.36)	(7.01)	(7.99)		
Monthly household income									
(CNY)									
<2,000	31.59	35.04	33.30	34.77	33.24	32.69	34.39	1.48	.001
	(9.07)	(7.28)	(6.36)	(6.19)	(6.49)	(6.97)	(7.17)		
2,000-4,000	29.96	34.93	33.12	34.77	32.30	32.68	34.39	1.07	.01
	(5.70)	(5.85)	(5.23)	(6.05)	(4.89)	(6.74)	(7.21)		
4,000 or above	29.87	32.79	31.95	33.12	31.15	32.42	33.38	Reference	
	(5.49)	(5.70)	(5.53)	(5.82)	(4.64)	(6.50)	(6.80)		
Residence rurality									
City	30.77	33.92	32.84	33.97	32.38	32.72	33.75	Reference	
	(6.84)	(6.04)	(5.84)	(5.81)	(5.56)	(6.40)	(6.59)		
County	28.76	33.56	32.14	33.74	31.63	31.84	34.89	54	.24
	(6.45)	(6.12)	(5.23)	(5.42)	(4.99)	(7.20)	(7.88)		
Rural	30.60	35.54	33.31	35.18	32.49	32.82	34.28	.55	.12
	(6.86)	(6.58)	(5.57)	(6.58)	(5.31)	(6.93)	(7.36)		

Note: Bivariate analyses between socio-demographic characteristics and longitudinal anxiety symptoms were conducted with repeated measure analysis of variance (ANOVA).

			OD (059/						
			Frequ	iency (perce	ntage)			- CD	<i>p</i> -
	Baseline	Wave 2	Wave 3	Wave 4	Wave 5	Wave 6	Wave 7	CI)	value
MSM status									
Non MSM malag	385	386	392	397	389	357	389	Deference	
Non-Wistwi males	(67.43%)	(67.60%)	(68.65%)	(69.53%)	(68.13%)	(62.52%)	(68.13%)	Reference	
MSM	73	83	83	84	78	73	76		<.00
1013101	(37.82%)	(43.01%)	(43.01%)	(43.52%)	(40.41%)	(37.82%)	(39.38%)	.11 (.05, .22)	1
Age group									
18 24	23	28	27	27	24	23	23	Pafaranca	
10-24	(35.94%)	(43.75%)	(42.19%)	(42.19%)	(37.50%)	(35.94%)	(35.94%)	Kelefelice	
25.34	128	120	130	137	124	123	126	2.39 (.73,	
25-54	(53.33%)	(50.00%)	(54.17%)	(57.08%)	(51.67%)	(51.25%)	(52.50%)	7.79)	.15
35-44	179	177	177	174	179	151	177	10.40 (3.20,	<.00
	(68.32%)	(67.56%)	(67.56%)	(66.41%)	(68.32%)	(57.63%)	(67.56%)	33.85)	1
45	134	147	144	146	143	136	142	8.44 (2.51,	<.00
43+	(65.69%)	(72.06%)	(70.59%)	(71.57%)	(70.10%)	(66.67%)	(69.61%)	28.39)	1
Ethnicity									
Han	305	311	313	316	316	284	318	Pafaranca	
Hall	(59.69%)	(60.86%)	(61.25%)	(61.84%)	(61.84%)	(55.58%)	(62.23%)	Reference	
Minority	161	163	167	170	156	150	152	1.69 (.87,	
Winfortty	(61.69%)	(62.45%)	(63.98%)	(65.13%)	(59.77%)	(57.47%)	(58.24%)	3.29)	.12
Marital status									
Single	148	153	157	162	142	133	147	Reference	
Single	(49.50%)	(51.17%)	(52.51%)	(54.18%)	(47.49%)	(44.48%)	(49.16%)	Reference	
Married/life partner	255	257	261	261	266	242	258	3.99 (2.05,	<.00
Married/me partier	(69.11%)	(69.65%)	(70.73%)	(70.73%)	(72.09%)	(65.58%)	(69.92%)	7.77)	1
Divorced/separated/widowe	54	56	54	55	57	54	59	1.25 (.45,	
d	(58.06%)	(60.22%)	(58.06%)	(59.14%)	(61.29%)	(58.06%)	(63.44%)	3.47)	.67
Education									

Table 5.7 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and longitudinal ART adherence

Middle askest and below	278	280	283	286	281	253	278	9.57 (4.62,	<.00
Middle school and below	(67.80%)	(68.29%)	(69.02%)	(69.76%)	(68.54%)	(61.71%)	(67.80%)	19.82)	1
High school	101	103	101	102	100	94	99	7.69 (3.07,	<.00
Tingii school	(64.74%)	(66.03%)	(64.74%)	(65.38%)	(64.10%)	(60.26%)	(63.46%)	19.22)	1
College and above	86	90	95	97	90	87	92	Reference	
Conege and above	(41.95%)	(43.90%)	(46.34%)	(47.32%)	(43.90%)	(42.44%)	(44.88%)	Reference	
Employment									
Fulltime	318	319	322	321	314	287	312	Reference	
i unume	(61.39%)	(61.58%)	(62.16%)	(61.97%)	(60.62%)	(55.41%)	(60.23%)		
Parttime	78	82	85	89	85	81	91	.46 (.20,	
	(57.35%)	(60.29%)	(62.50%)	(65.44%)	(62.50%)	(59.56%)	(66.91%)	1.04)	.06
Unemployed/retired	65	66	67	69	67	61	61	.82 (.33,	
	(58.56%)	(59.46%)	(60.36%)	(62.16%)	(60.36%)	(54.95%)	(54.95%)	2.05)	.68
Monthly household income									
(CNY)									
<2.000	141	139	143	147	145	131	132	3.68 (1.53,	
,	(65.58%)	(64.65%)	(66.51%)	(68.37%)	(67.44%)	(60.93%)	(61.40%)	8.82)	.004
2,000-4,000	236	243	241	244	239	221	248	2.15 (.99,	
_,	(62.27%)	(64.12%)	(63.59%)	(64.38%)	(63.06%)	(58.31%)	(65.44%)	4.69)	.05
4.000 or above	86	89	93	92	85	80	87	Reference	
	(49.43%)	(51.15%)	(53.45%)	(52.87%)	(48.85%)	(45.98%)	(50.00%)		
Residence rurality		• • • •							
City	190	200	203	205	200	192	193	Reference	
	(52.34%)	(55.10%)	(55.92%)	(56.47%)	(55.10%)	(52.89%)	(53.17%)		
County	82	82	87	90	86	76	89	2.19 (.92,	
	(63.57%)	(63.57%)	(67.44%)	(69.77%)	(66.67%)	(58.91%)	(68.99%)	5.25)	.08
Rural	194	192	190	191	186	166	188	4.39 (2.20,	<.00
ixui ai	(69.29%)	(68.57%)	(67.86%)	(68.21%)	(66.43%)	(59.29%)	(67.14%)	8.76)	1

Note: Bivariate analyses between socio-demographic characteristics and longitudinal ART adherence were conducted with univariate generalized linear mixed model (GLMM).

		Ur	conditional			Conditional					
	Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> - value of Wald test	Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test	
	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value		Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value		
Means			,								
Intercept (OR)	10.88 (5.27, 22.44)	<.001	.34 (.15, .78)	.01	<.001	.18 (.01, 3.85)	.27	.15 (.02, .95)	.04	.87	
Slope (OR)	.90 (.78, 1.04)	.14	.69 (.54, .87)	.002	.85	.49 (.22, 1.08)	.08	.66 (.39, 1.13)	.13	.49	
Variances											
Intercept	38.99 (22.06, 55.93)	<.001	17.07 (6.54, 27.61)	.001	.39	31.98 (18.33, 45.64)	<.00 1	14.52 (5.68, 23.36)	.001	.34	
Slope	.58 (.22, .94)	.002	.73 (.21, 1.24)	.005	.64	.49 (.26, .72)	<.00 1	.53 (.12, .94)	.01	.99	
Correlation											
Intercept with slope	04 (43, .34)	.83	.16 (28, .60)	.49	.53	04 (43, .35)	.85	.24 (22, .69)	.31	.84	

Table 5.8 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of CD4 count<500 cells/mm³

Note: Linear trend was assumed. Conditional model adjusted for age, ethnicity, marital status, education attainment, employment, monthly household income, and residence rurality. Odds Ratios are reported for means; coefficients are reported for variances and correlations. Means and variances were unstandardized; correlations were standardized. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.

		Un	conditional			Conditional				
	Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test	Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test
	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value		Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	
Means					-					-
Intercept (OR)	2.3E-05 (9.41E-08, .01)	<.001	.12 (.04, .33)	<.001	<.001	.07 (.00, 10.34)	.29	.08 (.01, .54)	.01	.29
Slope (OR)	64.65 (3.03, 1380.22)	.008	1.19 (.57, 2.45)	.65	<.001	.17 (.00, 21.61)	.48	.81 (.25, 2.68)	.73	.30
Quadratic (OR)	.47 (.29, .76)	.002	.90 (.77, 1.04)	.16	<.001	1.22 (.53, 2.81)	.64	1.05 (.84, 1.30)	.68	.23
Variances										
Intercept	81.59 (-40.39, 203.58)	.19	12.44 (.35, 24.52)	.04	.08	56.11 (11.25, 100.97)	.01	10.87 (.85, 20.90)	.03	.20
Slope	20.56 (-13.86, 54.98)	.24	3.74 (52, 7.99)	.09	.15	14.01 (.82, 27.19)	.04	2.91 (38, 6.21)	.08	.31
Quadratic	.49 (24, 1.22)	.19	.16 (.01, .31)	.04	.05	.36 (.03, .69)	.03	.13 (.00, .25)	.05	.10
Correlations										
Intercept with slope	98 (-1.00, - .95)	<.001	83 (-1.02, - .65)	<.001	.14	99 (-1.01, - .98)	<.001	85 (-1.03, 68)	<.00 1	.30
Intercept with quadratic	.90 (.80, 1.00)	<.001	.60 (.33, .87)	<.001	.15	.92 (.84, 1.00)	<.001	.60 (.30, .89)	<.00 1	.31
Slope with quadratic	96 (-1.00, - .92)	<.001	94 (98, - .89)	<.001	.10	96 (99, - .92)	<.001	93 (99, - .87)	<.00 1	.20

Table 5.9 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of viral load≥50 copies/ml

Note: Quadratic trend was assumed. Conditional model adjusted for age, ethnicity, marital status, education attainment, employment, monthly household income, and residence rurality. Odds Ratios are reported for means; coefficients are reported for variances and correlations. Means and variances were unstandardized; correlations were standardized. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.

		Ur	nconditional		•	Conditional				
	Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test	Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test
	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value		Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	
Means	i		· ·		-	. <u> </u>				-
Intercept	7.75 (7.31, 8.19)	<.001	7.75 (7.12, 8.39)	<.001	.99	6.03 (4.64, 7.43)	<.001	7.28 (5.86, 8.69)	<.001	.22
Slope	33 (42,24)	<.001	24 (35, - .12)	<.001	.21	25 (66, .17)	.24	36 (62, - .10)	.008	.66
Variances			,			,				
Intercept	9.21 (6.62, 11.79)	<.001	8.82 (6.03, 11.62)	<.001	.84	8.09 (5.67, 10.51)	<.001	8.03 (5.33, 10.72)	<.001	.97
Slope	.18 (.08, .27)	.001	.10 (02, .23)	.09	.38	.12 (.03, .22)	.01	.07 (05, .18)	.26	.45
Correlation										
Intercept with slope	65 (81,50)	<.001	.25 (26, .76)	.33	<.001	66 (84, - .47)	<.001	.41 (43, 1.25)	.34	.001

Table 5.10 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of depressive symptoms
--

Note: Linear trend was assumed. Conditional model adjusted for age, ethnicity, marital status, education attainment, employment, monthly household income, and residence rurality. Means and variances were unstandardized; correlations were standardized. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.

	_	U	Inconditional			Conditional					
Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test	Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test		
	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p-</i> value		Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p-</i> value		
Means					_					-	
Intercept	33.94 (33.38, 34.51)	<.001	34.21 (33.41, 35.02)	<.001	.59	32.32 (30.21, 34.43)	<.00 1	34.16 (32.56, 35.76)	<.001	.17	
Slope	20 (32, - .08)	.001	19 (33,04)	.01	.91	.05 (60, .70)	.88	34 (64, - .04)	.02	.28	
Variances											
Intercept	22.35 (13.25, 31.46)	<.001	16.26 (11.35, 21.17)	<.001	.25	20.36 (12.08, 28.65)	<.00 1	13.80 (9.39, 18.20)	<.001	.17	
Slope	.65 (.34, .96)	<.001	.08 (18, .35)	.54	.007	.54 (.24, .84)	<.00 1	02 (23, .19)	.83	.003	
Correlation Intercept with slope	66 (81, - .50)	<.001	.34 (76, 1.44)	.54	.001	68 (84, - .52)	<.00 1	.64 (11, 1.39)	.10	.001	

Table 5.11 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of anxiety symptoms

slope.50)........................Note: Linear trend was assumed. Conditional model adjusted for age, ethnicity, marital status, education attainment, employment,
monthly household income, and residence rurality. Means and variances were unstandardized; correlations were standardized. After
Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.11.39)

		Un	conditional		Conditional					
	Non-MSM males	5	MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test	Non-MSM males		MSM		<i>p</i> -value of Wald test
	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p-</i> value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value		Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	Estimate (95% CI)	<i>p-</i> value	
Means			· · ·					· · ·		-
Intercept (OR)	16.23 (8.42, 31.28)	<.001	.39 (.17, .90)	.03	<.001	.06 (.00, 1.58)	.09	.11 (.01, .96)	.05	.38
Slope (OR)	.84 (.74, .94)	.003	.95 (.84, 1.07)	.38	.24	1.11 (.73, 1.70)	.62	1.00 (.76, 1.32)	.99	.47
Variance										
Intercept	28.01 (18.52, 37.50)	<.001	25.75 (8.74, 42.76)	.003	.27	26.25 (17.36, 35.15)	<.001	24.22 (8.85, 39.60)	.002	.33
Slope	.23 (.10, .36)	.001	.12 (02, .25)	.10	.97	.20 (.07, .33)	.002	.03 (07, .14)	.52	.78
Correlation										
Intercept with slope	78 (99,57)	<.001	.07 (-1.04, 1.17)	.91	.36	82 (-1.01, - .63)	<.001	.29 (-1.45, 2.03)	.75	.23

Table 5.12 Unconditional and conditional latent growth curve models of ART adherence

Note: Linear trend was assumed. Conditional model adjusted for age, ethnicity, marital status, education attainment, employment, monthly household income, and residence rurality. Odds Ratios are reported for means; coefficients are reported for variances and correlations. Means and variances were unstandardized; correlations were standardized. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.



Figure 5.1 The trend in percentage of viral load≥50 copies/ml by study waves



Figure 5.2 The trend in percentage of CD5 count <500 cells/mm³ by study waves



Figure 5.3 The trend in depressive symptoms by study waves



Figure 5.4 The trend in anxiety symptoms by study waves



Figure 5.5 The trend in percentage of suboptimal ART adherence by study waves



Figure 5.6 Sample proportions and conditional estimated probabilities of CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ among non-MSM males and MSM



A. Non-MSM

B. MSM

Figure 5.7 Sample proportions and conditional estimated probabilities of viral load >50 copies/ml among non-MSM males and MSM



Figure 5.8 Sample and conditional estimated means of depressive symptoms among non-MSM males and MSM

A. Non-MSM

B. MSM



A. Non-MSM



Figure 5.9 Sample and conditional estimated means of anxiety symptoms among non-MSM males and MSM



Figure 5.10 Sample proportions and conditional estimated probabilities of suboptimal ART adherence among non-MSM males and MSM

CHAPTER 6

IMPACT OF INTERSECTIONAL STIGMA ON HEALTH OUTCOMES AMONG MSM LIVING WITH HIV

6.1 Abstract

Background: Men who have sex with men (MSM) living with HIV are exposed to multiple layered stigmas, including but not limited to stigmas related to their HIV seropositive status and sexual and gender minority (SGM) identity. The synergistic effect of intersectional stigma may place MSM living with HIV at higher risk of adverse psychological and behavioral conditions, potentially exacerbating disease progress. Instead of considering each stigmatized identity separately and simply summing the impacts, this study examined the main effect and interactive effect of HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes among MSM living with HIV.

Method: Data were derived from a cross-sectional survey study designed to explore the effects of SGM identity on HIV-related health outcomes among MSM living with HIV in Guangxi, China. Eligible participants were men aged 18-60 years; had a confirmed diagnosis of HIV; and self-reported having sex with men in the last six months. Internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma were assessed. HIV- and SGM-related stigma were treated as latent stigma constructs indicated each by measures of the three types of stigma (Internalized, anticipated, and enacted).

Structural equation model in the Latent Moderated Structural Equations Approach was employed to examine the latent variable interaction.

Result: The main effects of HIV-related stigma on depressive symptoms (β =2.15, 95%) CI [.67, 1.40], p=.002) and anxiety symptoms ($\beta=3.28, 95\%$ CI [1.49, 5.06], p<.001) were significant. Also, the interactive effects of HIV- and SGM-related stigma on depressive symptoms (β =1.16, 95% CI [.51, 1.08], p=.01) and anxiety symptoms $(\beta = 1.67, 95\% \text{ CI} [.45, 2.89], p = .007)$ were significant. Simple slope tests indicated that the associations between HIV-related stigma and depressive/anxiety symptoms were stronger with a greater level of SGM-related stigma. When SGM-related stigma was one standard deviation below the mean, the associations between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms (β =.99, 95% CI [-.63, 2.61], p=.23) or anxiety symptoms (β =1.61, 95% CI [-.44, 3.65], p=.12) were not significant. When SGM-related stigma was one standard deviation above the mean, the association between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms (β =3.32, 95% CI [1.67, 4.96], p<.001) or anxiety symptoms $(\beta = 4.95, 95\% \text{ CI} [2.68, 7.22], p < .001)$ were significantly positive. No significant main effect or interactive effect was found in models of CD4 count, viral load, and ART adherence.

Conclusion: The study indicated that the relationships between HIV-related stigma and depressive/anxiety symptoms could be aggravated among MSM who reported higher SGM-related stigma. The results provided important contributions to understanding the well-being of stigmatized populations by highlighting intersectional stigma as a mechanism of adverse psychological health outcomes, which will inform effective and

sustainable health strategies, policy, and service provision for preventive measures and well-being improvement

6.2 Introduction

Despite tremendous efforts in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) prevention and control, HIV infection among men who have sex with men (MSM) is still rising globally, including in China. A recent large-scale systematic review suggested that the overall national prevalence in China of HIV among MSM was 5.7%, with metaregression analysis demonstrating an increased prevalence as time progressed from 2001 to 2018 (Dong et al., 2019). Guangxi Autonomous Region (Guangxi), one of the HIV epicenters in China, reported a similar increasing trend of HIV prevalence among MSM (Chen et al., 2019). In 2008, the annual survey among MSM in Guangxi demonstrated an HIV prevalence of 2.0%; however, such rate grew to 10.0% in 2017 (Lan et al., 2018) due in part to an increase in high-risk behaviors and broader use of the Internet to find sexual partners (He et al., 2012; Qin et al., 2016).

MSM living with HIV perceive and experience various types of stigma (layered stigma) because of their multiple stigmatized identities, including but not limited to sexual and gender minority (SGM) status and HIV diagnosis (Aunon et al., 2020; Fitzgerald-Husek et al., 2017; Herek et al., 2009). Both SGM status and HIV diagnosis are considered undesirable in the Chinese social context and are heavily stigmatized (Shao et al., 2018). HIV-related stigma is often considered a strong driver of increased physical and psychological distress in MSM living with HIV (Goldberg & Smith, 2011; Wohl et al., 2013). A cross-sectional study conducted among 456 MSM living with HIV demonstrated that 61% of participants reported perceived discrimination from the gay

community because of their HIV seropositive status, and such perceived HIV stigma was associated with higher levels of depression, anxiety, loneliness, avoidant coping strategies, and suicidal ideation (Courtenay–Quirk et al., 2006b; Jeffries IV et al., 2015). SGM-related stigma and discrimination have profoundly impeded MSM living with HIV from timely linkage to healthcare and subsequently elicited additional psychological burdens, leading to poorer mental and clinical outcomes (Govindasamy et al., 2012a; Medley et al., 2013b; Sarna et al., 2014b). A study of HIV prevention indicated that MSM tended to avoid or delay HIV-related care due to the fear of others suspecting them of same-sex sexual behavior (Bwambale et al., 2008). Such anticipated SGM-related stigma was further compounded by a fear of discriminatory treatment at healthcare facilities (Kim et al., 2018).

Higher levels of both HIV- and SGM-related stigma could significantly increase the odds of intimate partner violence (Wang et al., 2020) and were related to increased symptoms of depression and anxiety, poorer resilience, and poorer quality of life among MSM living with HIV in China (Yang et al., 2020). Instead of considering each stigmatized identity separately and simply summing the impacts, research on the intersectionality of stigma displayed better external validity and improved understanding of individual experiences of oppression (Bogard et al., 2017; Ingram et al., 2019). There has been a growth of research using the intersectionality framework to understand health inequalities, suggesting the synthesized effects of social status or identities at the microlevel (e.g., HIV status, sexual identity, socioeconomic status) on psychological distress and delayed treatment among PLWH (Arnold et al., 2014b; Bogart et al., 2011; English et al., 2018b; Mill et al., 2009). A recent longitudinal study highlighted the interactive effect

of racial discrimination and SGM-related stigma on the persistence of psychological and behavioral health inequities over time (English et al., 2018a). Results revealed that the positive relationships between racial discrimination and depressive and anxiety symptoms at six months were strengthened by SGM-related stigma (English et al., 2018a). Yet, existing studies are limited by small sample sizes and specific but limited domains of health outcomes. Little is known regarding how multiple stigmas (e.g., SGMrelated stigma, HIV-related stigma) elicited by various identities intersect to produce poorer physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes among MSM living with HIV in China.

To address the knowledge gaps, the current study focused on identifying how SGM- and HIV-related stigma and their synthesized effect were associated with physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes of MSM living with HIV utilizing data from a large sample in Guangxi, China. The results would allow a better understanding of the effect of intersectional stigma, which will inform effective and sustainable health strategies, policy, and service provision for preventive measures and well-being improvement (Ingram et al., 2019).

6.3 Methods

Study setting and participants

The cross-sectional survey study was designed to explore the effects of SGM status on HIV-related health outcomes among MSM living with HIV. Data collection was initiated in August 2020 and finished in May 2021. In collaboration with Guangxi CDC, four major public hospitals/clinics with the largest cumulative number of MSM living with HIV in three cities in Guangxi (i.e., Nanning, Guilin, and Liuzhou) were selected as

study sites. A purposive sampling method was used to recruit participants. Medical staff or case managers from each study site screened all the HIV patients in their clinical records and invited all eligible participants to join the study. Eligible participants were men who: (1) aged 18-60 years; (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of HIV; and (3) selfreported having sex with men in the last six months. MSM were excluded if they: (1) were physically or mentally incapable of responding to survey questions; (2) were currently incarcerated or institutionalized for drug use or commercial sex; and (3) had already participated in the aforementioned prospective cohort study. After excluding participants that were not eligible, 402 MSM were involved in the final sample.

Data collection

With the assistance and collaboration of Guangxi CDC, an intervieweradministered questionnaire was used for quantitative data collection. After obtaining participants' written informed consent, local research team members conducted surveys in private offices in community health centers or HIV clinics where participants received regular medical care. The entire survey took around 60 minutes. Each participant received a small gift equivalent to US\$5 upon completion of the questionnaire. The research protocol was approved by Institutional Review Boards at both the University of South Carolina and Guangxi CDC in China.

Measures

Physical health outcomes

CD4 count of each participant was retrieved from the patient's lab results at each hospital. According to the guidelines for ART in adults and adolescents with HIV (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services & Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for

Adults and Adolescents, 2017), the cutoff of 500 cells/mm³ has clinical implications in evaluating the normal immunologic functioning. Therefore, instead of using the original continuous measure of CD4 count, CD4 count was categorized into a binary variable: CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ and CD4 count≥500 cells/mm³ for the purpose of data analysis in this dissertation.

Viral load of each participant was collected from the EHR system of Guangxi CDC. Viral suppression was defined as HIV RNA less than or equal to 50 copies/ml in PLWH's plasma (CDC & National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, and T.B. Prevention 2018). As viral suppression indicates the treatment efficacy, it was used as one of the primary outcomes rather than the original continuous value of viral load. Viral load was categorized into a binary variable: viral load<50 copies/ml and viral load≥50 copies/ml.

<u>Mental health outcomes</u>

Depressive symptoms were assessed with the 10-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D 10) Scale (Kohout et al., 1993). The Chinese version of CES-D 10 has been validated in both the clinical and non-clinical populations in China (Yu et al., 2013). It captured depressed affect (3 items), somatic symptoms (5 items), and positive affect (2 items). The response options ranged from 0 ("rarely or none of the time") to 3 ("all of the time"). The sum scores of CES-D 10 ranged from 0 to 30, with higher scores indicating more severe depressive symptoms. The scale exhibited an acceptable internal consistency in our study (Cronbach's alpha=0.85).

Anxiety symptoms were assessed with the 20-item Self-rating Anxiety Scale (Zung, 1971) to quantify the level of anxiety for patients experiencing anxiety-related

symptoms. The Chinese version scale has been validated in the Chinese populations (Zhang et al., 2015). Items tap psychological and physiological symptoms in the past week, and each item is scored on a scale of 1 ("none or a little of the time") to 4 ("most of the time"). Sample items are "I feel easily upset or panicked" and "I experience headache and a sore neck." The sum scores of the scale ranged from 20 to 80, with higher scores indicating more severe anxiety symptoms. The scale exhibited an acceptable internal consistency in our study (Cronbach's alpha=0.80).

Behavioral health outcomes

ART adherence was assessed with a multiple-item approach to minimize the self-report bias (Mi et al., 2020). Five items derived from the Adult AIDS Clinical Trials Group (AACTG) adherence instrument were adapted to our studies (Chesney et al., 2000). The first two items asked participants if they had missed any dose in the past weekend/ever before. Responses were recorded to reflect ART adherence (1=not missed, 0=missed). The other three items inquired about the total number of prescribed doses and the number of doses that participants reported actually taking within three specific time windows (i.e., past three days, past weekend, and past month). The responses to each of these items were first converted into a percentage of doses taken as scheduled and then dichotomized into 1 (\geq 95% of prescribed doses) or 0 (< 95%). The threshold of 95% is used in the current study as the existing literature suggested 95% as the optimal level of adherence to sustain viral suppression (Paterson et al., 2000) and avoid the evolution of drug-resistant viruses (Raffa et al., 2008). An adherence index score was generated by summing the dichotomous scores of the five items to reflect an optimal adherence (score=5) or suboptimal adherence (score < 5) (Mi et al., 2020). Such measure of ART

adherence has been validated under various cultural contexts (Chesney et al., 2000; Reynolds et al., 2007) and was considered a robust instrument for evaluating ART adherence behaviors among PLWH.

HIV-related stigma

Internalized HIV-related stigma was assessed with an 8-item scale derived from the subscale of "negative self-image" of the Berger HIV Stigma Scale (Berger et al., 2001). Participants were asked to respond to each statement on a 4-point scale from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 4 ("strongly agree"). Sample statements are "I feel I'm not as good as others because I have HIV" and "I feel guilty because I have HIV." A sum score of the eight items was calculated with a higher score indicating a higher level of internalized HIV stigma. The scale exhibited a Cronbach's α of .94 in our study.

Anticipated HIV-related stigma was assessed with a 9-item scale derived from the Health Stigma Framework (Earnshaw et al., 2013). This scale assessed participants' expectations of HIV-related stigma coming from family members, community, and healthcare providers. Sample items are "Family members will avoid touching me," "Community managers will refuse to provide me with social services," and "Healthcare providers will treat me with less respect." Each item was rated on a scale of 1 ("definitely not") to 5 ("definitely"). A sum score of the nine items was calculated, ranging from 9 to 45, with a higher score indicating higher levels of anticipated HIV stigma. The Cronbach's alpha of this scale was 0.92 in our study.

Enacted HIV-related stigma was evaluated using the 16-item checklist adapted from a previous study (dos Santos et al., 2014). PLWH were asked whether they had some actual experiences of being stigmatized due to HIV in the past six months,

including "Being excluded from social gatherings or activities," "Being excluded from family activities," and "Being physically assaulted." Participants who answered "yes (1)" were considered to have the experience of being stigmatized, while those who answered "no (0)" were considered to have no such experience. The total score of the 16 items was used as a composite score, with a higher score indicating more experiences of being stigmatized in the last six months. The enacted stigma scale also showed good reliability in our study (Cronbach's alpha=0.89).

SGM-related stigma

Internalized SGM-related stigma was assessed with 14 items derived from the Chinese version internalized homophobia scale (Ren & Hood, 2018) and the internalized homophobia and perceived stigma scale (Puckett et al., 2017). The scale was conducted on SGM to quantify negative feelings and homophobic attitudes towards themselves. Sample items are "if I were a heterosexual, I would be happier" and "sometimes I feel ashamed of my sexual orientation." Each statement was rated on a scale of 1 ("strongly disagree") to 4 ("strongly agree"). A sum score of the 14 items was calculated with a higher score indicating higher levels of internalized SGM-related stigma. The reliability of this scale was acceptable (Cronbach's alpha=0.87).

Anticipated SGM-related stigma was assessed with 17 items derived from the internalized homophobia and perceived stigma scale (Puckett et al., 2017) and the homosexuality-related stigma scale (Ha et al., 2013) to describe the stigma refers to an MSM's perception of how others respond if they know about his same-sex behaviors. The researchers introduced an additional item to better fit the Chinese context ("same-sex behavior doesn't match with the traditional Chinese culture"). Other sample items are

"many employers would underestimate a man due to his homosexuality regardless of his qualifications for the job" and "many people do not see gay men as real men." Each statement was rated on a scale from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 4 ("strongly agree"). A sum score of the 18 items was calculated with a higher score indicating higher levels of anticipated SGM-related stigma. The Cronbach's alpha of this scale was 0.95 in our study.

Enacted SGM-related stigma was assessed with 14 items derived from the China MSM stigma scale (Neilands et al., 2008) and the homosexuality-related stigma scale (Ha et al., 2013) to depict the actual experiences of prejudice and discrimination that occur to a man because of his same-sex behaviors. Participants were asked to rate the frequency of encountering a series of negative life events because of their MSM identity from 1 ("never") to 4 ("often"). Sample life events are "being hit or beaten up for being homosexual" and "being kicked out of school for being homosexual." A sum score of the 14 items was calculated with a higher score indicating higher levels of enacted SGMrelated stigma. The reliability of this scale was acceptable (Cronbach's alpha=0.85).

<u>Covariates</u>

Sociodemographic characteristics included age (18-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45 or older), ethnicity (Han, other), marital status (single, married/life partner, divorced/separated/widowed), education (middle school or below, high school, college and above), employment (fulltime employed, parttime employed, unemployed), monthly household income (1,999 CNY or below, 2,000-3,999 CNY, 4,000 CNY or above), and sexual identity (gay/bisexual, straight, unsure).

Data analysis

First, descriptive analysis was conducted to describe participants' sociodemographic characteristics using frequency (percentage [%]). Second, bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and categorical outcomes (i.e., CD4 count, viral load, ART adherence) were conducted with the Chisquare test or Fisher's exact test as appropriate. Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and continuous outcomes (i.e., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms) were conducted with ANOVA or t-tests as appropriate. Sociodemographic characteristics significantly associated with health outcomes were controlled as covariates in multivariable analyses.

Lastly, interactive effects between HIV- and SGM-related stigma on physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes were tested with a structural equation model (SEM) in the latent moderated structural equations (LMS) approach (Klein & Moosbrugger, 2000). The procedure for estimating LMS using the XWITH command in Mplus software (Muthén & Muthen, 2017) followed the guideline of Maslowsky et al. (2014). First, as standardized regression coefficients are not provided by Mplus for LMS models, data were standardized prior to analysis to obtain beta coefficients (Maslowsky et al., 2014). Second, a measurement model was estimated to ensure the goodness of fit prior to estimating structural models, with internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIVrelated stigma, and internalized, anticipated, and enacted SGM-related stigma being observed variables, and HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma being latent variables. Following Hu and Bentler (1999) recommendations, root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), comparative

fit index (CFI), and Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI) were also used to evaluate model fit, in addition to the Chi-square statistic, which can be inflated by large sample sizes and moderate discrepancies from normality. RMSEA of .08 or less, SRMR of .08 or less, CFI and TLI of .95 or greater indicate adequate fit (Browne & Cudeck, 1992; Hu & Bentler, 1999; Weiber & Mühlhaus, 2014). Third, structural models are estimated in two steps (Klein & Muthén, 2007; Muthén & Muthen, 2017). In the first step, structural models without the latent interaction term were estimated, henceforth referred to as Model 0. In the second step, structural models with the latent interaction were estimated, henceforth referred to as Model 1. Results of Model 1 provided coefficients and indicated whether the latent interaction was significant.

Model fit indices generally used to interpret the fit of structural equation models, such as χ^2 , RMSEA, SRMR, CFI, and TLI have not been developed for LMS models. Instead, log-likelihood ratio tests were used to determine whether Model 0 represents a significant loss in fit relative to the more complex Model 1 (Satorra et al., 2000). The test statistic for a log-likelihood ratio test, D, was calculated using the following equation:

D = -2[(log - likelihood for Model 0) - (log - likelihood for Model 1)]D is Chi-square distributed with degrees of freedom calculated by subtracting the number of free parameters in Model 0 from the number of free parameters in Model 1. A significant result of the log-likelihood ratio test indicates the elimination of the interaction would result in a significant decline in the model fit.

In order to interpret the size of the interaction effect, ΔR^2 was yielded by subtracting R^2 of Model 0 from R^2 of Model 1, which indicated an additional variance explained by the interaction. If the interactive effect was significant, a simple slope test was conducted and the interaction was plotted (Aiken et al., 1991). The relationships between HIV-related stigma and health outcomes were presented under low vs. high levels of SGM-related stigma (Mean±1SD).

6.4 Results

Descriptive statistics

As shown in Table 6.1, more than half of the 402 MSM were 25-34 years old (n=213, 53.0%), Han ethnicity (n=255, 63.4%), single (n=337, 83.8%), had a college degree or above (n=230, 57.2%), had a fulltime job (n=268, 66.7%) with monthly household income between 2,000 and 3,999 CNY (n=204, 50.7%), and not sure about their sexual identity (n=223, 55.5%).

Associations between sociodemographic characteristics, HIV-/SGM-related stigma, and physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes

MSM of Han ethnicity (compared to ethnic minority: 47.06% vs. 36.73%, p=.05) and whose monthly household income was between 2,000 and 3,999 CNY (compared to income less than 2,000 CNY: 51.47% vs. 34.15%, p=.004) were more likely to have CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ (Table 6.2). MSM who were 18-24 years old were more likely to have viral load≥50 copies/ml compared to MSM who were 45 years old or older (15.46% vs. 3.23%, p=.02).

MSM who were 18-24 years old (compared to 35-44 years old: 7.82 vs. 4.26, p<.001), single (compared to divorced/separated/widowed: 7.09 vs. 4.34, p=.003), had a college degree or above (compared to middle school or below: 7.25 vs. 5.26, p=.007), and unemployed (compared to fulltime employed: 7.88 vs. 6.40, p=.04) experienced more severe depressive symptoms (Table 6.3). Similarly, MSM who were 18-24 years old

(compared to 35-44 years old: 31.63 vs. 28.09, p=.001), single (compared to divorced/separated/widowed: 31.49 vs. 27.00, p=.002), and had a college degree or above (compared to middle school or below: 31.51 vs. 28.39, p=.004) experienced more severe anxiety symptoms.

MSM who had a college degree or above (compared to middle school or below: 18.70% vs. 2.90%, p=.004) were more likely to have suboptimal ART adherence. As shown in Table 6.5, depressive symptoms was correlated with anxiety symptoms (r=.70, p<.01) and all types of stigmas including HIV-related internalized stigma (r=.20, p<.01), HIV-related anticipated stigma (r=.32, p<.01), HIV-related enacted stigma (r=.18, p<.01), SGM-related internalized stigma (r=.12, p<.05), SGM-related anticipated stigma (r=.16, p<.01), and SGM-related enacted stigma (r=.22, p<.01). Similarly, anxiety symptoms was also correlated with all types of stigmas including HIV-related internalized stigma (r=.31, p<.01), HIV-related anticipated stigma (r=.31, p<.01), HIVrelated enacted stigma (r=.19, p<.01), SGM-related internalized stigma (r=.26, p<.01).

Latent moderated structural equations

First, a CFA analysis was conducted to assess the fit of the measurement model (Figure 6.1). The measurement model elicited satisfied model fit indices: $\chi^2(5)=11.304$, *p*<.05; RMSEA=.056; CFI=.969; TLI=.906; SRMR=.032.

The latent moderated structural equation estimates of CD4 count are displayed in Table 6.6. The main effect model without the latent interaction term (Model 0) and the structural model with a latent interaction term (Model 1) were estimated with the LMS approach. Ethnicity and monthly household income were controlled in both model 0 and model 1. The interaction effect was not significant (aOR=1.17, 95% CI [.87, 1.58], p=.34). The relative fit of Model 1 vs. Model 0 was determined by comparing the log-likelihood values of Model 0 and Model 1, yielding a log-likelihood difference value of D=1.46. Based on the Δdf =1, using a chi-square distribution, the log-likelihood ratio test proved not significant (p=.23), indicating that Model 0 represents a nonsignificant loss in fit relative to Model 1.

The latent moderated structural equation estimates of viral load are displayed in Table 6.7. Age was controlled in both model 0 and model 1. The interaction effect was not significant (aOR=.62, 95% CI [.31, 1.26], p=.09). The relative fit of Model 1 vs. Model 0 was determined by comparing the log-likelihood values of Model 0 and Model 1, yielding a log-likelihood difference value of D=3.04. Based on the Δdf =1, using a chisquare distribution, the log-likelihood ratio test proved not significant (p=.08), indicating that Model 0 represents a nonsignificant loss in fit relative to Model 1.

The latent moderated structural equation estimates of depressive symptoms are displayed in Table 6.8. Age, marital status, education, and employment were controlled in both model 0 and model 1. The main effect of HIV-related stigma was significant (Model 0: β =2.00, 95% CI [.61, 3.39], p=.005; Model 1: β =2.15, 95% CI [.67, 1.40], p=.002), indicating that the association between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms was significantly positive. The interaction effect was significant (β =1.16, 95% CI [.51, 1.08], p=.01). The relative fit of Model 1 vs. Model 0 was determined by comparing the log-likelihood values of Model 0 and Model 1, yielding a log-likelihood difference value of D=14.70. Based on the Δdf =1, using a chi-square distribution, the log-

likelihood ratio test proved significant (p<.001), indicating that Model 0 represents a significant loss in fit relative to Model 1. Subtracting R² of Model 0 from R² of Model 1 yielded a Δ R² value for the interaction of .37, indicating an additional 37% of the variance in depressive symptoms explained by the interaction of HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma. A simple slope analysis (Table 6.9) of moderating effect of SGM-related stigma between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms was conducted, and the interaction was plotted (Figure 6.2). When SGM-related stigma was 1 SD below the Mean, the association between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms was not significant (β =.99, 95% CI [-.63, 2.61], p=.23). When SGM-related stigma was 1 SD above the Mean, the association between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms was significantly positive (β =3.32, 95% CI [1.67, 4.96], p<.001).

The latent moderated structural equation estimates of anxiety symptoms are displayed in Table 6.10. Age, marital status, and education were controlled in both model 0 and model 1. The main effect of HIV-related stigma was significant (Model 0: β =3.06, 95% CI [.97, 5.16], *p*=.004; Model 1: β =3.28, 95% CI [1.49, 5.06], *p*<.001), indicating that the association between HIV-related stigma and anxiety symptoms was significantly positive. The interaction effect was significant (β =1.67, 95% CI [.45, 2.89], *p*=.007). The relative fit of Model 1 vs. Model 0 was determined by comparing the log-likelihood values of Model 0 and Model 1, yielding a log-likelihood difference value of D=13.57. Based on the Δdf =1, using a chi-square distribution, the log-likelihood ratio test proved significant (*p*<.001), indicating that Model 0 represents a significant loss in fit relative to Model 1. Subtracting R² or Model 0 from R² of Model 1 yielded a ΔR^2 value of .09 for the interaction, indicating an additional 9% of the variance in anxiety symptoms

explained by the interaction of HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma. A simple slope analysis (Table 6.11) of moderating effect of SGM-related stigma between HIV-related stigma and anxiety symptoms was conducted, and the interaction was plotted (Figure 6.3). When SGM-related stigma was 1 SD below the Mean, the association between HIV-related stigma and anxiety symptoms was not significant (β =1.61, 95% CI [-.44, 3.65], *p*=.12). When SGM-related stigma was 1 SD above the Mean, the association between HIV-related stigma and anxiety symptoms was significantly positive (β =4.95, 95% CI [2.68, 7.22], *p*<.001).

The latent moderated structural equations estimate of ART adherence is displayed in Table 6.12. Education was controlled in both model 0 and model 1. The interaction effect was not significant (aOR=.74, 95% CI [.51, 1.08], p=.07). The relative fit of Model 1 vs. Model 0 was determined by comparing the log-likelihood values of Model 0 and Model 1, yielding a log-likelihood difference value of D=2.37. Based on the Δdf =1, using a chi-square distribution, the log-likelihood ratio test proved not significant (p=.12), indicating that Model 0 represents a nonsignificant loss in fit relative to Model 1.

6.5 Discussion

Using data from a cross-sectional survey study among 402 MSM living with HIV, this study assessed how intersectional stigma was associated with physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes, including CD4 count, viral load, depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence. The main effect of HIVrelated stigma as well as the interactive effect between HIV-related stigma and SGMrelated stigma were significant on depressive and anxiety symptoms. No significant main effect or interactive effect was found in models of CD4 count, viral load, and ART adherence.

The main effect of HIV-related stigma on depressive symptoms and anxiety symptoms was significant among MSM living with HIV. HIV-related stigma and stigmarelated discrimination are major issues confronted by PLWH (Armoon et al., 2021; Logie & Gadalla, 2009), which were closely related to mental health problems, including depression (Lee et al., 2002), anxiety (Bogart et al., 2010; Gonzalez et al., 2009), emotional distress (Heckman et al., 2004; Kang et al., 2005; Siegel et al., 2005), substance abuse (Tan et al., 2017), and suicidal ideation and attempts (Capron et al., 2012; Carrico, 2010). PLWH diagnosed with depression and PLWH diagnosed with anxiety were 1.6 and 1.9 times more likely to report stigmatized experiences, respectively (Armoon et al., 2022). Depression and anxiety can further negatively impact ART adherence and contribute to the accelerated progress to AIDS (Horberg et al., 2008).

Although the main effect of SGM-related stigma was not significant on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV, findings suggested that the health impacts of SGM-related stigma could be conveyed by enhancing the impacts of HIV-related stigma on health outcomes. The associations between HIV-related stigma and symptoms of depression and anxiety were elevated dramatically by increased SGM-related stigma. These findings provided empirical support for the conceptual model proposed by Turan et al. (2017) by highlighting that intersectional stigma was associated with increased depressive and anxiety symptoms. Previous studies which examined the effect of intersectional stigma of HIV-related stigma, racial discrimination, and gender discrimination on health outcomes suggested that intersectional stigma was associated

with mental disorders by undermining social support, reduced resilience, and compromised coping resources (Logie et al., 2019). MSM with greater SGM-related stigma experienced additional psychological burdens, such as fear of others suspecting their same-sex sexual behaviors (Bwambale et al., 2008) and fear of discriminatory treatment at public organizations (Kim et al., 2018), which further exacerbated the relationship between HIV-related stigma and depression and anxiety.

The associations between HIV-/SGM-related stigma and physical (i.e., CD4) count, viral load) and behavior (i.e., ART adherence) health outcomes were not significant. These findings were in contrast to previous studies which reported that HIVrelated stigma could accelerate HIV progression, resulting in a lower level of CD4 count, faster progress to AIDS (Cole et al., 1997), a low level of viral suppression (Lyons et al., 2020), and suboptimal ART adherence (Sweeney & Vanable, 2016). One possible explanation could be the selection bias. Participants in this study were recruited in collaboration with local CDC from hospitals and clinics, thus they likely have better retention in care and more optimal ART adherence than those who are not already affiliated with these sites. Compared to those who did not engage in ART or had limited access to care, participants in the current study might have better physical and behavioral health outcomes, hindering our ability to detect the association between stigma and health outcomes. In addition, the variances of enacted HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma were relatively small, as most participating MSM reported that they did not experience anything listed in the enact HIV-related or SGM-related stigma scales in the past six months. The small variance of enacted stigma might impede our ability to differentiate high-level from low-level latent stigma.
Several limitations in the current study should be acknowledged. First, the mechanism underlying the association between intersectional stigma and health outcomes was not investigated, which could be a potential reason for the non-significant associations between intersectional stigma and CD4, viral load, and ART adherence. Suppressed effect can occur when two indirect effects have the opposite sign. Even proximal effects can be substantially diminished if they are suppressed by a competing process (Shrout & Bolger, 2002). In the current case, it was possible that the intersectional stigma led to undermined social support, which further led to reduced HIV care engagement (Logie et al., 2019). It was also possible that the intersectional stigma built resilience to stigmatized characteristics, which protected MSM from deteriorated health outcomes (Turan et al., 2019). The two potential pathways with opposite signs might diminish the direct association between intersectional stigma and physical/behavioral health outcomes in the current study. Future studies are needed to explore the underlying mechanisms between such associations. Second, as participants were recruited from hospitals and clinics and were all enrolled in ART, they were more likely to have well-maintained physical and behavioral health status. The generalizability of the results needs to be confirmed with heterogeneous samples. Despite the limitations, the current study is one of the very few studies assessing the impact of the intersectional stigma of HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on multiple health outcomes among MSM living with HIV in China. HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma were latent variables each indicated by three types of assessable stigma, which better captured the construct of HIV-/SGM-related stigma. Although future efforts are still needed to investigate potential mechanisms with longitudinal settings, this study

suggested that interventions targeting depressive and anxiety symptoms among MSM living with HIV should pay attention to the elevated risk of HIV-related stigma in the presence of SGM-related stigma.

6.6 Conclusion

HIV-related stigma had main effects on symptoms of depression and anxiety symptoms among MSM living with HIV. The health impacts of SGM-related stigma could be conveyed by enhancing the effect of HIV-related stigma. HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma were not associated with physical and behavioral health outcomes, including CD4 count, viral load, and ART adherence. Future efforts are needed to confirm these findings with longitudinal settings. This study suggested that interventions targeting the mental health problems among MSM living with HIV should pay attention to the elevated risk of HIV-related stigma in the presence of SGM-related stigma.

6.7 References

- Aiken, L. S., West, S. G., & Reno, R. R. (1991). *Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions*. sage.
- Armoon, B., Fleury, M.-J., Bayat, A.-H., Fakhri, Y., Higgs, P., Moghaddam, L. F., & Gonabadi-Nezhad, L. (2022). HIV related stigma associated with social support, alcohol use disorders, depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation among people living with HIV: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 16(1), 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-022-00527-w</u>
- Armoon, B., Higgs, P., Fleury, M. J., Bayat, A. H., Moghaddam, L. F., Bayani, A., &Fakhri, Y. (2021). Socio-demographic, clinical and service use determinants

associated with HIV related stigma among people living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06980-6</u>

- Arnold, E. A., Rebchook, G. M., & Kegeles, S. M. (2014). 'Triply cursed': racism, homophobia and HIV-related stigma are barriers to regular HIV testing, treatment adherence and disclosure among young Black gay men. *Cult Health Sex*, *16*(6), 710-722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2014.905706</u>
- Aunon, F. M., Simoni, J. M., Yang, J. P., Shiu, C., Chen, W.-T., Edmunds, S. R., Ramaiya, M., Cheng, J., & Zhao, H. (2020). Depression and anxiety among HIVpositive men who have sex with men and men who have sex with women in China. *AIDS care*, *32*(3), 362-369.
- Berger, B. E., Ferrans, C. E., & Lashley, F. R. (2001). Measuring stigma in people with HIV: psychometric assessment of the HIV stigma scale. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 24(6), 518-529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.10011</u>
- Bogard, K., Murry, V. M., & Alexander, C. (2017). HEALTH EQUITY.
- Bogart, L. M., Wagner, G. J., Galvan, F. H., & Klein, D. J. (2010). Longitudinal Relationships Between Antiretroviral Treatment Adherence and Discrimination Due to HIV-Serostatus, Race, and Sexual Orientation Among African–American Men with HIV. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 40(2), 184-190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-010-9200-x</u>
- Bogart, L. M., Wagner, G. J., Galvan, F. H., Landrine, H., Klein, D. J., & Sticklor, L. A. (2011). Perceived discrimination and mental health symptoms among Black men

with HIV. Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol, 17(3), 295-302.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024056

Browne, M. W., & Cudeck, R. (1992). Alternative ways of assessing model fit. Sociological methods & research, 21(2), 230-258.

Bwambale, F. M., Ssali, S. N., Byaruhanga, S., Kalyango, J. N., & Karamagi, C. A. (2008). Voluntary HIV counselling and testing among men in rural western Uganda: implications for HIV prevention. *BMC Public Health*, 8, 263-263. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-8-263

- Capron, D. W., Gonzalez, A., Parent, J., Zvolensky, M. J., & Schmidt, N. B. (2012). Suicidality and anxiety sensitivity in adults with HIV. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 26(5), 298-303.
- Carrico, A. W. (2010). Elevated suicide rate among HIV-positive persons despite benefits of antiretroviral therapy: implications for a stress and coping model of suicide. In (Vol. 167, pp. 117-119): Am Psychiatric Assoc.
- Chen, H., Luo, L., Pan, S. W., Lan, G., Zhu, Q., Li, J., Zhu, J., Chen, Y., Shen, Z., Ge, X., Tang, Z., Xing, H., Shao, Y., Ruan, Y., & Yang, W. (2019). HIV
 Epidemiology and Prevention in Southwestern China: Trends from 1996-2017. *Current HIV Research*, 17(2), 85-93.

https://doi.org/10.2174/1570162X17666190703163838

Chesney, M. A., Ickovics, J. R., Chambers, D. B., Gifford, A. L., Neidig, J., Zwickl, B.,
Wu, A. W., Patient Care, C., amp, & Adherence Working Group Of The
Outcomes Committee Of The Adult Aids Clinical Trials, G. (2000). Self-reported
adherence to antiretroviral medications among participants in HIV clinical trials:

The AACTG Adherence Instruments. AIDS Care, 12(3), 255-266.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120050042891

- Cole, S. W., Kemeny, M. E., & Taylor, S. E. (1997). Social identity and physical health: accelerated HIV progression in rejection-sensitive gay men. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 72(2), 320.
- Courtenay–Quirk, C., Wolitski, R. J., Parsons, J. T., Gomez, C. A., Education, S. U. M. s.
 S. T. J. A., & Prevention. (2006). Is HIV/AIDS stigma dividing the gay community? Perceptions of HIV–positive men who have sex with men. *18*(1), 56-67.
- Dong, M. J., Peng, B., Liu, Z. F., Ye, Q. N., Liu, H., Lu, X. L., Zhang, B., & Chen, J. J. (2019). The prevalence of HIV among MSM in China: a large-scale systematic analysis. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 19(1), 1000. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-</u> 019-4559-1
- dos Santos, M. M. L., Kruger, P., Mellors, S. E., Wolvaardt, G., & van der Ryst, E.
 (2014). An exploratory survey measuring stigma and discrimination experienced by people living with HIV/AIDS in South Africa: the People Living with HIV
 Stigma Index. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-80</u>
- Earnshaw, V. A., Smith, L. R., Chaudoir, S. R., Amico, K. R., & Copenhaver, M. M. (2013). HIV stigma mechanisms and well-being among PLWH: a test of the HIV stigma framework. *AIDS and Behavior*, *17*(5), 1785-1795. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-013-0437-9

- English, D., Rendina, H. J., & Parsons, J. T. (2018a). The Effects of Intersecting Stigma:
 A Longitudinal Examination of Minority Stress, Mental Health, and Substance
 Use among Black, Latino, and Multiracial Gay and Bisexual Men. *Psychol Violence*, 8(6), 669-679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000218</u>
- English, D., Rendina, H. J., & Parsons, J. T. (2018b). The Effects of Intersecting Stigma: A Longitudinal Examination of Minority Stress, Mental Health, and Substance Use among Black, Latino, and Multiracial Gay and Bisexual Men. *Psychology of Violence*, 8(6), 669-679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000218</u>
- Fitzgerald-Husek, A., Van Wert, M. J., Ewing, W. F., Grosso, A. L., Holland, C. E., Katterl, R., Rosman, L., Agarwal, A., & Baral, S. D. (2017). Measuring stigma affecting sex workers (SW) and men who have sex with men (MSM): a systematic review. *PloS one*, *12*(11), e0188393.
- Goldberg, A. E., & Smith, J. Z. (2011). Stigma, social context, and mental health: lesbian and gay couples across the transition to adoptive parenthood. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 58(1), 139-150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021684</u>
- Gonzalez, A., Solomon, S. E., Zvolensky, M. J., & Miller, C. T. (2009). The Interaction of Mindful-based Attention and Awareness and Disengagement Coping with HIV/AIDS-related Stigma in regard to Concurrent Anxiety and Depressive Symptoms among Adults with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *14*(3), 403-413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105309102193</u>
- Govindasamy, D., Ford, N., & Kranzer, K. (2012). Risk factors, barriers and facilitators for linkage to antiretroviral therapy care: a systematic review. *Aids*, 26(16), 2059-2067.

- Guanghua, L., Yi, C., Shuai, T., Zhiyong, S., Zhenzhu, T., Yuhua, R., Yousuf, M. A., & Wensheng, F. J. M. (2018). HIV, syphilis and behavioral risk factors among men who have sex with men in a drug-using area of southwestern China: Results of 3 cross-sectional surveys from 2013 to 2015. *97*(16).
- Ha, H., Ross, M. W., Risser, J. M. H., & Nguyen, H. T. M. (2013). Measurement of Stigma in Men Who Have Sex with Men in Hanoi, Vietnam: Assessment of a Homosexuality-Related Stigma Scale. *Journal of sexually transmitted diseases*, 2013, 174506-174506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/174506</u>
- He, Q., Peng, W. J., Zhang, J. Q., Wang, B. X., & Wang, J. (2012). Prevalence of unprotected anal intercourse and unprotected vaginal intercourse among HIVpositive men who have sex with men in China: a meta-analysis. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 88(3), 229-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/sextrans-2011-050230</u>
- Heckman, T. G., Anderson, E. S., Sikkema, K. J., Kochman, A., Kalichman, S. C., & Anderson, T. (2004). Emotional distress in nonmetropolitan persons living with HIV disease enrolled in a telephone-delivered, coping improvement group intervention. *Health Psychology*, 23(1), 94-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.23.1.94</u>
- Herek, G. M., Gillis, J. R., & Cogan, J. C. (2009). Internalized stigma among sexual minority adults: Insights from a social psychological perspective. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 56(1), 32.
- Horberg, M. A., Silverberg, M. J., Hurley, L. B., Towner, W. J., Klein, D. B., Bersoff-Matcha, S., Weinberg, W. G., Antoniskis, D., Mogyoros, M., Dodge, W. T.,

Dobrinich, R., Quesenberry, C. P., & Kovach, D. A. (2008). Effects of Depression and Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor Use on Adherence to Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy and on Clinical Outcomes in HIV-Infected Patients. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 47(3).

https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2008/03010/Effects_of_Depression_and_S elective_Serotonin.18.aspx

Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff Criteria for Fit Indexes in Covariance Structure Analysis: Conventional Criteria Versus New Alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling-a Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(1), 1-55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118

Ingram, L., Stafford, C., Deming, M. E., Anderson, J. D., Robillard, A., & Li, X. (2019).
A Systematic Mixed Studies Review of the Intersections of Social–Ecological
Factors and HIV Stigma in People Living With HIV in the US South. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care*, *30*(3), 330-343.

- Jeffries IV, W. L., Townsend, E. S., Gelaude, D. J., Torrone, E. A., Gasiorowicz, M., Bertolli, J. J. A. E., & Prevention. (2015). HIV stigma experienced by young men who have sex with men (MSM) living with HIV infection. 27(1), 58-71.
- Kang, E., Rapkin, B. D., Remien, R. H., Mellins, C. A., & Oh, A. (2005). Multiple
 Dimensions of HIV Stigma and Psychological Distress Among Asians and Pacific
 Islanders Living With HIV Illness. *AIDS and Behavior*, 9(2), 145-154.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-005-3896-9
- Kim, H. Y., Grosso, A., Ky-Zerbo, O., Lougue, M., Stahlman, S., Samadoulougou, C., Ouedraogo, G., Kouanda, S., Liestman, B., & Baral, S. (2018). Stigma as a barrier

to health care utilization among female sex workers and men who have sex with men in Burkina Faso. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 28(1), 13-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2017.11.009</u>

- Klein, A., & Moosbrugger, H. (2000). Maximum likelihood estimation of latent interaction effects with the LMS method. *Psychometrika*, 65(4), 457-474.
- Klein, A. G., & Muthén, B. O. (2007). Quasi-maximum likelihood estimation of structural equation models with multiple interaction and quadratic effects. *Multivariate behavioral research*, 42(4), 647-673.
- Kohout, F. J., Berkman, L. F., Evans, D. A., & Cornoni-Huntley, J. (1993). Two shorter forms of the CES-D (Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression) depression symptoms index. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 5(2), 179-193.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/089826439300500202
- Lee, R. S., Kochman, A., & Sikkema, K. J. (2002). Internalized Stigma Among People Living with HIV-AIDS. AIDS and Behavior, 6(4), 309-319. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021144511957
- Logie, C., & Gadalla, T. M. (2009). Meta-analysis of health and demographic correlates of stigma towards people living with HIV. *AIDS Care*, 21(6), 742-753. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120802511877

Logie, C. H., Williams, C. C., Wang, Y., Marcus, N., Kazemi, M., Cioppa, L., Kaida, A., Webster, K., Beaver, K., & de Pokomandy, A. (2019). Adapting stigma mechanism frameworks to explore complex pathways between intersectional stigma and HIV-related health outcomes among women living with HIV in Canada. *Social Science and Medicine*, 232, 129-138.

- Lyons, C. E., Olawore, O., Turpin, G., Coly, K., Ketende, S., Liestman, B., Ba, I., Drame, F. M., Ndour, C., Turpin, N., Ndiaye, S. M., Mboup, S., Toure-Kane, C., Leye-Diouf, N., Castor, D., Diouf, D., & Baral, S. D. (2020). Intersectional stigmas and HIV-related outcomes among a cohort of key populations enrolled in stigma mitigation interventions in Senegal. *AIDS*, *34 Suppl 1*(Suppl 1), S63-s71. https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.00000000002641
- Maslowsky, J., Jager, J., & Hemken, D. (2014). Estimating and interpreting latent variable interactions: A tutorial for applying the latent moderated structural equations method. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *39*(1), 87-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025414552301</u>
- Medley, A., Ackers, M., Amolloh, M., Owuor, P., Muttai, H., Audi, B., Sewe, M., & Laserson, K. (2013). Early uptake of HIV clinical care after testing HIV-positive during home-based testing and counseling in western Kenya. *AIDS and Behavior*, *17*(1), 224-234.
- Mi, T., Li, X., Zhou, G., Qiao, S., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2020). HIV Disclosure to Family Members and Medication Adherence: Role of Social Support and Selfefficacy. *AIDS and Behavior*, 24(1), 45-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-02456-1</u>
- Mill, J., Edwards, N., Jackson, R., Austin, W., MacLean, L., & Reintjes, F. (2009).
 Accessing health services while living with HIV: Intersections of stigma.
 Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive, 41(3).
- Muthén, L. K., & Muthen, B. (2017). *Mplus user's guide: Statistical analysis with latent variables, user's guide*. Muthén & Muthén.

- Neilands, T. B., Steward, W. T., & Choi, K.-H. (2008). Assessment of Stigma Towards Homosexuality in China: A Study of Men Who Have Sex with Men. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 37(5), 838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-007-9305-x</u>
- Paterson, D. L., Swindells, S., Mohr, J., Brester, M., Vergis, E. N., Squier, C., Wagener, M. M., & Singh, N. (2000). Adherence to protease inhibitor therapy and outcomes in patients with HIV infection. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *133*(1), 21-30.
 https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-133-1-200007040-00004
- Puckett, J. A., Newcomb, M. E., Ryan, D. T., Swann, G., Garofalo, R., & Mustanski, B. (2017). Internalized Homophobia and Perceived Stigma: A Validation Study of Stigma Measures in a Sample of Young Men who Have Sex with Men. *Sexuality research & social policy : journal of NSRC : SR & SP*, *14*(1), 1-16.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-016-0258-5

- Qin, Q. Q., Tang, W. M., Ge, L., Li, D. M., Mahapatra, T., Wang, L. Y., Guo, W., Cui, Y., & Sun, J. P. (2016). Changing trend of HIV, Syphilis and Hepatitis C among Men Who Have Sex with Men in China. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/ARTN 3108110.1038/srep31081
- Raffa, J. D., Tossonian, H. K., Grebely, J., Petkau, A. J., DeVlaming, S., & Conway, B. (2008). Intermediate highly active antiretroviral therapy adherence thresholds and empirical models for the development of drug resistance mutations. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 47(3), 397-399. https://doi.org/10.1097/qai.0b013e31815b0d35

Ren, Z., & Hood, R. W. (2018). Internalized Homophobia Scale for Gay Chinese Men: Conceptualization, Factor Structure, Reliability, and Associations With Hypothesized Correlates. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *12*(5), 1297-1306. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318768603

Reynolds, N. R., Sun, J., Nagaraja, H. N., Gifford, A. L., Wu, A. W., & Chesney, M. A. (2007). Optimizing Measurement of Self-Reported Adherence With the ACTG
Adherence Questionnaire: A Cross-Protocol Analysis. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 46(4).

https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2007/12010/Optimizing_Measurement_of Self_Reported_Adherence.5.aspx

- Sarna, A., Sebastian, M., Bachani, D., Sogarwal, R., & Battala, M. (2014). Pretreatment loss-to-follow-up after HIV diagnosis from 27 counseling and testing centers across India: findings from a cohort study. *Journal of the International Association of Providers of AIDS Care (JIAPAC)*, 13(3), 223-231.
- Satorra, A., Heijmans, R., & Pollock, D. (2000). Innovations in multivariate statistical analysis: A festschrift for Heinz Neudecker. In: Springer.
- Shao, J., Chang, E. S., & Chen, C. (2018). The relative importance of parent–child dynamics and minority stress on the psychological adjustment of LGBs in China. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 65(5), 598-604.

https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000281

Shrout, P. E., & Bolger, N. (2002). Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: new procedures and recommendations. *Psychological Methods*, 7(4), 422-445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.7.4.422</u>

- Siegel, K., Lekas, H.-M., & Schrimshaw, E. W. (2005). Serostatus Disclosure to Sexual Partners by HIV-Infected Women Before and After the Advent of HAART. *Women & Health*, 41(4), 63-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J013v41n04_04</u>
- Sweeney, S. M., & Vanable, P. A. (2016). The Association of HIV-Related Stigma to HIV Medication Adherence: A Systematic Review and Synthesis of the Literature. *AIDS and Behavior*, 20(1), 29-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-015-1164-1</u>
- Tan, D., Holloway, I. W., Gildner, J., Jauregui, J. C., Garcia Alvarez, R., & Guilamo-Ramos, V. (2017). Alcohol Use and HIV Risk Within Social Networks of MSM Sex Workers in the Dominican Republic. *AIDS and Behavior*, 21(Suppl 2), 216-227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-017-1896-1</u>
- Turan, B., Hatcher, A. M., Weiser, S. D., Johnson, M. O., Rice, W. S., & Turan, J. M. J.A. J. o. P. H. (2017). Framing mechanisms linking HIV-related stigma, adherence to treatment, and health outcomes. *107*(6), 863-869.
- Turan, J. M., Elafros, M. A., Logie, C. H., Banik, S., Turan, B., Crockett, K. B., Pescosolido, B., & Murray, S. M. (2019). Challenges and opportunities in examining and addressing intersectional stigma and health. *BMC Medicine*, 17(1), 1-15.
- Wang, N., Huang, B., Ruan, Y., Amico, K. R., Vermund, S. H., Zheng, S., & Qian, H.-Z. (2020). Association between stigma towards HIV and MSM and intimate partner violence among newly HIV-diagnosed Chinese men who have sex with men. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8259-y</u>

- Weiber, R., & Mühlhaus, D. S. (2014). Eine anwendungsorientierte Einführung in die Kausalanalyse mit Hilfe von AMOS, SmartPLS und SPSS. Structural equation modeling. An application-oriented introduction to causal analysis using AMOS, SmartPLS and SPSS]. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer Gabler.
- Wohl, A. R., Galvan, F. H., Carlos, J. A., Myers, H. F., Garland, W., Witt, M. D.,
 Cadden, J., Operskalski, E., Jordan, W., & George, S. (2013). A comparison of
 MSM stigma, HIV stigma and depression in HIV-positive Latino and African
 American men who have sex with men (MSM). *AIDS and Behavior*, *17*(4), 14541464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-012-0385-9</u>
- Yang, X., Li, X., Qiao, S., Li, L., Parker, C., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2020). Intersectional stigma and psychosocial well-being among MSM living with HIV in Guangxi, China. AIDS Care, 32(sup2), 5-13.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2020.1739205

- Yu, S. C., Lin, Y. H., & Hsu, W. H. (2013). Applying structural equation modeling to report psychometric properties of Chinese version 10-item CES-D depression scale. *Quality & Quantity*, 47(3), 1511-1518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-011-</u> 9604-0
- Zhang, Y., Liu, R., Li, G., Mao, S., & Yuan, Y. (2015). The reliability and validity of a Chinese-version Short Health Anxiety Inventory: an investigation of university students. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 11, 1739-1747.

https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S83501

Zung, W. W. (1971). A rating instrument for anxiety disorders. *Psychosomatics: Journal of Consultation and Liaison Psychiatry*, 12(6), 371-379.
<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3182(71)71479-0</u>

Variables	Frequency (percentage)
Age group	
18-24	100 (24.9%)
25-34	213 (53.0%)
35-44	58 (14.4%)
45+	31 (7.7%)
Ethnicity	
Han	255 (63.4%)
Minority	147 (36.6%)
Marital status	
Single	337 (83.8%)
Married/life partner	35 (8.7%)
Divorced/separated/widowed	29 (7.2%)
Education	
Middle school and below	69 (17.2%)
High school	103 (25.6%)
College and above	230 (57.2%)
Employment	
Fulltime	268 (66.7%)
Parttime	55 (13.7%)
Unemployed/retired	78 (19.4%)
Monthly household income (CNY)	
<2,000	82 (20.4%)
2,000-4,000	204 (50.7%)
4,000 or above	113 (28.1%)
Sexual identity	
Gay/bisexual	129 (32.1%)
Straight	50 (12.4%)
Not sure	223 (55.5%)

Table 6.1 Sociodemographic characteristics of MSM living with HIV (n=402)

	CD4 count (-	<500	Viral load ((≥50
	cells/mm	cells/mm ³) copies/m		
	Frequency	<i>p</i> -	Frequency	<i>p</i> -
	(percentage)	value	(percentage)	value
Overall	174 (43.3%)		32 (8.0%)	
Age group		.55		.02
18-24	42 (42.00%)		15 (15.46%)	
25-34	88 (41.31%)		13 (6.31%)	
35-44	30 (51.72%)		3 (5.26%)	
45+	14 (45.16%)		1 (3.23%)	
Ethnicity		.05		.34
Han	120 (47.06%)		23 (9.27%)	
Minority	54 (36.73%)		9 (6.29%)	
Marital status		.86		.16
Single	145 (43.03%)		30 (9.20%)	
Married/life partner	15 (42.86%)		0	
Divorced/separated/widowed	14 (48.28%)		2 (6.90%)	
Education		.26		.41
Middle school and below	31 (44.93%)		3 (4.35%)	
High school	51 (49.51%)		10 (9.90%)	
College and above	92 (40.00%)		19 (8.60%)	
Employment		.61		.18
Fulltime	119 (44.40%)		19 (7.28%)	
Parttime	25 (45.45%)		3 (5.56%)	
Unemployed/retired	30 (38.46%)		10 (13.33%)	
Monthly household income		004		27
(CNY)		.004		.27
<2,000	28 (34.15%)		10 (12.50%)	
2,000-4,000	105 (51.47%)		15 (7.69%)	
4,000 or above	40 (35.40%)		7 (6.19%)	
Sexual identity		.83		.59
Gay/bisexual	53 (41.09%)		8 (6.30%)	
Straight	22 (44.00%)		5 (10.64%)	
Not sure	99 (44.39%)		19 (8.76%)	

Table 6.2 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and physical health outcomes

Note: Bivariate analyses between socio-demographic characteristics and physical health outcomes (i.e., CD4 count, viral load) were conducted with Chi-square tests or Fisher's exact tests as appropriate.

	Depressive s	ymptoms	Anxiety syn	nptoms
	Mean (SD)	<i>p</i> -value	Mean (SD)	<i>p</i> -value
Overall	6.76 (4.60)		30.95 (7.13)	
Age group		<.001		.001
18-24	7.82 (5.17)		31.63 (7.11)	
25-34	7.13 (4.44)		31.72 (7.48)	
35-44	4.26 (3.53)		28.09 (5.34)	
45+	5.52 (3.71)		28.84 (6.03)	
Ethnicity		.79		.40
Han	6.72 (4.85)		31.18 (7.46)	
Minority	6.84 (4.16)		30.56 (6.52)	
Marital status		.003		.002
Single	7.09 (4.70)		31.49 (7.28)	
Married/life partner	5.80 (4.16)		29.34 (5.84)	
Divorced/separated/widowed	4.34 (2.69)		27.00 (4.91)	
Education		.007		.004
Middle school and below	5.26 (3.85)		28.39 (6.49)	
High school	6.69 (5.06)		31.43 (7.11)	
College and above	7.25 (4.51)		31.51 (7.18)	
Employment		.04		.53
Fulltime	6.40 (4.01)		30.70 (6.41)	
Parttime	6.96 (6.30)		31.16 (9.13)	
Unemployed/retired	7.88 (5.00)		31.72 (7.92)	
Monthly household income		25		20
(CNY)		.25		.38
<2,000	7.50 (5.35)		31.88 (8.79)	
2,000-4,000	6.55 (4.36)		30.57 (6.53)	
4,000 or above	6.57 (4.32)		30.95 (6.90)	
Sexual identity		.79		.09
Gay/bisexual	6.53 (4.73)		29.91 (7.15)	
Straight	6.82 (4.91)		32.28 (8.31)	
Not sure	6.88 (4.47)		31.26 (6.78)	

Table 6.3 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and psychological health outcomes

Note: Bivariate analyses between socio-demographic characteristics and psychological health outcomes (i.e., depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms) were conducted with ANOVA or t tests as appropriate.

	Suboptimal ART adher	ence
	Frequency (percentage)	<i>p</i> -value
Overall	58 (14.4%)	
Age group		.16
18-24	19 (19.00%)	
25-34	31 (14.55%)	
35-44	7 (12.07%)	
45+	1 (3.23%)	
Ethnicity		.77
Han	38 (14.90%)	
Minority	20 (13.61%)	
Marital status		.29
Single	51 (15.13%)	
Married/life partner	2 (5.71%)	
Divorced/separated/widowed	5 (17.24%)	
Education		.004
Middle school and below	2 (2.90%)	
High school	13 (12.62%)	
College and above	43 (18.70%)	
Employment		.38
Fulltime	38 (14.18%)	
Parttime	11 (20.00%)	
Unemployed/retired	9 (11.54%)	
Monthly household income (CNY)		.08
<2,000	8 (9.76%)	
2,000-4,000	26 (12.75%)	
4,000 or above	23 (20.35%)	
Sexual identity		.44
Gay/bisexual	19 (14.73%)	
Straight	10 (20.00%)	
Not sure	29 (13.00%)	

Table 6.4 Bivariate analyses between sociodemographic characteristics and behavioral health outcome

Note: Bivariate analyses between socio-demographic characteristics and behavioral health outcome (i.e., ART adherence) were conducted with Chi-square tests or Fisher's exact tests as appropriate.

		Range	Mean (SD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	Depressive symptoms	0-30	6.76 (4.60)							
2	Anxiety symptoms	20-80	30.95 (7.13)	$.70^{**}$						
3	HIV-related internalized stigma	8-32	17.92 (6.07)	$.30^{**}$.31**					
4	HIV-related anticipated stigma	9-45	23.54 (8.03)	.32**	.31**	.42**				
5	HIV-related enacted stigma	0-16	.69 (1.85)	$.18^{**}$.19**	.06	.10			
6	SGM-related internalized stigma	14-56	35.86 (7.02)	$.12^{*}$.16**	.43**	.19**	.06		
7	SGM-related anticipated stigma	18-72	36.47 (10.36)	$.16^{**}$	$.17^{**}$.31**	.24**	.13*	.43**	
8	SGM-related enacted stigma	14-56	15.38 (3.42)	.22**	.26**	.19**	.17**	.29**	.15**	$.18^{**}$

Table 6.5 Correlation matrix of psychological health outcomes and stigma levels

p*<.05; *p*<.01

	Model	0	Model 1		ΔR^2	D	<i>p</i> -value of log- likelihood ratio test
	<i>aOR</i> (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	aOR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value			
HIV-related stigma	.98 (.75, 1.29)	.91	1.00 (.75, 1.33)	1.00	.01	1.46	0.23
SGM-related stigma	.83 (.62, 1.11)	.16	.81 (.59, 1.10)	.13			
Interaction			1.17 (.87, 1.58)	.34			

Table 6.6 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of CD4 count

Note: Ethnicity and monthly household income were controlled in both model 0 and model 1. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.

	Model 0		Model 0 Model 1		ΔR_2	D	<i>p</i> -value of log- likelihoo d ratio test
	aOR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	aOR (95% CI)	<i>p-</i> valu e			
HIV-related stigma	.84 (.49, 1.43)	.47	.76 (.45, 1.30)	.25	.09	3.0 4	.08
SGM-related stigma Interaction	1.14 (.65, 1.97)	.67	1.21 (.67, 2.19) .62 (.31, 1.26)	.56 .09			

	Table 6.7	Latent moderated	structural e	quations	estimate c	of viral	load
--	-----------	------------------	--------------	----------	------------	----------	------

Note: Age was controlled in both model 0 and model 1. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.

	Model 0		Model 1		ΔR_2	D	<i>p</i> -value of log- likelihoo d ratio test
	coefficient (95% CI)	<i>p-</i> valu e	coefficient (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - valu e			
HIV-related stigma	2.00 (.61, 3.39)	.005	2.15 (.67, 1.40)	.002	.37	14.7 0	<.001
SGM-related stigma	03 (-1.11, 1.05)	.96	.02 (.90, 2.36)	.98			
Interaction			1.16 (.51, 1.08)	.01			

Table 6.8 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of depressive symptoms

Note: Age, marital status, education, and employment were controlled in both model 0 and model 1. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.

Table 6.9 Simple slope analysis of moderating effect of SGM-related stigma between	1
HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms	

SGM-related stigma	Simple slope (95% CI)	SE	<i>p</i> -value
Mean-SD	.99 (63, 2.61)	.82	.23
Mean+SD	3.32 (1.67, 4.96)	.84	<.001

	Model	0	Model	1	ΔR^2	D	<i>p</i> -value of log- likelihood ratio test
	<i>coefficient</i> (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value	coefficient (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value			
HIV-related stigma	3.06 (.97, 5.16)	.004	3.28 (1.49, 5.06)	<.001	.09	13.57	<.001
SGM-related stigma	.22 (-1.47, 1.91)	.80	.66 (-1.46, 1.92)	.79			
Interaction			1.67 (.45, 2.89)	.007			

Table 6.10 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of anxiety symptoms

Note: Age, marital status and education were controlled in both model 0 and model 1. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.

Table 6.11 Simple slope analysis of moderating effect of SGM-related stigma between HIV-related stigma and anxiety symptoms

SGM-related stigma	Simple slope (95% CI)	SE	<i>p</i> -value
Mean-SD	1.61 (44, 3.65)	1.05	.12
Mean+SD	4.95 (2.68, 7.22)	1.15	<.001

	Model 0		Model 1		ΔR^2	D	<i>p</i> -value of log- likelihood ratio test
	aOR (95% CI)	<i>p-</i> value	<i>aOR</i> (95% CI)	<i>p</i> - value			
HIV-related stigma	.94 (.63, 1.40)	.74	.97 (.67, 1.40)	.86	.04	2.37	.12
SGM-related stigma	1.41 (.86, 2.31)	.25	1.45 (.90, 2.36)	.21			
Interaction			.74 (.51, 1.08)	.07			

Table 6.12 Latent moderated structural equations estimate of ART adherence

Note: Education was controlled in both model 0 and model 1. After Bonferroni adjustment, a *p*-value less than .01 is statistically significant.



Figure 6.1 Measurement model of HIV- and SGM-related stigma *Note:* $\chi^2(5)=11.304$, *p*<.05; RMSEA=.056; CFI=.969; TLI=.906; SRMR=.032. All estimates are standardized.



Figure 6.2 Simple slope analysis of moderating effect of SGM-related stigma between HIV-related stigma and depressive symptoms



Figure 6.3 Simple slope analysis of moderating effect of SGM-related stigma between HIV-related stigma and anxiety symptoms

CHAPTER 7

DISCUSSION

7.1 Summary of the dissertation

The purpose of this dissertation research is to investigate how MSM status is related to long-term physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes. Furthermore, the research specifically examines the association between intersectional stigma and health outcomes among MSM living with HIV in China. Leveraging data derived from a cross-sectional study and a prospective cohort study, this dissertation addresses the knowledge gaps based on three specific aims and in the form of three studies: 1) examining the measurement invariance for internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males; 2) examining health disparities in 3-year continual trajectories of physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes between MSM and non-MSM males; and 3) examining the main effect and interactive effect of HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes among MSM living with HIV. Overall, the hypotheses of this dissertation were partially confirmed, and these findings provided important implications for policy, research, healthcare system, and practices.

With a cross-sectional study design in study 1, all four levels of measurement invariance, including configural, metric, scalar, and residual invariance, of the internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales were examined between

595 MSM and 579 non-MSM males living with HIV. Internalized HIV-related stigma was assessed with an 8-item scale derived from the "negative self-image" subscale of the Berger HIV Stigma Scale (Berger et al., 2001). Anticipated HIV-related stigma was assessed with a 9-item scale derived from the Health Stigma Framework (Earnshaw et al., 2013). Enacted HIV-related stigma was evaluated using a 16-item checklist adapted from a previous study (dos Santos et al., 2014). This study is a prerequisite for using these scales to assess internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma in betweengroup comparisons. In study 1, the anticipated HIV-related stigma scale had the same factor loadings and intercepts, and similar item residual variances between the two groups and achieved partial residual invariance. The internalized and enacted HIV-related stigma scales had the same factor loadings and similar intercepts in the two groups and achieved partial scalar invariance. Scalar invariance is considered the minimum requirement for meaningfully comparing latent factor means across groups (Muthén & Muthen, 2017). Overall, this study presented acceptable measurement invariance for internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males. The invariance across groups should be interpreted with caution since the parameters of some items were varied across groups.

Using a longitudinal analysis, study 2 quantified the health disparities in 3-year continual trajectories of physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes between MSM and non-MSM males. At baseline, a higher risk of having CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ was observed among non-MSM males compared to MSM. Multiple studies across different geographical regions reported similar results where CD4 count in early infection were lower in non-MSM males than in MSM (Cascade Collaboration, 2003;

Frentz et al., 2014; Gupta et al., 2000; James & Dixit, 2022; Robertson et al., 2020; Tang et al., 2014). A potential explanation could be the tolerance to transmitted/founder (T/F)strains (James & Dixit, 2022). In addition, MSM had a higher risk of viral load \geq 50 copies/ml at baseline and a more rapid change at follow-ups than non-MSM males. However, after adjusting for the baseline sociodemographic covariates, both CD4 count and viral load at baseline and the viral load change over time were no longer different between MSM and non-MSM males, indicating that sociodemographic covariates could explain these differences. In terms of trajectories of depressive and anxiety symptoms, although the baseline level and the change over time were not different between groups after adjusting for sociodemographic characteristics, the correlations between baseline level and change over time were different between MSM and non-MSM males even after adjusting for covariates. Inverse relationships between baseline level and change over time of depressive and anxiety symptoms were significant among non-MSM males but not significant among MSM. This finding suggested that the higher baseline levels of depressive and anxiety symptoms were, the faster they reduced overtime among non-MSM males but not among MSM. Such group difference was not due to the differences in sociodemographic characteristics between groups, but could be distributed to less social support and multi-layered stigma associated with MSM (Arends et al., 2020; Parsons et al., 2017; Rzeszutek, 2018; Shao et al., 2018).

Study 3 examined the health impact of intersectional stigma on physical, psychological, and behavioral health outcomes among MSM living with HIV. Data was derived from a cross-sectional survey study designed to explore the effects of SGM identities on HIV-related health outcomes, including CD4 count, viral load, depressive

symptoms, anxiety symptoms, and ART adherence among MSM living with HIV in Guangxi, China. In this study, the main effect of HIV-related stigma on depressive symptoms and anxiety symptoms was significant among MSM living with HIV. Although the main effect of SGM-related stigma was not significant on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV, the health impacts of SGM-related stigma could be conveyed by enhancing the impacts of HIV-related stigma on psychological health outcomes. The associations between HIV-/SGM-related stigma and physical (i.e., CD4 count, viral load) and behavioral (i.e., ART adherence) health outcomes were not significant. This was in contrast to previous studies which reported that HIV-related stigma could accelerate HIV progression, resulting in a lower level of CD4 count, faster progress to AIDS (Cole et al., 1997), a low level of viral suppression (Lyons et al., 2020), and suboptimal ART adherence (Sweeney & Vanable, 2016). One possible explanation could be the ceiling effect of CD4 count, viral load, and ART adherence. Participants in this study were recruited in collaboration with local CDC from hospitals and clinics, who tended to have better retention in care and more optimal ART adherence.

7.2 Strengths and limitations

Strengths

There are several strengths in this dissertation. First, this dissertation developed a new conceptual framework describing the health disparities between MSM and non-MSM males, and the impact of intersectional stigma on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV. In the framework, sociodemographic and HIV-related characteristics are taken into consideration as they were well documented to be associated with health outcomes as well as the stigma faced by PLWH. Second, this study is one of the very few

studies comprehensively examining the measurement invariance of HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males. All four levels of measurement invariance (i.e., configural, metric, scalar, residual) were tested compared to a previous study that only tested the first three levels of measurement invariance (Miller & Sheu, 2008). Third, data used in study 2 were obtained from a prospective cohort study in Guangxi, China, with seven waves of longitudinal assessment of HIV-related health outcomes. With longitudinal data, this study demonstrated the overtime pattern of health outcomes dynamically and proposed potential causal inference. Furthermore, compared to previous studies that mainly focused on the overall HIV-related stigma (Fuster-Ruizdeapodaca et al., 2014; Logie et al., 2019; Parcesepe et al., 2020), this dissertation simultaneously included three subtypes of HIV-related stigma (i.e., internalized, anticipated, and enacted stigma). In addition, the impacts of intersectional stigma regarding HIV-related stigma and SGM-related stigma on multiple health outcomes among MSM living with HIV were assessed for the first time in this dissertation.

Limitations

Several limitations in this dissertation research should be acknowledged. First, as the sample was limited to MSM and non-MSM males in China, findings may not be generalized to MLWH in other areas. Second, as self-reported questionnaires were used in this study, the recall bias and social desirability could not be ignored. To mitigate this bias, objective indicators such as biomarkers and device-based measurement are needed. Third, participants were recruited from hospitals and clinics and their health status could be well-maintained and better than the general PLWH population. Selection bias resulting from sampling only in healthcare facilities might render the surveillance data hard to

interpret, especially when tracking populations that are "hard to reach" (Magnani et al., 2005). The generalizability of the results needs to be confirmed with heterogeneous samples. Fourth, the mechanism underlying the association between intersectional stigma and health outcomes was not investigated, which could be a potential reason for the non-significant associations between intersectional stigma and CD4, viral load, and ART adherence.

7.3 Implications

This study has several implications for future research, clinical interventions, and public health policymaking. First, the conceptual framework regarding the impact of intersectional stigma on health outcomes among MSM living with HIV unraveled the relationship among sociodemographic and HIV-related characteristics, social-cultural context, health outcomes, and MSM status. This framework could help explain the impacts of intersectional stigma and provide a solid research basis for future studies. Second, this dissertation presented acceptable measurement invariance for internalized, anticipated, and enacted HIV-related stigma scales between MSM and non-MSM males. These findings provided evidence and support for future studies using these scales to assess HIV-related stigma between MSM and non-MSM males, which could be a basis for future intervention in stigma reduction. Third, this study supported the opinion that sociodemographic factors played an important and complex role in health outcome of PLWH. For instance, after adjusting the baseline sociodemographic covariates, viral load at baseline and overtime were no longer different between MSM and non-MSM males, indicating that sociodemographic covariates could explain these differences. Hence, the impacts of sociodemographic covariates still need further investigations (Frentz et al.,

2014), which informs researchers and healthcare providers to develop more targeted approaches for different groups and improve our patient-centered care. In addition, the inverse correlations between intercept and slope of depressive and anxiety symptoms were only found in non-MSM males but not MSM. Typically, MSM are exposed to more risk factors of psychological distress than non-MSM males, such as a lack of social support and multiple stigmas associated with HIV diagnosis and SGM identities. Clinical interventions and social care about long-term mental health could pay more attention to MSM. Fourth, study 3 indicated that the relationships between HIV-related stigma and depressive/anxiety symptoms could be aggravated among MSM who reported higher SGM-related stigma, suggesting that interventions targeting mental health problems among MSM living with HIV should pay attention to the elevated risk of HIV-related stigma when combined with SGM-related stigma. These findings provided important contributions to understanding the well-being of stigmatized populations by highlighting intersectional stigma as a mechanism of adverse psychological health outcomes, which will inform effective and sustainable health strategies, policy, and service provision for preventive measures and wellbeing improvement.

7.4 Future direction

Future efforts such as research, implementation, and practices are needed to further dig into this topic, improve the quality of data, methods, and study design, and confirm the findings of this dissertation. Future studies are needed to explore the underlying mechanisms between intersectional stigma and health outcomes. Because the current study did not explore the mediation pathways between intersectional stigma and physical/behavioral health outcomes, we could not tell if the nonsignificant relationships

between intersectional stigma and physical/behavioral health outcomes were credible. The nonsignificance might also be simply due to the diminished direct association caused by two indirect effects that have opposite signs. Moreover, the inconsistency between CD4 count and viral suppression among MSM was observed in this dissertation. At baseline, MSM had a higher risk of viral load≥50 copies/ml and a lower risk of having CD4 count<500 cells/mm³ compared to non-MSM males. Future efforts are still needed to explain this contradiction between CD4 count and viral load

7.5 Conclusion

By establishing a conceptual framework, this dissertation investigated the disparities in long-term health outcomes between MSM and non-MSM males living with HIV, and how SGM-related stigma and HIV-related stigma intersect to be associated with health outcomes among MSM in resource-limited settings in China. The differences between MSM and non-MSM males in physical, psychological, and behavioral health trajectories were identified in this dissertation. These findings could contribute to understanding the well-being of stigmatized and marginalized populations and informing future stigma reduction interventions of the unique vulnerability of MSM living with HIV.
REFERENCES

- Abramowitz, S., Koenig, L. J., Chandwani, S., Orban, L., Stein, R., Lagrange, R., & Barnes, W. (2009). Characterizing social support: global and specific social support experiences of HIV-infected youth. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 23(5), 323-330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2008.0194</u>
- Ackers, M.-L., Greenberg, A. E., Lin, C. Y., Bartholow, B. N., Goodman, A. H., Longhi, M., & Gurwith, M. (2012). High and persistent HIV seroincidence in men who have sex with men across 47 US cities. *PloS One*, 7(4), e34972.
- Aiken, L. S., West, S. G., & Reno, R. R. (1991). *Multiple regression: Testing and interpreting interactions*. sage.
- Andersson, G. Z., Reinius, M., Eriksson, L. E., Svedhem, V., Esfahani, F. M., Deuba, K., Rao, D., Lyatuu, G. W., Giovenco, D., & Ekström, A. M. (2020). Stigma reduction interventions in people living with HIV to improve health-related quality of life. *The Lancet HIV*, 7(2), e129-e140.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(19)30343-1

Arends, R. M., Van den Heuvel, T. J., Foeken-Verwoert, E. G., Grintjes, K. J., Keizer, H. J., Schene, A. H., Van der Ven, A. J., & Schellekens, A. F. (2020). Sex, drugs, and impulse regulation: A perspective on reducing transmission risk behavior and improving mental health among MSM living With HIV. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 1005.

- Armoon, B., Fleury, M.-J., Bayat, A.-H., Fakhri, Y., Higgs, P., Moghaddam, L. F., & Gonabadi-Nezhad, L. (2022). HIV related stigma associated with social support, alcohol use disorders, depression, anxiety, and suicidal ideation among people living with HIV: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 16(1), 17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13033-022-00527-w</u>
- Armoon, B., Higgs, P., Fleury, M. J., Bayat, A. H., Moghaddam, L. F., Bayani, A., & Fakhri, Y. (2021). Socio-demographic, clinical and service use determinants associated with HIV related stigma among people living with HIV/AIDS: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1004. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06980-6
- Arnold, E. A., Rebchook, G. M., & Kegeles, S. M. (2014a). 'Triply cursed': racism, homophobia and HIV-related stigma are barriers to regular HIV testing, treatment adherence and disclosure among young Black gay men. *Culture, Health and Sexuality*, *16*(6), 710-722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2014.905706</u>
- Arnold, E. A., Rebchook, G. M., & Kegeles, S. M. (2014b). 'Triply cursed': racism, homophobia and HIV-related stigma are barriers to regular HIV testing, treatment adherence and disclosure among young Black gay men. *Cult Health Sex*, *16*(6), 710-722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13691058.2014.905706</u>

Ashokkumar, M., Sonawane, A., Sperk, M., Tripathy, S. P., Neogi, U., & Hanna, L. E. (2020). In vitro replicative fitness of early Transmitted founder HIV-1 variants and sensitivity to Interferon alpha. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 2747. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-59596-x</u>

- Ashton, E., Vosvick, M., Chesney, M., Gore-Felton, C., Koopman, C., O'Shea, K.,
 Maldonado, J., Bachmann, M. H., Israelski, D., Flamm, J., & Spiegel, D. (2005).
 Social support and maladaptive coping as predictors of the change in physical
 health symptoms among persons living with HIV/AIDS. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, *19*(9), 587-598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2005.19.587</u>
- Aunon, F. M., Simoni, J. M., Yang, J. P., Shiu, C., Chen, W.-T., Edmunds, S. R., Ramaiya, M., Cheng, J., & Zhao, H. (2020). Depression and anxiety among HIVpositive men who have sex with men and men who have sex with women in China. *AIDS care*, *32*(3), 362-369.
- Azmach, N. N., Hamza, T. A., & Husen, A. A. (2019). Socioeconomic and Demographic Statuses as Determinants of Adherence to Antiretroviral Treatment in HIV Infected Patients: A Systematic Review of the Literature. *Current HIV Research*, *17*(3), 161-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1570162x17666190919130229</u>
- Baral, S., Sifakis, F., Cleghorn, F., & Beyrer, C. (2007). Elevated risk for HIV infection among men who have sex with men in low- and middle-income countries 2000-2006: a systematic review. *PLoS Medicine*, *4*(12), e339-e339.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0040339
- Baumeister, H., & Härter, M. (2007). Prevalence of mental disorders based on general population surveys. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 42(7), 537-546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-007-0204-1</u>
- Berg, K. M., Demas, P. A., Howard, A. A., Schoenbaum, E. E., Gourevitch, M. N., & Arnsten, J. H. (2004). Gender differences in factors associated with adherence to

antiretroviral therapy. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *19*(11), 1111-1117. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2004.30445.x

- Berger, B. E., Ferrans, C. E., & Lashley, F. R. (2001). Measuring stigma in people with HIV: psychometric assessment of the HIV stigma scale. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 24(6), 518-529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.10011</u>
- Bermudez, L. G., Ssewamala, F. M., Neilands, T. B., Lu, L., Jennings, L., Nakigozi, G.,
 Mellins, C. A., McKay, M., & Mukasa, M. (2018). Does Economic Strengthening
 Improve Viral Suppression Among Adolescents Living with HIV? Results From a
 Cluster Randomized Trial in Uganda. *AIDS and Behavior*, 22(11), 3763-3772.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2173-7
- Beyrer, C., Baral, S. D., van Griensven, F., Goodreau, S. M., Chariyalertsak, S., Wirtz, A. L., & Brookmeyer, R. (2012). Global epidemiology of HIV infection in men who have sex with men. *Lancet*, 380(9839), 367-377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60821-6</u>
- Bland, J. M., & Altman, D. G. (1995). Multiple significance tests: the Bonferroni method. BMJ, 310(6973), 170. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.310.6973.170
- Bogard, K., Murry, V. M., & Alexander, C. (2017). HEALTH EQUITY.
- Bogart, L. M., Wagner, G. J., Galvan, F. H., & Klein, D. J. (2010). Longitudinal Relationships Between Antiretroviral Treatment Adherence and Discrimination Due to HIV-Serostatus, Race, and Sexual Orientation Among African–American Men with HIV. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 40(2), 184-190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-010-9200-x

- Bogart, L. M., Wagner, G. J., Galvan, F. H., Landrine, H., Klein, D. J., & Sticklor, L. A. (2011). Perceived discrimination and mental health symptoms among Black men with HIV. *Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol*, *17*(3), 295-302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024056</u>
- Bollen, K. A., & Curran, P. J. (2006). Latent curve models: A structural equation perspective. John Wiley & Sons.
- Bonvicini, K. A. (2017). LGBT healthcare disparities: What progress have we made? Patient Education and Counseling, 100(12), 2357-2361. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2017.06.003</u>
- Bowleg, L. (2012). The problem with the phrase women and minorities: intersectionalityan important theoretical framework for public health. *Am J Public Health*, *102*(7), 1267-1273. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.300750</u>
- Brown, C. A., Sullivan, P. S., Stephenson, R., Baral, S. D., Bekker, L.-G., Phaswana-Mafuya, N. R., Simbayi, L. C., Sanchez, T., Valencia, R. K., & Zahn, R. J. (2021). Developing and validating the Multidimensional Sexual Identity Stigma Scale among men who have sex with men in South Africa. *Stigma and Health.*
- Brown, T. A. (2015). *Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research*. Guilford publications.
- Browne, M. W., & Cudeck, R. (1992). Alternative ways of assessing model fit. Sociological methods & research, 21(2), 230-258.
- Bryant, K. J., Windle, M. E., & West, S. G. (1997). *The science of prevention: Methodological advances from alcohol and substance abuse research*. American
 Psychological Association.

- Burch, L. S., Smith, C. J., Anderson, J., Sherr, L., Rodger, A. J., O'Connell, R., Geretti,
 A. M., Gilson, R., Fisher, M., Elford, J., Jones, M., Collins, S., Azad, Y., Phillips,
 A. N., Speakman, A., Johnson, M. A., & Lampe, F. C. (2016). Socioeconomic status and treatment outcomes for individuals with HIV on antiretroviral treatment in the UK: cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. *Lancet Public Health*, *1*(1), e26-e36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468-2667(16)30002-0</u>
- Bwambale, F. M., Ssali, S. N., Byaruhanga, S., Kalyango, J. N., & Karamagi, C. A. (2008). Voluntary HIV counselling and testing among men in rural western Uganda: implications for HIV prevention. *BMC Public Health*, *8*, 263-263. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-8-263
- Byrne, B. M., Shavelson, R. J., & Muthén, B. (1989). Testing for the equivalence of factor covariance and mean structures: the issue of partial measurement invariance. *Psychological bulletin*, 105(3), 456.
- Cao, J., & Guo, L. (2016). Chinese "Tongzhi" community, civil society, and online activism. *Communication and the Public*, 1(4), 504-508.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2057047316683199

- Cao, W., Hsieh, E., & Li, T. (2020). Optimizing Treatment for Adults with HIV/AIDS in China: Successes over Two Decades and Remaining Challenges. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, 17(1), 26-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-019-00478-x</u>
- Capron, D. W., Gonzalez, A., Parent, J., Zvolensky, M. J., & Schmidt, N. B. (2012).
 Suicidality and anxiety sensitivity in adults with HIV. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 26(5), 298-303.

- Carrico, A. W. (2010). Elevated suicide rate among HIV-positive persons despite benefits of antiretroviral therapy: implications for a stress and coping model of suicide. In (Vol. 167, pp. 117-119): Am Psychiatric Assoc.
- Carrillo, H., & Hoffman, A. (2016). From MSM to heteroflexibilities: Non-exclusive straight male identities and their implications for HIV prevention and health promotion. *Global Public Health*, 11(7-8), 923-936.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2015.1134272

Cascade Collaboration. (2003). Differences in CD4 Cell Counts at Seroconversion and Decline Among 5739 HIV-1–Infected Individuals with Well-Estimated Dates of Seroconversion. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, *34*(1).

https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2003/09010/Differences in CD4_Cell_Co unts_at_Seroconversion.12.aspx

- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016). *HIV surveillance report*. Retrieved Feb 17 from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/library/reports/hiv-surveillance.html</u>
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2019). *Understanding Care*. Retrieved Feb. 20 from https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/livingwithhiv/understanding-care.html
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a). *HIV stigma and discrimination*. Retrieved June 15 from https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/hiv-stigma/index.html

Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b). Sexually Transmitted Infections Treatment Guidelines. Retrieved March 30 from

https://www.cdc.gov/std/treatment-guidelines/msm.htm

Chakraborty, H., Iyer, M., Duffus, W. A., Samantapudi, A. V., Albrecht, H., & Weissman, S. (2015). Disparities in viral load and CD4 count trends among HIVinfected adults in South Carolina. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 29(1), 26-32. https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2014.0158

Chan, S. K., Thornton, L. R., Chronister, K. J., Meyer, J., Wolverton, M., Johnson, C. K., Arafat, R. R., Joyce, M. P., Switzer, W. M., & Heneine, W. (2014). Likely female-to-female sexual transmission of HIV—Texas, 2012. *MMWR. Morbidity* and mortality weekly report, 63(10), 209.

Chapman, R., Watkins, R., Zappia, T., Nicol, P., & Shields, L. (2012). Nursing and medical students' attitude, knowledge and beliefs regarding lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender parents seeking health care for their children. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 21(7-8), 938-945.

Chen, H., Luo, L., Pan, S. W., Lan, G., Zhu, Q., Li, J., Zhu, J., Chen, Y., Shen, Z., Ge, X., Tang, Z., Xing, H., Shao, Y., Ruan, Y., & Yang, W. (2019). HIV
Epidemiology and Prevention in Southwestern China: Trends from 1996-2017. *Current HIV Research*, 17(2), 85-93.

https://doi.org/10.2174/1570162X17666190703163838

- Chen, S.-Y., Feng, Z., & Yi, X. (2017). A general introduction to adjustment for multiple comparisons. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 9(6), 1725-1729. <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.05.34</u>
- Chesney, M. A., Ickovics, J. R., Chambers, D. B., Gifford, A. L., Neidig, J., Zwickl, B.,Wu, A. W., Patient Care, C., amp, & Adherence Working Group Of TheOutcomes Committee Of The Adult Aids Clinical Trials, G. (2000). Self-reported

adherence to antiretroviral medications among participants in HIV clinical trials: The AACTG Adherence Instruments. *AIDS Care*, *12*(3), 255-266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120050042891</u>

- Chi, P., Li, X., Zhao, J., & Zhao, G. (2014). Vicious Circle of Perceived Stigma, Enacted Stigma and Depressive Symptoms Among Children Affected by HIV/AIDS in China. *AIDS and Behavior*, *18*(6), 1054-1062. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-013-0649-z</u>
- Chi, Y., Huang, D., Lindgren, T., Goldsamt, L., Zhou, J., Ren, Y., Zhang, L., & Li, X. (2022). The association between HIV disclosure, spousal testing and unprotected vaginal intercourse within marriage among HIV positive married MSM in China. *AIDS Care*, 1-8.
- China Ministry of Health. (2011). 2011 Estimates for the HIV/AIDS Epidemic in China. Retrieved Feb 25 from

http://www.antoniocasella.eu/archila/CHINA_HIV_AIDS_2011.pdf

- Clinical info. (2014). Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Adults and Adolescents Living with HIV. Retrieved July 10 from <u>https://clinicalinfo.hiv.gov/en/guidelines/hiv-clinical-guidelines-adult-and-adolescent-arv/plasma-hiv-1-rna-viral-load-and-cd4</u>
- Cole, S. W., Kemeny, M. E., & Taylor, S. E. (1997). Social identity and physical health: accelerated HIV progression in rejection-sensitive gay men. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 72(2), 320.
- Comulada, W. S., Rotheram-Borus, M. J., Pequegnat, W., Weiss, R. E., Desmond, K. A., Arnold, E. M., Remien, R. H., Morin, S. F., Weinhardt, L. S., Johnson, M. O., &

Chesney, M. A. (2010). Relationships over time between mental health symptoms and transmission risk among persons living with HIV. *Psychol Addict Behav*, 24(1), 109-118. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018190

Cortina, J. M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(1), 98.

Courtenay–Quirk, C., Wolitski, R. J., Parsons, J. T., & Gómez, C. A. (2006a). Is
 HIV/AIDS Stigma Dividing the Gay Community? Perceptions of HIV–positive
 Men Who Have Sex With Men. *AIDS Education and Prevention*, *18*(1), 56-67.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/aeap.2006.18.1.56</u>

- Courtenay–Quirk, C., Wolitski, R. J., Parsons, J. T., Gomez, C. A., Education, S. U. M. s.
 S. T. J. A., & Prevention. (2006b). Is HIV/AIDS stigma dividing the gay community? Perceptions of HIV–positive men who have sex with men. *18*(1), 56-67.
- Cousineau, D., & Chartier, S. (2010). Outliers detection and treatment: a review. International Journal of Psychological Research, 3(1), 58-67.
- Crepaz, N., Dong, X., Wang, X., Hernandez, A. L., & Hall, H. I. (2018). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Sustained Viral Suppression and Transmission Risk Potential Among Persons Receiving HIV Care - United States, 2014. MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 67(4), 113-118. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6704a2
- Crepaz, N., Marshall, K. J., Aupont, L. W., Jacobs, E. D., Mizuno, Y., Kay, L. S., Jones, P., McCree, D. H., & O'Leary, A. (2009). The efficacy of HIV/STI behavioral

interventions for African American females in the United States: a meta-analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*, 99(11), 2069-2078.

- Crepaz, N., Passin, W. F., Herbst, J. H., Rama, S. M., Malow, R. M., Purcell, D. W., & Wolitski, R. J. (2008). Meta-analysis of cognitive-behavioral interventions on HIV-positive persons' mental health and immune functioning. *Health Psychology*, 27(1), 4.
- Crockett, K. B., Edmonds, A., Johnson, M. O., Neilands, T. B., Kempf, M.-C., Konkle-Parker, D., Wingood, G., Tien, P. C., Cohen, M., Wilson, T. E., Logie, C. H., Sosanya, O., Plankey, M., Golub, E., Adimora, A. A., Parish, C., Weiser, S. D., Turan, J. M., & Turan, B. (2019). Neighborhood Racial Diversity, Socioeconomic Status, and Perceptions of HIV-Related Discrimination and Internalized HIV Stigma Among Women Living with HIV in the United States. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, *33*(6), 270-281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2019.0004</u>
- Cui, Y., Shi, C. X., & Wu, Z. (2017). Epidemiology of HIV/AIDS in China: recent trends. *Global Health Journal*, 1(1), 26-32.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S2414-6447(19)30057-0

D'Souza, G., Benning, L., Stosor, V., Witt, M., Johnson, J., Friedman, M., & Abraham,
A. (2021). The shifting picture of HIV treatment, comorbidity and substance use among US MSM living with HIV. *HIV Medicine*, 22(7), 538-546.

Dean, J. J. (2014). Straights: Heterosexuality in post-closeted culture. NYU Press.

 Dempster, A. P., Laird, N. M., & Rubin, D. B. (1977). Maximum Likelihood from Incomplete Data Via the EM Algorithm [https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1977.tb01600.x]. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (*Methodological*), *39*(1), 1-22. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-</u> 6161.1977.tb01600.x

- Dong, M. J., Peng, B., Liu, Z. F., Ye, Q. N., Liu, H., Lu, X. L., Zhang, B., & Chen, J. J. (2019). The prevalence of HIV among MSM in China: a large-scale systematic analysis. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 19(1), 1000. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-4559-1</u>
- dos Santos, M. M. L., Kruger, P., Mellors, S. E., Wolvaardt, G., & van der Ryst, E.
 (2014). An exploratory survey measuring stigma and discrimination experienced
 by people living with HIV/AIDS in South Africa: the People Living with HIV
 Stigma Index. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-80</u>
- Dowshen, N., Binns, H. J., & Garofalo, R. (2009). Experiences of HIV-Related Stigma Among Young Men Who Have Sex with Men. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 23(5), 371-376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2008.0256</u>
- Dubov, A., Galbo, P., Altice, F. L., & Fraenkel, L. (2018). Stigma and Shame
 Experiences by MSM Who Take PrEP for HIV Prevention: A Qualitative Study.
 American Journal of Men's Health, 12(6), 1843-1854.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318797437

Earnshaw, V. A., & Chaudoir, S. R. (2009). From Conceptualizing to Measuring HIV Stigma: A Review of HIV Stigma Mechanism Measures. *AIDS and Behavior*, *13*(6), 1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-009-9593-3</u>

Earnshaw, V. A., Smith, L. R., Chaudoir, S. R., Amico, K. R., & Copenhaver, M. M. (2013). HIV stigma mechanisms and well-being among PLWH: a test of the HIV

stigma framework. AIDS and Behavior, 17(5), 1785-1795.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-013-0437-9

- English, D., Rendina, H. J., & Parsons, J. T. (2018a). The Effects of Intersecting Stigma:
 A Longitudinal Examination of Minority Stress, Mental Health, and Substance
 Use among Black, Latino, and Multiracial Gay and Bisexual Men. *Psychology of Violence*, 8(6), 669-679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000218</u>
- English, D., Rendina, H. J., & Parsons, J. T. (2018b). The Effects of Intersecting Stigma:
 A Longitudinal Examination of Minority Stress, Mental Health, and Substance
 Use among Black, Latino, and Multiracial Gay and Bisexual Men. *Psychol Violence*, 8(6), 669-679. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000218
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. (2019). *HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2019 - 2018 data*. Retrieved May 28 from <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/hivaids-surveillance-europe-</u> <u>2019-2018-data</u>
- Feng, Y., Wu, Z., & Detels, R. (2010). Evolution of men who have sex with men community and experienced stigma among men who have sex with men in Chengdu, China. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 53 Suppl *I*(Suppl 1), S98-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181c7df71</u>

Finneran, C., & Stephenson, R. (2014). Intimate Partner Violence, Minority Stress, and Sexual Risk-Taking Among U.S. Men Who Have Sex With Men. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 61(2), 288-306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2013.839911</u>

- Fisher, C. B., Fried, A. L., Macapagal, K., Mustanski, B. J. A., & Behavior. (2018). Patient–provider communication barriers and facilitators to HIV and STI preventive services for adolescent MSM. 22(10), 3417-3428.
- Fitzgerald-Husek, A., Van Wert, M. J., Ewing, W. F., Grosso, A. L., Holland, C. E., Katterl, R., Rosman, L., Agarwal, A., & Baral, S. D. (2017). Measuring stigma affecting sex workers (SW) and men who have sex with men (MSM): a systematic review. *PloS one*, *12*(11), e0188393.
- Fortenberry, J. D., McFarlane, M., Bleakley, A., Bull, S., Fishbein, M., Grimley, D. M., Malotte, C. K., & Stoner, B. P. (2002). Relationships of stigma and shame to gonorrhea and HIV screening. *American Journal of Public Health*, 92(3), 378-381. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.92.3.378</u>
- Frentz, D., van de Vijver, D., Abecasis, A., Albert, J., Hamouda, O., Jørgensen, L., Kücherer, C., Struck, D., Schmit, J.-C., & Vercauteren, J. (2014). Patterns of transmitted HIV drug resistance in Europe vary by risk group. *PloS One*, 9(4), e94495.
- Fuster-Ruizdeapodaca, M. J., Molero, F., Holgado, F. P., & Mayordomo, S. (2014). Enacted and internalized stigma and quality of life among people with HIV: the role of group identity. *Quality of Life Research*, 23(7), 1967-1975. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-014-0653-4

Gao, L., Zhang, L., & Jin, Q. (2009). Meta-analysis: prevalence of HIV infection and syphilis among MSM in China. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 85(5), 354-358.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/sti.2008.034702</u>

- Global Network of People Living with HIV. (2022). *Country Reports of Stigma Index*. Retrieved May 20 from https://www.stigmaindex.org/country-reports/
- Goffman, E. (2009). *Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity*. Simon and schuster.
- Goldberg, A. E., & Smith, J. Z. (2011). Stigma, social context, and mental health: lesbian and gay couples across the transition to adoptive parenthood. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 58(1), 139-150. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021684
- Gonzalez, A., Solomon, S. E., Zvolensky, M. J., & Miller, C. T. (2009). The Interaction of Mindful-based Attention and Awareness and Disengagement Coping with HIV/AIDS-related Stigma in regard to Concurrent Anxiety and Depressive Symptoms among Adults with HIV/AIDS. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *14*(3), 403-413. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105309102193
- Gottert, A., Friedland, B., Geibel, S., Nyblade, L., Baral, S. D., Kentutsi, S., Mallouris, C., Sprague, L., Hows, J., Anam, F., Amanyeiwe, U., & Pulerwitz, J. (2019). The People Living with HIV (PLHIV) Resilience Scale: Development and Validation in Three Countries in the Context of the PLHIV Stigma Index. *AIDS and Behavior*, 23(Suppl 2), 172-182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-02594-6</u>
- Gottert, A., McClair, T. L., Pulerwitz, J., & Friedland, B. A. (2020). What shapes resilience among people living with HIV? A multi-country analysis of data from the PLHIV Stigma Index 2.0. *AIDS*, 34 Suppl 1, S19-s31.

https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.00000000002587

Gourlay, A., Fox, J., Gafos, M., Fidler, S., Nwokolo, N., Clarke, A., Gilson, R., Orkin, C., Collins, S., Porter, K., & Hart, G. (2017). A qualitative study exploring the

social and environmental context of recently acquired HIV infection among men who have sex with men in South-East England. *BMJ Open*, 7(8), e016494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016494</u>

- Govindasamy, D., Ford, N., & Kranzer, K. (2012a). Risk factors, barriers and facilitators for linkage to antiretroviral therapy care: a systematic review. *Aids*, 26(16), 2059-2067.
- Govindasamy, D., Ford, N., & Kranzer, K. (2012b). Risk factors, barriers and facilitators for linkage to antiretroviral therapy care: a systematic review. *AIDS*, 26(16), 2059-2067. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283578b9b
- Guangxi Center of Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Know your status, embrace health.* <u>http://www.gxcdc.com/zxdt/2018/1204/9594.html</u>.

Guimaraes, M. D. C., Kendall, C., Magno, L., Rocha, G. M., Knauth, D. R., Leal, A. F., Dourado, I., Veras, M. A., de Brito, A. M., Kerr, L. R. F. S., & Grp, B. H.-M. S. (2018). Comparing HIV risk-related behaviors between 2 RDS national samples of MSM in Brazil, 2009 and 2016. *Medicine*, 97(1 Suppl), S62-S68. https://doi.org/ARTN e907910.1097/MD.00000000000009079

- Gupta, S. B., Gilbert, R. L., Brady, A. R., Livingstone, S. J., Evans, B. G., & on behalf of the, C. D. S. S. A. G. (2000). CD4 cell counts in adults with newly diagnosed HIV infection: results of surveillance in England and Wales, 1990–1998. *AIDS*, *14*(7). https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2000/05050/CD4_cell_counts_in_ad https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2000/05050/CD4_cell_counts_in_ad https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2000/05050/CD4_cell_counts_in_ad https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2000/05050/CD4_cell_counts_in_ad https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2000/05050/CD4_cell_counts_in_ad https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2000/05050/CD4_cell_counts_in_ad
- Gyamerah, A. O., Collier, K. L., Reddy, V., & Sandfort, T. G. M. (2019). Sexuality Disclosure Among Black South African MSM and Responses by Family. *The*

Journal of Sex Research, 56(9), 1203-1218.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2018.1559917

- Ha, H., Ross, M. W., Risser, J. M. H., & Nguyen, H. T. M. (2013). Measurement of Stigma in Men Who Have Sex with Men in Hanoi, Vietnam: Assessment of a Homosexuality-Related Stigma Scale. *Journal of sexually transmitted diseases*, 2013, 174506-174506. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/174506</u>
- Haider, M. R., Brown, M. J., Harrison, S., Yang, X., Ingram, L., Bhochhibhoya, A.,
 Hamilton, A., Olatosi, B., & Li, X. (2021). Sociodemographic factors affecting viral load suppression among people living with HIV in South Carolina. *AIDS Care*, *33*(3), 290-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2019.1703892</u>
- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Babin, B. J., & Black, W. C. (2010). Multivariate data analysis: A global perspective (Vol. 7). In: Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Hall, H. I., Walker, F., Shah, D., & Belle, E. (2012). Trends in HIV Diagnoses and Testing Among U.S. Adolescents and Young Adults. *AIDS and Behavior*, *16*(1), 36-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-011-9944-8</u>
- Hansen, N. B., Vaughan, E. L., Cavanaugh, C. E., Connell, C. M., & Sikkema, K. J. (2009). Health-related quality of life in bereaved HIV-positive adults: relationships between HIV symptoms, grief, social support, and Axis II indication. *Health Psychology*, 28(2), 249-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013168</u>
- Hansson, Å., & Gustafsson, J.-E. (2013). Measurement Invariance of Socioeconomic
 Status Across Migrational Background. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 57(2), 148-166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2011.625570</u>

Hatzenbuehler, M. L., McLaughlin, K. A., & Slopen, N. (2013a). Sexual orientation disparities in cardiovascular biomarkers among young adults. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 44(6), 612-621.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2013.01.027

- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Erickson, S. J. (2008). Minority stress predictors of HIV risk behavior, substance use, and depressive symptoms: Results from a prospective study of bereaved gay men. *Health Psychology*, 27(4), 455-462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.27.4.455</u>
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Phelan, J. C., & Link, B. G. (2013b). Stigma as a fundamental cause of population health inequalities. *Am J Public Health*, *103*(5), 813-821. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2012.301069</u>
- He, Q., Peng, W. J., Zhang, J. Q., Wang, B. X., & Wang, J. (2012). Prevalence of unprotected anal intercourse and unprotected vaginal intercourse among HIVpositive men who have sex with men in China: a meta-analysis. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 88(3), 229-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/sextrans-2011-</u> 050230
- Heckman, T. G., Anderson, E. S., Sikkema, K. J., Kochman, A., Kalichman, S. C., & Anderson, T. (2004). Emotional distress in nonmetropolitan persons living with HIV disease enrolled in a telephone-delivered, coping improvement group intervention. *Health Psychology*, 23(1), 94-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.23.1.94</u>

- Helms, J. D., Tran, A., Carnes, N., & Nehl, E. J. (2022). Barriers to HIV Related Services among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in Rural Georgia. *Journal of the Georgia Public Health Association*, 8(3), 15.
- Henkel, K. E., Brown, K., & Kalichman, S. C. (2008). AIDS-Related Stigma in Individuals With Other Stigmatized Identities in the USA: A Review of Layered Stigmas. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 2(4), 1586-1599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2008.00116.x</u>
- Herek, G. M. (2004). Beyond "Homophobia": Thinking about sexual prejudice and stigma in the twenty-first century. *Sexuality Research & Social Policy*, 1(2), 6-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/srsp.2004.1.2.6</u>
- Herek, G. M., Gillis, J. R., & Cogan, J. C. (2009). Internalized stigma among sexual minority adults: Insights from a social psychological perspective. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 56(1), 32.
- Hessou, P. H. S., Glele-Ahanhanzo, Y., Adekpedjou, R., Ahouada, C., Johnson, R. C., Boko, M., Zomahoun, H. T. V., & Alary, M. (2019). Comparison of the prevalence rates of HIV infection between men who have sex with men (MSM) and men in the general population in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health*, *19*(1), 1634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-</u> 019-8000-x
- Heywood, W., & Lyons, A. (2016). HIV and Elevated Mental Health Problems:Diagnostic, Treatment, and Risk Patterns for Symptoms of Depression, Anxiety, and Stress in a National Community-Based Cohort of Gay Men Living with HIV.

AIDS and Behavior, 20(8), 1632-1645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-016-1324-</u> Y

Hightow-Weidman, L. B., Jones, K., Phillips, G., 2nd, Wohl, A., Giordano, T. P., &
Group, Y. o. C. S. I. S. (2011). Baseline clinical characteristics, antiretroviral therapy use, and viral load suppression among HIV-positive young men of color who have sex with men. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*, *25 Suppl 1*, S9-14.
https://doi.org/10.1089/apc.2011.9881

Horberg, M. A., Silverberg, M. J., Hurley, L. B., Towner, W. J., Klein, D. B., Bersoff-Matcha, S., Weinberg, W. G., Antoniskis, D., Mogyoros, M., Dodge, W. T.,
Dobrinich, R., Quesenberry, C. P., & Kovach, D. A. (2008). Effects of Depression and Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitor Use on Adherence to Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy and on Clinical Outcomes in HIV-Infected Patients. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, *47*(3).
<u>https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2008/03010/Effects_of_Depression_and_Selective_Serotonin.18.aspx</u>

Hospers, H. J., Kok, G., Harterink, P., & de Zwart, O. (2005). A new meeting place: chatting on the Internet, e-dating and sexual risk behaviour among Dutch men who have sex with men. *AIDS*, *19*(10), 1097-1101.

https://doi.org/10.1097/01.aids.0000174457.08992.62

 Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff Criteria for Fit Indexes in Covariance Structure Analysis: Conventional Criteria Versus New Alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling-a Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(1), 1-55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118

- Hussen, S. A., Easley, K. A., Smith, J. C., Shenvi, N., Harper, G. W., Camacho-Gonzalez, A. F., Stephenson, R., & Del Rio, C. (2018). Social Capital, Depressive Symptoms, and HIV Viral Suppression Among Young Black, Gay, Bisexual and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men Living with HIV. *AIDS and Behavior*, 22(9), 3024-3032. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2105-6</u>
- Ingram, L., Stafford, C., Deming, M. E., Anderson, J. D., Robillard, A., & Li, X. (2019).
 A Systematic Mixed Studies Review of the Intersections of Social–Ecological
 Factors and HIV Stigma in People Living With HIV in the US South. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care*, *30*(3), 330-343.
- International Lesbian, G., Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association,,. (2017). *State-Sponsored Homophobia: A World Survey of Sexual Orientatoin Laws: Criminalization, Protection, and Recognition. 11th ed.* Geneva: ILGA.
- James, A., & Dixit, N. M. (2022). Transmitted HIV-1 is more virulent in heterosexual individuals than men-who-have-sex-with-men. *PLoS Pathogens*, *18*(3), e1010319.
- Jeffries IV, W. L., Townsend, E. S., Gelaude, D. J., Torrone, E. A., Gasiorowicz, M., Bertolli, J. J. A. E., & Prevention. (2015). HIV stigma experienced by young men who have sex with men (MSM) living with HIV infection. 27(1), 58-71.
- Kang, E., Rapkin, B. D., Remien, R. H., Mellins, C. A., & Oh, A. (2005). Multiple
 Dimensions of HIV Stigma and Psychological Distress Among Asians and Pacific
 Islanders Living With HIV Illness. *AIDS and Behavior*, 9(2), 145-154.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-005-3896-9
- Kelava, A., Werner, C. S., Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., Zapf, D., Ma, Y., Cham, H., Aiken, L. S., & West, S. G. (2011). Advanced Nonlinear Latent

Variable Modeling: Distribution Analytic LMS and QML Estimators of Interaction and Quadratic Effects. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 18(3), 465-491.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2011.582408

- Khan, S. J. J. o. h. (2001). Culture, sexualities, and identities: men who have sex with men in India. *40*(3-4), 99-115.
- Kim, H. Y., Grosso, A., Ky-Zerbo, O., Lougue, M., Stahlman, S., Samadoulougou, C., Ouedraogo, G., Kouanda, S., Liestman, B., & Baral, S. (2018). Stigma as a barrier to health care utilization among female sex workers and men who have sex with men in Burkina Faso. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 28(1), 13-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2017.11.009
- Klein, A., & Moosbrugger, H. (2000). Maximum likelihood estimation of latent interaction effects with the LMS method. *Psychometrika*, 65(4), 457-474.
- Klein, A. G., & Muthén, B. O. (2007). Quasi-maximum likelihood estimation of structural equation models with multiple interaction and quadratic effects. *Multivariate behavioral research*, 42(4), 647-673.
- Ko, N. Y., Lee, H. C., Hsu, S. T., Wang, W. L., Huang, M. C., & Ko, W. C. (2007).
 Differences in HIV disclosure by modes of transmission in Taiwanese families. *AIDS Care*, *19*(6), 791-798. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120601095718</u>
- Koblin, B. A., Husnik, M. J., Colfax, G., Huang, Y., Madison, M., Mayer, K., Barresi, P. J., Coates, T. J., Chesney, M. A., & Buchbinder, S. (2006). Risk factors for HIV infection among men who have sex with men. *AIDS*, 20(5).

https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2006/03210/Risk_factors_for_HIV_i nfection_among_men_who_have.13.aspx

Kohout, F. J., Berkman, L. F., Evans, D. A., & Cornoni-Huntley, J. (1993). Two shorter forms of the CES-D (Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression) depression symptoms index. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 5(2), 179-193.

https://doi.org/10.1177/089826439300500202

- Kwakwa, H. A., & Ghobrial, M. W. (2003). Female-to-female transmission of human immunodeficiency virus. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 36(3), e40-e41.
- Lan, G., Chen, Y., Tang, S., Shen, Z., Tang, Z., Ruan, Y., Adnan, Y. M., & Wensheng, F. (2018). HIV, syphilis and behavioral risk factors among men who have sex with men in a drug-using area of southwestern China: Results of 3 cross-sectional surveys from 2013 to 2015. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 97(16), e0404. https://doi.org/10.1097/md.000000000010404
- Layland, E. K., Carter, J. A., Perry, N. S., Cienfuegos-Szalay, J., Nelson, K. M., Bonner,
 C. P., & Rendina, H. J. (2020). A systematic review of stigma in sexual and
 gender minority health interventions. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 10(5),
 1200-1210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ibz200</u>
- Lee, J. H., Gamarel, K. E., Bryant, K. J., Zaller, N. D., & Operario, D. (2016).
 Discrimination, Mental Health, and Substance Use Disorders Among Sexual Minority Populations. *LGBT Health*, 3(4), 258-265.

https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2015.0135

- Lee, R. S., Kochman, A., & Sikkema, K. J. (2002). Internalized Stigma Among People Living with HIV-AIDS. AIDS and Behavior, 6(4), 309-319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021144511957</u>
- Lewis, J., Walker, A. S., Castro, H., De Rossi, A., Gibb, D. M., Giaquinto, C., Klein, N., & Callard, R. (2012). Age and CD4 Count at Initiation of Antiretroviral Therapy in HIV-Infected Children: Effects on Long-term T-Cell Reconstitution. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 205(4), 548-556.

https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jir787

- Lo Hog Tian, J. M., Watson, J. R., Ibáñez-Carrasco, F., Tran, B., Parsons, J. A., Maunder, R. G., Card, K. G., Baral, S., Hui, C., Boni, A. R., Ajiboye, M., Lindsay, J. D., & Rourke, S. B. (2021). Impact of experienced HIV stigma on health is mediated by internalized stigma and depression: results from the people living with HIV stigma index in Ontario. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1), 1595. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11596-w</u>
- Logie, C., & Gadalla, T. M. (2009). Meta-analysis of health and demographic correlates of stigma towards people living with HIV. *AIDS Care*, 21(6), 742-753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540120802511877</u>
- Logie, C. H., Williams, C. C., Wang, Y., Marcus, N., Kazemi, M., Cioppa, L., Kaida, A., Webster, K., Beaver, K., & de Pokomandy, A. (2019). Adapting stigma mechanism frameworks to explore complex pathways between intersectional stigma and HIV-related health outcomes among women living with HIV in Canada. *Social Science and Medicine*, 232, 129-138.

- Lowther, K., Selman, L., Harding, R., & Higginson, I. J. (2014a). Experience of persistent psychological symptoms and perceived stigma among people with HIV on antiretroviral therapy (ART): a systematic review. *Int J Nurs Stud*, *51*(8), 1171-1189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.01.015</u>
- Lowther, K., Selman, L., Harding, R., & Higginson, I. J. (2014b). Experience of persistent psychological symptoms and perceived stigma among people with HIV on antiretroviral therapy (ART): a systematic review. *International journal of nursing studies*, 51(8), 1171-1189.

Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Foreman, K., Lim, S., Shibuya, K., Aboyans, V., Abraham, J., Adair, T., Aggarwal, R., Ahn, S. Y., AlMazroa, M. A., Alvarado, M., Anderson, H. R., Anderson, L. M., Andrews, K. G., Atkinson, C., Baddour, L. M., Barker-Collo, S., Bartels, D. H., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2012). Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *The Lancet*, *380*(9859), 2095-2128. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0

- Lyons, C. E., Olawore, O., Turpin, G., Coly, K., Ketende, S., Liestman, B., Ba, I., Drame, F. M., Ndour, C., Turpin, N., Ndiaye, S. M., Mboup, S., Toure-Kane, C., Leye-Diouf, N., Castor, D., Diouf, D., & Baral, S. D. (2020). Intersectional stigmas and HIV-related outcomes among a cohort of key populations enrolled in stigma mitigation interventions in Senegal. *AIDS*, *34 Suppl 1*(Suppl 1), S63-s71. https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.00000000002641
- Magnani, R., Sabin, K., Saidel, T., & Heckathorn, D. (2005). Review of sampling hardto-reach and hidden populations for HIV surveillance. *AIDS*, *19*.

https://journals.lww.com/aidsonline/Fulltext/2005/05002/Review_of_sampling_h ard_to_reach_and_hidden.9.aspx

Mansh, M., Garcia, G., & Lunn, M. R. (2015). From Patients to Providers: Changing the Culture in Medicine Toward Sexual and Gender Minorities. *Academic Medicine*, 90(5).

https://journals.lww.com/academicmedicine/Fulltext/2015/05000/From_Patients_t o_Providers_Changing_the_Culture.15.aspx

- Marsh, K., Eaton, J. W., Mahy, M., Sabin, K., Autenrieth, C. S., Wanyeki, I., Daher, J., & Ghys, P. D. (2019). Global, regional and country-level 90-90-90 estimates for 2018: assessing progress towards the 2020 target. *AIDS*, *33 Suppl 3*(Suppl 3), S213-s226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.0000000002355</u>
- Maslowsky, J., Jager, J., & Hemken, D. (2014). Estimating and interpreting latent variable interactions: A tutorial for applying the latent moderated structural equations method. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *39*(1), 87-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025414552301</u>
- Medley, A., Ackers, M., Amolloh, M., Owuor, P., Muttai, H., Audi, B., Sewe, M., & Laserson, K. (2013a). Early uptake of HIV clinical care after testing HIV-positive during home-based testing and counseling in western Kenya. *AIDS Behav*, *17*(1), 224-234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-012-0344-5</u>

Medley, A., Ackers, M., Amolloh, M., Owuor, P., Muttai, H., Audi, B., Sewe, M., & Laserson, K. (2013b). Early uptake of HIV clinical care after testing HIV-positive during home-based testing and counseling in western Kenya. *AIDS and Behavior*, *17*(1), 224-234.

- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(5), 674-697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.674</u>
- Mi, T., Li, X., Zhou, G., Qiao, S., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2020). HIV Disclosure to Family Members and Medication Adherence: Role of Social Support and Selfefficacy. *AIDS and Behavior*, 24(1), 45-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-02456-1</u>
- Mill, J., Edwards, N., Jackson, R., Austin, W., MacLean, L., & Reintjes, F. (2009).
 Accessing health services while living with HIV: Intersections of stigma.
 Canadian Journal of Nursing Research Archive, 41(3).
- Miller, M. J., & Sheu, H. (2008). Conceptual and measurement issues in multicultural psychology research. *Handbook of counseling psychology*, *4*, 103-120.
- Mills, T. C., Paul, J., Stall, R., Pollack, L., Canchola, J., Chang, Y. J., Moskowitz, J. T., & Catania, J. A. (2004). Distress and depression in men who have sex with men: the Urban Men's Health Study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *161*(2), 278-285. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.161.2.278
- Mitsch, A., Singh, S., Li, J., Balaji, A., Linley, L., & Selik, R. (2018). Age-Associated
 Trends in Diagnosis and Prevalence of Infection with HIV Among Men Who
 Have Sex with Men United States, 2008-2016. *MMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 67(37), 1025-1031. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6737a2</u>
- Murray, C. J., Vos, T., Lozano, R., Naghavi, M., Flaxman, A. D., Michaud, C., Ezzati,M., Shibuya, K., Salomon, J. A., Abdalla, S., Aboyans, V., Abraham, J.,Ackerman, I., Aggarwal, R., Ahn, S. Y., Ali, M. K., Alvarado, M., Anderson, H.

R., Anderson, L. M., ... Memish, Z. A. (2012). Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*, *380*(9859), 2197-2223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61689-4</u>

- Muthén, L. K., & Muthen, B. (2017). *Mplus user's guide: Statistical analysis with latent variables, user's guide*. Muthén & Muthén.
- Myer, L., Smit, J., Roux, L. L., Parker, S., Stein, D. J., & Seedat, S. (2008). Common mental disorders among HIV-infected individuals in South Africa: prevalence, predictors, and validation of brief psychiatric rating scales. *AIDS Patient Care* and STDs, 22(2), 147-158.
- Neilands, T. B., Steward, W. T., & Choi, K.-H. (2008). Assessment of Stigma Towards Homosexuality in China: A Study of Men Who Have Sex with Men. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 37(5), 838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-007-9305-x</u>
- Nelson, J. A., Kinder, A., Johnson, A. S., Hall, H. I., Hu, X., Sweet, D., Guido, A., Katner, H., Janelle, J., & Gonzalez, M. (2018). Differences in selected HIV care continuum outcomes among people residing in rural, urban, and metropolitan areas—28 US jurisdictions. *The Journal of Rural Health*, *34*(1), 63-70.
- Newcomb, M. E., & Mustanski, B. (2011). Moderators of the Relationship Between Internalized Homophobia and Risky Sexual Behavior in Men Who Have Sex with Men: A Meta-Analysis. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 40(1), 189-199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-009-9573-8
- O'Cleirigh, C., Magidson, J. F., Skeer, M. R., Mayer, K. H., & Safren, S. A. (2015). Prevalence of Psychiatric and Substance Abuse Symptomatology Among HIV-

Infected Gay and Bisexual Men in HIV Primary Care. *Psychosomatics*, *56*(5), 470-478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psym.2014.08.004

- Ortblad, K. F., Lozano, R., & Murray, C. J. L. (2013). The burden of HIV: insights from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. AIDS (London, England), 27(13), 2003-2017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.0b013e328362ba67</u>
- Owen, B. N., Brock, P. M., Butler, A. R., Pickles, M., Brisson, M., Baggaley, R. F., & Boily, M.-C. (2015). Prevalence and Frequency of Heterosexual Anal Intercourse Among Young People: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *AIDS and Behavior*, *19*(7), 1338-1360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-015-0997-y</u>
- Palmer, A., Gabler, K., Rachlis, B., Ding, E., Chia, J., Bacani, N., Bayoumi, A. M., Closson, K., Klein, M., Cooper, C., Burchell, A., Walmsley, S., Kaida, A., Hogg, R., & Canadian Observational Cohort, C. (2018). Viral suppression and viral rebound among young adults living with HIV in Canada. *Medicine*, 97(22), e10562-e10562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.000000000010562</u>
- Parcesepe, A. M., Nash, D., Tymejczyk, O., Reidy, W., Kulkarni, S. G., & Elul, B.
 (2020). Gender, HIV-Related Stigma, and Health-Related Quality of Life Among Adults Enrolling in HIV Care in Tanzania. *AIDS and Behavior*, 24(1), 142-150.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-019-02480-1</u>
- Parsons, J. T., Millar, B. M., Moody, R. L., Starks, T. J., Rendina, H. J., & Grov, C. (2017). Syndemic conditions and HIV transmission risk behavior among HIVnegative gay and bisexual men in a U.S. national sample. *Health Psychology*, *36*(7), 695-703. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000509</u>

Paterson, D. L., Swindells, S., Mohr, J., Brester, M., Vergis, E. N., Squier, C., Wagener, M. M., & Singh, N. (2000). Adherence to protease inhibitor therapy and outcomes in patients with HIV infection. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *133*(1), 21-30. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-133-1-200007040-00004

Peitzmeier, S. M., Grosso, A., Bowes, A., Ceesay, N., & Baral, S. D. (2015).
Associations of Stigma With Negative Health Outcomes for People Living With
HIV in the Gambia: Implications for Key Populations. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 68.
https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2015/03011/Associations_of_Stigma_Wit

h_Negative_Health.11.aspx

- Pence, B. W., Miller, W. C., Gaynes, B. N., & Eron, J. J., Jr. (2007). Psychiatric Illness and Virologic Response in Patients Initiating Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 44(2). <u>https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2007/02010/Psychiatric_Illness_and_Virologic_Response_in.6.aspx</u>
- Penny, K. I. (1996). Appropriate critical values when testing for a single multivariate outlier by using the Mahalanobis distance. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series C (Applied Statistics)*, 45(1), 73-81.

Pirralha, A. (2020). Testing for Measurement Invariance with Many Groups. Retrieved May 10 from <u>https://bookdown.org/content/5737/</u>

Puckett, J. A., Newcomb, M. E., Ryan, D. T., Swann, G., Garofalo, R., & Mustanski, B.(2017). Internalized Homophobia and Perceived Stigma: A Validation Study ofStigma Measures in a Sample of Young Men who Have Sex with Men. *Sexuality*

research & social policy : journal of NSRC : SR & SP, 14(1), 1-16.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-016-0258-5

- Putnick, D. L., & Bornstein, M. H. (2016). Measurement Invariance Conventions and Reporting: The State of the Art and Future Directions for Psychological Research. *Developmental Review*, 41, 71-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2016.06.004</u>
- Putra, I. N. A. M., Waluyo, A., & Yona, S. (2019). The relationship between family acceptance and quality of life and self esteem of PLWH MSM in Medan, North Sumatera, Indonesia. *Enfermeria Clinica*, 29, 291-294. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enfcli.2019.04.036</u>
- Qin, Q. Q., Tang, W. M., Ge, L., Li, D. M., Mahapatra, T., Wang, L. Y., Guo, W., Cui,
 Y., & Sun, J. P. (2016). Changing trend of HIV, Syphilis and Hepatitis C among
 Men Who Have Sex with Men in China. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 1-10.
 https://doi.org/ARTN 3108110.1038/srep31081
- Quinn, D. M., & Chaudoir, S. R. (2009). Living with a concealable stigmatized identity: the impact of anticipated stigma, centrality, salience, and cultural stigma on psychological distress and health. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 97(4), 634.
- Quinn, K., Voisin, D. R., Bouris, A., Jaffe, K., Kuhns, L., Eavou, R., & Schneider, J.
 (2017). Multiple Dimensions of Stigma and Health Related Factors Among
 Young Black Men Who Have Sex with Men. *AIDS and Behavior*, 21(1), 207-216.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-016-1439-1

- Quinn, K. G., & Voisin, D. R. (2020). ART Adherence Among Men Who Have Sex with Men Living with HIV: Key Challenges and Opportunities. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, 17(4), 290-300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-020-00510-5</u>
- Raffa, J. D., Tossonian, H. K., Grebely, J., Petkau, A. J., DeVlaming, S., & Conway, B. (2008). Intermediate highly active antiretroviral therapy adherence thresholds and empirical models for the development of drug resistance mutations. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 47(3), 397-399.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/qai.0b013e31815b0d35

Reinius, M., Wiklander, M., Wettergren, L., Svedhem, V., & Eriksson, L. E. (2018). The Relationship Between Stigma and Health-Related Quality of Life in People Living with HIV Who Have Full Access to Antiretroviral Treatment: An Assessment of Earnshaw and Chaudoir's HIV Stigma Framework Using Empirical Data. *AIDS and Behavior*, 22(12), 3795-3806. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2041-5

 Ren, Z., & Hood, R. W. (2018). Internalized Homophobia Scale for Gay Chinese Men: Conceptualization, Factor Structure, Reliability, and Associations With Hypothesized Correlates. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *12*(5), 1297-1306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988318768603</u>

Reynolds, N. R., Sun, J., Nagaraja, H. N., Gifford, A. L., Wu, A. W., & Chesney, M. A.
(2007). Optimizing Measurement of Self-Reported Adherence With the ACTG
Adherence Questionnaire: A Cross-Protocol Analysis. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 46(4).

https://journals.lww.com/jaids/Fulltext/2007/12010/Optimizing_Measurement_of ______Self_Reported_Adherence.5.aspx

- Robertson, M. M., Braunstein, S. L., Hoover, D. R., Li, S., & Nash, D. (2020). Estimates of the Time From Seroconversion to Antiretroviral Therapy Initiation Among People Newly Diagnosed With Human Immunodeficiency Virus From 2006 to 2015, New York City. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *71*(8), e308-e315. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz1178
- Rogers, S., Tureski, K., Cushnie, A., Brown, A., Bailey, A., & Palmer, Q. (2014).
 Layered stigma among health-care and social service providers toward key affected populations in Jamaica and The Bahamas. *AIDS Care*, 26(5), 538-546.
- Rzeszutek, M. (2018). A longitudinal analysis of posttraumatic growth and affective well-being among people living with HIV: The moderating role of received and provided social support. *PloS One*, *13*(8), e0201641.
- Saracino, A., Lorenzini, P., Lo Caputo, S., Girardi, E., Castelli, F., Bonfanti, P., Rusconi, S., Caramello, P., Abrescia, N., Mussini, C., Monno, L., & d'Arminio Monforte, A. (2016). Increased risk of virologic failure to the first antiretroviral regimen in HIV-infected migrants compared to natives: data from the ICONA cohort. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 22(3), 288.e281-288.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2015.10.026

Sarna, A., Sebastian, M., Bachani, D., Sogarwal, R., & Battala, M. (2014a). Pretreatment loss-to-follow-up after HIV diagnosis from 27 counseling and testing centers across India: findings from a cohort study. *J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care*, *13*(3), 223-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1545109712469686</u>

- Sarna, A., Sebastian, M., Bachani, D., Sogarwal, R., & Battala, M. (2014b). Pretreatment loss-to-follow-up after HIV diagnosis from 27 counseling and testing centers across India: findings from a cohort study. *Journal of the International Association of Providers of AIDS Care (JIAPAC)*, 13(3), 223-231.
- Satorra, A., & Bentler, P. M. (2010). Ensuring Positiveness of the Scaled Difference Chisquare Test Statistic. *Psychometrika*, 75(2), 243-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11336-009-9135-y</u>
- Satorra, A., Heijmans, R., & Pollock, D. (2000). Innovations in multivariate statistical analysis: A festschrift for Heinz Neudecker. In: Springer.
- Schulte, K., Nonte, S., & Schwippert, K. (2013). Die Überprüfung von Messinvarianz in international vergleichenden Schulleistungsstudien am Beispiel der Studie PIRLS. *Zeitschrift für Bildungsforschung*, 3(2), 99-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s35834-</u> 013-0062-8
- Shadloo, B., Amin-Esmaeili, M., Motevalian, A., Mohraz, M., Sedaghat, A., Gouya, M.
 M., & Rahimi-Movaghar, A. (2018). Psychiatric disorders among people living with HIV/AIDS in IRAN: Prevalence, severity, service utilization and unmet mental health needs. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *110*, 24-31. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.04.012
- Shang, H., & Zhang, L. (2015). MSM and HIV-1 infection in China. National Science Review, 2(4), 388-391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nsr/nwv060</u>
- Shao, J., Chang, E. S., & Chen, C. (2018). The relative importance of parent–child dynamics and minority stress on the psychological adjustment of LGBs in China.

Journal of Counseling Psychology, 65(5), 598-604.

https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000281

- Shrout, P. E., & Bolger, N. (2002). Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: new procedures and recommendations. *Psychological Methods*, 7(4), 422-445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.7.4.422</u>
- Shufang Sun, J. E. P., Xiaoming Li, Don Operario. (2020). Addressing minority stress and mental health among men who have sex with men (MSM) in China. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-019-00479-w</u>.
- Siegel, K., Lekas, H.-M., & Schrimshaw, E. W. (2005). Serostatus Disclosure to Sexual Partners by HIV-Infected Women Before and After the Advent of HAART. *Women & Health*, 41(4), 63-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J013v41n04_04</u>
- Solomon, M. M., Mayer, K. H., Glidden, D. V., Liu, A. Y., McMahan, V. M., Guanira, J. V., Chariyalertsak, S., Fernandez, T., & Grant, R. M. (2014). Syphilis Predicts
 HIV Incidence Among Men and Transgender Women Who Have Sex With Men in a Preexposure Prophylaxis Trial. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 59(7), 1020-1026. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciu450
- Stirratt, M. J., Dunbar-Jacob, J., Crane, H. M., Simoni, J. M., Czajkowski, S., Hilliard, M. E., Aikens, J. E., Hunter, C. M., Velligan, D. I., Huntley, K., Ogedegbe, G., Rand, C. S., Schron, E., & Nilsen, W. J. (2015). Self-report measures of medication adherence behavior: recommendations on optimal use. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, *5*(4), 470-482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13142-015-0315-2

- Sun, S., Pachankis, J. E., Li, X., & Operario, D. (2020). Addressing Minority Stress and Mental Health among Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM) in China. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, 17(1), 35-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-019-00479-w</u>
- Sweeney, S. M., & Vanable, P. A. (2016). The Association of HIV-Related Stigma to HIV Medication Adherence: A Systematic Review and Synthesis of the Literature. *AIDS and Behavior*, 20(1), 29-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-015-1164-1</u>
- Tan, D., Holloway, I. W., Gildner, J., Jauregui, J. C., Garcia Alvarez, R., & Guilamo-Ramos, V. (2017). Alcohol Use and HIV Risk Within Social Networks of MSM Sex Workers in the Dominican Republic. *AIDS and Behavior*, 21(Suppl 2), 216-227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-017-1896-1</u>
- Tang, H., Mao, Y., Shi, C. X., Han, J., Wang, L., Xu, J., Qin, Q., Detels, R., & Wu, Z.
 (2014). Baseline CD4 cell counts of newly diagnosed HIV cases in China: 2006–2012. *PloS One*, *9*(6), e96098.
- Tully, D. C., Ogilvie, C. B., Batorsky, R. E., Bean, D. J., Power, K. A., Ghebremichael, M., Bedard, H. E., Gladden, A. D., Seese, A. M., & Amero, M. A. (2016).
 Differences in the selection bottleneck between modes of sexual transmission influence the genetic composition of the HIV-1 founder virus. *PLoS Pathogens*, *12*(5), e1005619.
- Turan, B., Hatcher, A. M., Weiser, S. D., Johnson, M. O., Rice, W. S., & Turan, J. M. J.A. J. o. P. H. (2017). Framing mechanisms linking HIV-related stigma, adherence to treatment, and health outcomes. *107*(6), 863-869.
Turan, J. M., Elafros, M. A., Logie, C. H., Banik, S., Turan, B., Crockett, K. B., Pescosolido, B., & Murray, S. M. (2019). Challenges and opportunities in examining and addressing intersectional stigma and health. *BMC Medicine*, 17(1), 1-15.

UNAIDS. (2021). UNAIDS DATA 2021. Retrieved Feb. 10 from

https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2021/2021_unaids_data

- Valle, A., Treviño, A. C., Zambrano, F. F., Urriola, K. E., Sánchez, L. A., & Elizondo, J. E. (2015). Perceived HIV-Associated Stigma among HIV-Seropositive Men:
 Psychometric Study of HIV Stigma Scale [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2015.00171</u>
- van Kesteren, N. M. C., Hospers, H. J., & Kok, G. (2007). Sexual risk behavior among HIV-positive men who have sex with men: A literature review. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 65(1), 5-20.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2006.09.003

 Vandenberg, R. J., & Lance, C. E. (2000). A Review and Synthesis of the Measurement Invariance Literature: Suggestions, Practices, and Recommendations for Organizational Research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 3(1), 4-70.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/109442810031002

Vos, T., Flaxman, A. D., Naghavi, M., Lozano, R., Michaud, C., Ezzati, M., Shibuya, K., Salomon, J. A., Abdalla, S., Aboyans, V., Abraham, J., Ackerman, I., Aggarwal, R., Ahn, S. Y., Ali, M. K., Alvarado, M., Anderson, H. R., Anderson, L. M., Andrews, K. G., Atkinson, C., ... Memish, Z. A. (2012). Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990-2010: a

systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet*, *380*(9859), 2163-2196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61729-2</u>

- Wang, N., Huang, B., Ruan, Y., Amico, K. R., Vermund, S. H., Zheng, S., & Qian, H.-Z. (2020). Association between stigma towards HIV and MSM and intimate partner violence among newly HIV-diagnosed Chinese men who have sex with men. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 204. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-8259-y
- Wanjala, S. W., Ssewanyana, D., Mwangala, P. N., Nasambu, C., Chongwo, E., Luchters, S., Newton, C., & Abubakar, A. (2021). Validity, reliability, and measurement invariance of an adapted short version of the HIV stigma scale among perinatally HIV infected adolescents at the Kenyan coast. *Glob Health Res Policy*, *6*(1), 49. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41256-021-00229-9
- Weiber, R., & Mühlhaus, D. S. (2014). Eine anwendungsorientierte Einführung in die Kausalanalyse mit Hilfe von AMOS, SmartPLS und SPSS. Structural equation modeling. An application-oriented introduction to causal analysis using AMOS, SmartPLS and SPSS]. 2nd ed. Berlin: Springer Gabler.
- Williams, D. R., Yan, Y., Jackson, J. S., & Anderson, N. B. (1997). Racial Differences in Physical and Mental Health: Socio-economic Status, Stress and Discrimination. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 2(3), 335-351.

https://doi.org/10.1177/135910539700200305

Wohl, A. R., Galvan, F. H., Carlos, J. A., Myers, H. F., Garland, W., Witt, M. D.,Cadden, J., Operskalski, E., Jordan, W., & George, S. (2013). A comparison ofMSM stigma, HIV stigma and depression in HIV-positive Latino and African

American men who have sex with men (MSM). *AIDS and Behavior*, *17*(4), 1454-1464. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-012-0385-9</u>

- Wolitski, R. J., Pals, S. L., Kidder, D. P., Courtenay-Quirk, C., & Holtgrave, D. R.
 (2009). The effects of HIV stigma on health, disclosure of HIV status, and risk behavior of homeless and unstably housed persons living with HIV. *AIDS and Behavior*, *13*(6), 1222-1232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-008-9455-4</u>
- World Health Organization. (2021). *Men who have sex with men*. Retrieved Jan. 22 from <u>https://www.who.int/teams/global-hiv-hepatitis-and-stis-</u> programmes/populations/men-who-have-sex-with-men
- World Health Organization. (2022). Global HIV, Hepatitis and STIs Programmes. Retrieved Feb. 20 from <u>https://www.who.int/teams/global-hiv-hepatitis-and-stis-programmes/populations/men-who-have-sex-with-men</u>
- Wu, J. (2003). From "Long Yang" and "Dui Shi" to Tongzhi: Homosexuality in China. Journal of Gay & Lesbian Psychotherapy, 7(1-2), 117-143. https://doi.org/10.1300/J236v07n01_08
- Wu, Z. (2015). Analysis of Global and China HIV/AIDS epidemic and prevention strategy. *Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention*.
- Wu, Z., Chen, J., Scott, S. R., & McGoogan, J. M. (2019). History of the HIV Epidemic in China. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*, 16(6), 458-466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11904-019-00471-4
- Wu, Z., McGoogan, J. M., & Detels, R. (2021). The Enigma of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) Epidemic in China. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 72(5), 876-881. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa835</u>

- Wu, Z., Sullivan, S. G., Wang, Y., Rotheram-Borus, M. J., & Detels, R. (2007).
 Evolution of China's response to HIV/AIDS. *Lancet*, *369*(9562), 679-690.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60315-8
- Xia, Q., Robbins, R. S., Lazar, R., Torian, L. V., & Braunstein, S. L. (2017). Racial and socioeconomic disparities in viral suppression among persons living with HIV in New York City. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 27(5), 335-341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2017.04.005

Xiao, L., Qi, H., Wang, Y.-y., Wang, D., Wilkinson, M., Hall, B. J., Ungvari, G. S., Wang, G., & Xiang, Y.-T. (2020). The prevalence of depression in men who have sex with men (MSM) with HIV infection: A meta-analysis of comparative and epidemiological studies. *J General Hospital Psychiatry*.

Yam, E. A., Pulerwitz, J., Almonte, D., García, F., Del Valle, A., Colom, A., McClair, T. L., & Dolores, Y. (2020). Stigma among key populations living with HIV in the Dominican Republic: experiences of people of Haitian descent, MSM, and female sex workers. *AIDS*, *34 Suppl 1*, S43-s51.

https://doi.org/10.1097/qad.00000000002642

Yan, H., Li, X., Li, J., Wang, W., Yang, Y., Yao, X., Yang, N., & Li, S. (2019).
Association between perceived HIV stigma, social support, resilience, self-esteem, and depressive symptoms among HIV-positive men who have sex with men (MSM) in Nanjing, China. *AIDS Care*, *31*(9), 1069-1076.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2019.1601677

- Yan, H., Wong, F. Y., Zheng, T., Ning, Z., Ding, Y., Nehl, E. J., Lin, L., & He, N. J. S. h.(2014a). Social support and depressive symptoms among 'money'boys and general men who have sex with men in Shanghai, China. *11*(3), 285-287.
- Yan, H., Yang, H., Li, J., Wei, C., Xu, J., Liu, X., Xu, X., & McFarland, W. (2014b). Emerging disparity in HIV/AIDS disease progression and mortality for men who have sex with men, Jiangsu Province, China. *AIDS Behav*, *18 Suppl 1*, S5-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-013-0520-2</u>
- Yan, H., Yang, H., Li, J., Wei, C., Xu, J., Liu, X., Xu, X., & McFarland, W. (2014c).
 Emerging disparity in HIV/AIDS disease progression and mortality for men who have sex with men, Jiangsu Province, China. *AIDS and Behavior*, 18(1), 5-10.
- Yang, X., Li, X., Qiao, S., Li, L., Parker, C., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2020). Intersectional stigma and psychosocial well-being among MSM living with HIV in Guangxi, China. AIDS Care, 32(sup2), 5-13.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2020.1739205

- Yang, X., Li, X., Qiao, S., Zhang, Q., Shen, Z., & Zhou, Y. (2019). Immunological and virologic outcomes of people living with HIV in Guangxi, China: 2012-2017. *PloS One*, 14(3), e0213205.
- Young, R. M., & Meyer, I. H. J. A. j. o. p. h. (2005). The trouble with "MSM" and "WSW": Erasure of the sexual-minority person in public health discourse. *95*(7), 1144-1149.
- Yu, S. C., Lin, Y. H., & Hsu, W. H. (2013). Applying structural equation modeling to report psychometric properties of Chinese version 10-item CES-D depression

scale. *Quality & Quantity*, 47(3), 1511-1518. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-011-</u> 9604-0

- Zeng, X., Zhong, X., Peng, B., Zhang, Y., Kong, C., Liu, X., & Huang, A. (2016). Prevalence and associated risk characteristics of HIV infection based on anal sexual role among men who have sex with men: a multi-city cross-sectional study in Western China. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 49, 111-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2016.06.009</u>
- Zhang, B. C., & Chu, Q. S. (2005). MSM and HIV/AIDS in China. *Cell Research*, *15*(11), 858-864. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cr.7290359</u>
- Zhang, F. (2019). The HIV epidemic and PrEP in China. Hangzhou, China.
 <u>https://wwwmedmeetingorg/Content/126693</u> The 6th National Academic Conference on HIV/AIDS
- Zhang, F., & Ma, Y. (2019). Progress and challenges in China's free art programme. *The Lancet HIV*, *6*(1), e8-e9.
- Zhang, L., Chow, E. P., Jing, J., Zhuang, X., Li, X., He, M., Sun, H., Li, X., Gorgens, M., Wilson, D., Wang, L., Guo, W., Li, D., Cui, Y., Wang, L., Wang, N., Wu, Z., & Wilson, D. P. (2013). HIV prevalence in China: integration of surveillance data and a systematic review. *Lancet Infectious Diseases*, *13*(11), 955-963. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(13)70245-7
- Zhang, Y., Liu, R., Li, G., Mao, S., & Yuan, Y. (2015). The reliability and validity of a Chinese-version Short Health Anxiety Inventory: an investigation of university students. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 11, 1739-1747. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S83501</u>

- Zhao, J., Chen, L., Chaillon, A., Zheng, C., Cai, W., Yang, Z., Li, G., Gan, Y., Wang, X., Hu, Y., Zhong, P., Zhang, C., & Smith, D. M. (2016). The dynamics of the HIV epidemic among men who have sex with men (MSM) from 2005 to 2012 in Shenzhen, China. *Scientific Reports*, *6*, 28703. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep28703</u>
- Zhao, Y., Han, M., Ma, Y., & Li, D. (2019). Progress Towards the 90-90-90 Targets for Controlling HIV - China, 2018. *China CDC weekly*, 1(1), 5-7. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34594590

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8428433/

- Zheng, S. (2018). The growing threat of China's HIV epidemic. *The Lancet Public Health*, *3*(7), e311.
- Zung, W. W. (1971). A rating instrument for anxiety disorders. *Psychosomatics: Journal of Consultation and Liaison Psychiatry*, 12(6), 371-379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0033-3182(71)71479-0</u>

APPENDIX A

MEASUREMENT SCALES OF INTERNALIZED, ANTICIPATED, AND

ENACTED HIV-RELATED STIGMA

Table A.1 Internalized HIV-related stigma scale

Ra	Rate each of the statements below using the		Disagree	Agree	Strongly
following scale		disagree			agree
1	I feel guilty because I have HIV				
2	I feel ashamed of having HIV				
3	Having HIV makes me feel unclean				
4	I feel I am not as good a person as others				
	because I have HIV				
5	I think less of myself because I have HIV				
6	I feel guilty because I have HIV				
7	Having HIV in my body is disgusting to				
	me				
8	People's attitudes about HIV make me				
	feel worse about myself				

Table A.2 Anticipated HIV-related stigma scale

How likely is it that people will treat		Very	Unlikely	Neither	Likely	Very
you in the following ways in the		unlikely		unlikely		Likely
future because of your HIV status?				nor		
				likely		
1	Family members will avoid me					
2	Family members will look down					
	on me					
3	Family members will treat me					
	differently					
4	Community/social workers won't					
	take my needs seriously					
5	Community/social workers will					
	discriminate against me					
6	Community/social workers will					
	deny me services					
7	Healthcare workers will not listen					
	to my concerns					
8	Healthcare workers will avoid					
	touching me					
9	Healthcare workers will treat me					
	with less respect					

Table A.3 Enacted HIV-related stigma scale

Hav	re people treated you this way in the past 6 months because of your	Yes	No
HI	/ status?		
1	Excluded from social gatherings		
2	Excluded from family activities		
3	Being gossiped about		
4	Verbally insulted/harassed, threatened		
5	Physically harassed or threatened		
6	Physically assaulted		
7	Husband/spouse/other household member have been discriminated		
	against		
8	Sexual rejection		
9	Discriminated against by other PLWH		

- 10 Other household members being discriminated because I have HIV
- 11 Forced to move or rejected for house leasing
- 12 Lose job or source of income
- 13 Rejected by employer or being fired
- 14 Forced to change job or denied promotion
- 15 Children being rejected by educational institutions because I have HIV
- 16 Denied by healthcare facilities